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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:  Good morning, I

          3  am Council Member Archie Spigner and I chair the

          4  Committee on Housing and Buildings. Today the

          5  Committee is conducting a hearing on Intro. No. 198

          6  regarding fire sprinklers.

          7                 Before I describe this bill I would

          8  like to make two comments. The first is that we are

          9  considering Intro. 198 for purposes of discussion.

         10  The Council has not yet agreed or decided to pass

         11  this or any other bill. We are here today to hear

         12  from the experts in the public so that we can begin

         13  to formulate the specific details of legislation

         14  that will satisfy the City's fire safety needs and

         15  also take into consideration the important issues of

         16  housing affordability. We have many questions about

         17  these issues.

         18                 The second thing I would like to say

         19  is that we have no questions about the innocence and

         20  the values of the civilians who lost their lives in

         21  the recent fire at West 64th Street, or the

         22  professionalism and bravery of the New York Fire

         23  Department and the three firefighters who lost their

         24  lives in the recent fire at Vandelia Avenue. We

         25  extend sincere condolences to their families.
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          2                 Out of this tragedy will come sound

          3  public policies to help prevent such incidents from

          4  recurring.

          5                 Intro. No. 198, if enacted, would

          6  first remove certain exemptions from sprinkler

          7  requirements for buildings classified in occupancy

          8  group J-2, which includes apartment houses,

          9  apartment hotels and school dormitory buildings.

         10                 Second, it would require the

         11  installation of automatic sprinkler systems in all

         12  stairs and public halls in all buildings classified

         13  in an occupancy group J-1, which includes hotels,

         14  motels, lodging houses and rooming houses, except

         15  for those that are two stories or less in height.

         16                 Third, it would require the

         17  installation of automatic sprinkler systems in all

         18  new J-2 buildings except for those that are three

         19  stories or less in height with two or less dwelling

         20  units between one-hour fire separations; and it

         21  would require the installation of automatic

         22  sprinkler systems in all stairs and public halls in

         23  all existing J-2 buildings, except for those that

         24  are two stories or less in height.

         25                 It should be noted that this bill's
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          2  deadlines for the installation of sprinklers in

          3  existing buildings have not been revised since

          4  Intro. No. 198 was first introduced in 1998.

          5                 The value of having sprinkler systems

          6  in buildings has been put forward by professionals

          7  in the field of fire prevention.

          8                 According to the National Fire

          9  Protection Association, where sprinklers are present

         10  the chances of dying in a fire and the average

         11  property loss per fire are both cut by one-half to

         12  two-thirds, compared to fires that occur in

         13  buildings where sprinklers are not present.

         14                 Furthermore, there is no record of a

         15  fire killing more than two people in a completely

         16  sprinklered public assembly, educational,

         17  institutional, or residential building where the

         18  system was properly operating.

         19                 Some concerns that have been raised

         20  regarding the mandatory installation of sprinklers

         21  include the cost with estimates ranging from

         22  hundreds to tens of thousands of dollars per floor;

         23  space planning and configuration limitations created

         24  by sprinkler systems; aesthetic concerns; and water

         25  damage caused by accidental activation, tampering or
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          2  leakage.

          3                 Some observers have also noted that

          4  some buildings are already protected from the spread

          5  of smoke and fire by extensive City construction

          6  requirements including fire-rated walls,

          7  compartmentalization, ventilation, and multiple

          8  means of egress.

          9                 Witnesses invited to offer testimony

         10  on this topic include representatives of the Fire

         11  Department and the Department of Buildings, the New

         12  York State fire marshal and fire marshals from other

         13  states, fire prevention engineers from the National

         14  Fire Prevention Association and other organizations,

         15  members of the sprinkler, steamfitting, and plumbing

         16  industries, members of the real estate industry, and

         17  members of the public concerned with these matters.

         18                 Before we begin, I want to introduce

         19  our Speaker Peter Vallone, for those of you who I am

         20  sure are very familiar with him, he needs no

         21  introduction; Walter McCaffrey, the sponsor of this

         22  bill; Council Member Stanley Michels, a senior

         23  member of the Housing and Buildings Committee;

         24  Council Member Provenzano, a member of the Housing

         25  and Buildings Committee; the leader of the Minority,
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          2  the Republican Minority Leader that is, Thomas

          3  Ognibene; and the Counsel to the Committee, Mr.

          4  Gallagher and Terzah Nasser.

          5                 Mr. Speaker.

          6                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much,

          7  Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, Council

          8  Member McCaffrey, who originally introduced this

          9  bill about a year ago, in a hearing that was held a

         10  year ago. Fire Commissioner, I am glad to see you

         11  sitting there because you are going to be our most

         12  important witness obviously.

         13                 I think it is clear to everyone in

         14  the City of New York that the one thing that we are

         15  not going to allow to happen in this City Council is

         16  the deaths of our citizenry or the brave fire

         17  officers to go in vain. There is absolutely no

         18  question about the fact that we will pass a bill

         19  that will improve the fire safety in the City of New

         20  York, no question whatsoever. But as I was just

         21  telling the parents that I met with downstairs on

         22  another subject, that if there is one thing that I

         23  learned in the good public school education that I

         24  have received in this City, and my fourth grade

         25  teacher as a matter of fact, that sometimes it is
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          2  much more important to listen, to listen to experts,

          3  to listen to people who know what they are talking

          4  about rather than just to act or speak about what

          5  you are going to do. It is much more important to do

          6  something than to speak about it.

          7                 And in the end it is much more

          8  important to know what to do, when to have

          9  enforcement of what to do than simply to speak about

         10  it. We could pass the best laws in the world but if

         11  they are not enforced it doesn't make any sense. And

         12  if they are the best laws in the world and they are

         13  enforced, they are still no good unless the people

         14  know about them.

         15                 So, if there is one thing that we

         16  have learned from the bad incidents that occurred in

         17  this town, is that education is probably the most

         18  important thing that we need in this town, whether

         19  you are in a one - or two-family or three-family or

         20  100-family home, it is much more important to know

         21  what to do in the event of a fire than to be caught

         22  and become a victim of it. So prevention and

         23  education is clearly going to be one of the most

         24  important outcomes of whatever this Council does and

         25  we intend to follow that. There have been all kinds
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          2  of improvements that have occurred in the world of

          3  technology over the past year.

          4                 On the way down here I just picked up

          5  something for less than $20, fire extinguishers

          6  which are now available, which most people are not

          7  even aware of. A fire extinguisher like this some

          8  years ago cost a fortune, this is now ready,

          9  inexpensive, available, I want to know from the

         10  Commissioner how effective they are. We are told

         11  that they are very effective. Why shouldn't we have

         12  education campaigns that if these are as good as

         13  they told us that they are, why shouldn't everyone

         14  have one.

         15                 So, we will be talking about this and

         16  we will be talking about other recommendations made

         17  by the Administration, but most important we want to

         18  listen to the people that we entrust our fire safety

         19  to, and hopefully that is exactly what we will do.

         20  So I will turn it back to the Committee Chair, and

         21  again, with the commitment that I have made as

         22  Speaker of this Council and for the Council, that we

         23  will pass a law that will be based upon what is best

         24  for everyone in this City and we will listen to

         25  anyone, experts or not experts, that have a good
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          2  idea.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Speaker.

          5                 I will recognize Council Member

          6  Walter McCaffrey, the sponsor of this bill.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman, and members of the Committee for your

          9  expeditious convening of this meeting to address the

         10  present needs for the expanded use of fire

         11  sprinklers to protect the lives of New Yorkers.

         12                 Since our last meeting on this issue,

         13  tragedies have struck which painfully compel us to

         14  move forward to expand the use of sprinklers, no one

         15  in this chamber can escape the sad truth that three

         16  brave firefighters and four New Yorkers would be

         17  alive today had operating fire sprinklers been used

         18  to fight the recent fires. Each fire would have been

         19  extinguished by sprinklers long before erupting into

         20  a conflagration.

         21                 When I first introduced sprinkler

         22  legislation its scope was limited to hallways and

         23  stairwells. This limitation was a recognition of the

         24  broad opposition to any use of sprinklers.

         25                 These deaths have rendered my
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          2  previous bill an irrelevancy. We must move forward

          3  with revisions.

          4                 As has been the history of fire

          5  protection, tragedy has been the ghastly agent for

          6  reform and change.

          7                 The triangle shirt waste fire

          8  (phonetic) motivated fire safety standards in the

          9  workplace. Decades ago, a horrific fire in a

         10  nightclub resulted in the changes for such public

         11  setting. So too these recent highrise fires must be

         12  the catalyst for change.

         13                 Speaker Vallone has charged us with

         14  the task of doing the right thing in addressing this

         15  issue, as he always does. Mayor Giuliani has charged

         16  his Administration with the same mission.

         17                 I respect the complexity of the

         18  issues and the needs to gather information on such

         19  issues as economics and financial tools and

         20  technical items which might be used to expand safety

         21  measures.

         22                 However, I believe that one area can

         23  be addressed quickly, and that is new construction.

         24  I believe that we should require fire sprinklers in

         25  new apartments and in the public hallway areas in
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          2  those buildings more than six stories in height.

          3                 I   believe that buildings undergoing

          4  a rehabilitation of 50 percent or more of their

          5  square footage should meet the same standards.

          6                 I do accept the Fire Commissioner's

          7  representation that enclosed stairwells need not be

          8  included for sprinklers in such a plan.

          9                 Finally, Mr. Chairman, some would

         10  advocate that we take no action, that view must be

         11  rejected as irresponsible and reckless.

         12                 I thank you once again for this

         13  opportunity and as the Speaker said, we are here to

         14  listen and to learn.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         16  McCaffrey.

         17                 Now we go to a group of gentlemen

         18  seated at the witness table. I recognize a number of

         19  them, specifically Commissioner of the Fire

         20  Department Mr. Von Essen, and others. But

         21  Commissioner Von Essen, after you introduce yourself

         22  for the record, will you introduce those other

         23  gentlemen who sit with you at the table?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Absolutely.

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 To my far right is Assistant

          3  Commissioner Joe Rosenberg from Housing Preservation

          4  and Development. Next to him is Chief Peter Gansy,

          5  who is the Acting Chief of the Fire Department. To

          6  my left is Commissioner Feehan, who is the First

          7  Deputy Commissioner of the Fire Department and has

          8  worked in the Fire Department for many years and

          9  many years also in fire prevention. And to my far

         10  left is Deputy Commissioner Richard Visconte from

         11  the Department of Buildings.

         12                 I want to thank you for your opening

         13  remarks, Speaker Vallone. I couldn't agree with you

         14  more, I think we have a great opportunity here to

         15  accomplish something and Council Member McCaffrey

         16  also, I appreciate your opening comments. I

         17  appreciate the opportunity to appear this morning to

         18  discuss proposed sprinkler legislation. In this

         19  climate of heightened sensitivity and awareness

         20  following two recent highly publicized tragedies,

         21  there is certainly increased momentum to resolve

         22  this issue and move forward with legislation.

         23                 We appreciate the efforts of the

         24  Council to work with the Administration to craft the

         25  best possible legislation for this point in time.
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          2                 The Fire Department's position is

          3  clear, we advocate the installation of sprinklers in

          4  all new residential construction. This covers all

          5  occupancies, including single and two-family homes,

          6  as well as multiple dwellings. We join most major

          7  cities in the country advocating the use of

          8  sprinklers in residential buildings and are aligned

          9  with the National Fire Protection Association in

         10  recommending their use in one- or two-family homes,

         11  as well as multiple dwellings. We want sprinklers in

         12  the apartments, in the hallways and in open

         13  stairways, as we have seen more than 80 percent of

         14  fatal fires occur in homes.

         15                 Most of the fatal fires in this City

         16  last year occurred in single family, two family, and

         17  multiple dwellings other than highrises. Fires start

         18  in bedrooms, living rooms and kitchens. Fire loading

         19  is found in these living spaces in the form of

         20  furniture, bedding, clothing, curtains, carpets, all

         21  of the items found in the home.

         22                 Having sprinklers in the apartment is

         23  critical. Having sprinklers in the hallways will

         24  help, should the fire originate in the hallway or

         25  more out of the apartment into the hall. In a
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          2  non-enclosed stairway, sprinklers will provide added

          3  protection for those fleeing the building. With an

          4  enclosed stairwell, the fire doors and separation in

          5  the firewalls should provide adequate protection

          6  from fire spread.

          7                 Sprinklers can reduce insurance cost

          8  for the home owner or renter. An informal,

          9  preliminary survey conducted by the Department of

         10  Consumer Affairs indicate that insurers offer a

         11  discount on home and building policies of between

         12  five percent and 15 percent. The discount varies

         13  based on where the building or home is located, in

         14  addition to the location of the sprinklers.

         15                 We support the installation of the

         16  sprinklers in older buildings when a substantial

         17  rehabilitation is done and advocate lowering the

         18  threshold of the dollar amount that categorizes

         19  major renovation in order to increase the number of

         20  buildings covered.

         21                 Under this provision we would also

         22  include any hotels or motels built before 1984 that

         23  are not yet sprinklered by undergo substantial

         24  renovation.

         25                 The Department is supportive of the
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          2  use of less costly materials in sprinkler systems as

          3  an incentive to increase the number of these systems

          4  in the City as long as these materials meet the

          5  standards recognized by the Department of Buildings.

          6                 The question of retrofitting existing

          7  structures is far more complex than may first appear

          8  due to a variety of factors. We recommend that we

          9  defer the retrofit decisions until everyone

         10  concerned has the opportunity to fully understand

         11  all of the ramifications of such action. Issues

         12  including cost, feasibility of installation,

         13  possible asbestos abatement, potential for lead

         14  paint involvement, intrusion in individuals homes,

         15  increased rent and maintenance payments. Capability

         16  of owners to manage financial liability and the

         17  scope of the City's viability regarding this issue

         18  are all factors that need to be thoroughly

         19  understood before we proceed.

         20                 However, we advocate taking immediate

         21  action to increase safety in multiple dwellings by

         22  installation of public address systems in these

         23  existing buildings. Each structure should have a

         24  public address system to be operated by the Fire

         25  Department in case of an emergency.
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          2                 The system should be capable of

          3  broadcasting messages that can be heard in each

          4  apartment. On arrival at a fire scene, the

          5  Department could make public safety and evacuation

          6  announcements appropriate to the situation. We

          7  recommend that these systems be in place in all

          8  dwellings greater than six stories by 2002.

          9                 Fire chiefs have found these systems

         10  particularly helpful in commercial highrise fires.

         11  The ability to communicate with tenants about fire

         12  conditions on particular floors is invaluable.

         13                 As I said earlier, the reality of

         14  fatal fires is that people die in their homes. In

         15  New York City and across the nation the story is the

         16  same. Unfortunately, as has been so clearly

         17  illustrated in recent weeks, these statistics bear

         18  out for firefighter deaths as well.

         19                 Over the last five years the City has

         20  lost 18 firefighters, 16 of those deaths occurred

         21  while fighting fires in residential buildings. Our

         22  efforts over the past three years to increase public

         23  awareness about fire safety have gleaned results.

         24                 As of January 1st this City has the

         25  lowest civilian fire death toll in 50 years with 107
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          2  fatalities. These statistics are of little comfort

          3  to the families and loved ones of those 107 people.

          4                 However, throughout the City in what

          5  are traditionally high fatal fire neighborhoods

          6  patterns are changing. Thousands of children,

          7  teachers, community groups, tenant councils,

          8  business and religious groups and neighborhood

          9  organizations are hearing our message. That message

         10  is prevention. Working with building owners,

         11  management, HPD, the Housing Authority and even more

         12  community organizations, we plan to increase our

         13  public awareness initiatives to capture the current

         14  public focus on fire safety and hopefully increase

         15  everyone's feelings of preparedness when it comes to

         16  fire safety issues.

         17                 The sad reality we deal with is that

         18  along with the fact that most fatal of fires occur

         19  in the home, almost all, and let me repeat, almost

         20  all are preventable - careless smoking, overloading

         21  electrical outlets, improper use of appliances, like

         22  space heaters, poor maintenance of appliances,

         23  cooking carelessness, these are the causes of fires

         24  in this City. Human factors that can be changed in

         25  the blink of an eye, were people to think about
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          2  their actions before they light that cigarette in

          3  bed, before they walk away from the frying pan on

          4  the stove or before they use that frayed extension

          5  cord to light the Christmas tree just as they did

          6  for years.

          7                 We are here today talking about a

          8  multi million dollar initiative to assist in

          9  extinguishing fires that never have to start in the

         10  first place if people would take the steps necessary

         11  to rid their homes of fire hazards and exercise

         12  responsible behavior when it comes to fire

         13  prevention.

         14                 As we testify here this morning,

         15  others from our Department are accepting a

         16  contribution of 50,000 smoke detectors from Radio

         17  Shack through WABC TV. We will distribute these

         18  smoke detectors to those most in need, elderly

         19  citizens and those who cannot afford them.

         20                 Once again this year we will

         21  distribute 50,000 smoke detector batteries

         22  throughout the City at Daylight Savings time as a

         23  way to remind people to change their smoke detector

         24  batteries. These efforts are all designed to help

         25  focus attention on those steps everyone can take
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          2  towards making this a fire safe city.

          3                 As I said, there is very little

          4  consolation I can offer to those of you here today

          5  who have lost loved ones in these recent tragedies.

          6  There was very little comfort I could give to the

          7  families of my firefighters who perished trying to

          8  save elderly residents at Vandalia Avenue on

          9  December 18th. If we can come together today and

         10  exercise our public determination to stop these

         11  fires before they start, and provide our City with

         12  enhanced protection once there is a fire, I think

         13  that will be the greatest tribute we can pay to

         14  those we lost by reducing the possibility of losing

         15  others in the future.

         16                 We now have a golden opportunity to

         17  make the tribute a reality. I urge you to seize this

         18  opportunity and enact appropriate legislation as

         19  soon as possible, and we look forward to working

         20  with you in the coming weeks.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we look

         23  forward to working with you, Commissioner Von Essen.

         24                 Speaker Vallone has a question that

         25  he would like to put to you.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Commissioner, I am

          3  particularly delighted to have your testimony

          4  because you are not only the Commissioner, but you

          5  are, were and still are a recognized firefighter.

          6  You came up through the ranks. So that our mission

          7  here and doing the right thing is helped

          8  considerably by having someone of your experience

          9  being able to testify.

         10                 The Committee will have obviously

         11  much more detailed questions, but I just want to ask

         12  a couple of general questions to start off with.

         13                 My understanding is that we have

         14  fireproofed buildings in this City to a much greater

         15  extent than any other city, that has been the law on

         16  the books for quite awhile before I got here. So

         17  that in a highrise fire, similar to some that we

         18  have seen in recent weeks that have caused death, it

         19  is much more prudent to stay in the fireproofed

         20  apartment than it would to leave and go downstairs;

         21  is that correct as a general statement?

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: In almost all

         23  cases.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Now, was there a

         25  particular time when these fireproofed buildings
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          2  were constructed? In other words, is it like 1950 or

          3  1960 that we know that every building in the City

          4  that was built is a fireproofed building?

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The Code from

          6  1938.

          7                 SPEAKER VALLONE: So anything prior,

          8  constructed to 1938 would not be a fireproof

          9  building, or not necessarily; is that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: At that

         11  time --

         12                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just identify

         13  yourself for the record.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Richard

         15  Visconte, Deputy Commissioner of Buildings.

         16                 Prior to '38 was a different way they

         17  dealt with highrise buildings, the buildings

         18  themselves may have had components which were

         19  non-combustible, built from steal framing.

         20                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Let's take the

         21  Empire State Building, when was that built?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: The

         23  Empire State Building was built prior to 1938.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: 1934, right?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Right.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Is that a fireproof

          3  building?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: It is a

          5  fireproof building. Always a commercial building was

          6  a fireproofed building.

          7                 What we saw prior to '38 was really

          8  not the type of highrise buildings that we have

          9  today. I mean, you basically had buildings that were

         10  generally seven stories and below, and the highrise

         11  phenomenon is a more modern phenomenon, so we

         12  basically had the old law tenement building prior to

         13  1938. And with the coming of the '38 code you had

         14  fireproof construction and highrise --

         15                 SPEAKER VALLONE: It became much more

         16  stringent?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Much

         18  more stringent.

         19                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And we have, as I

         20  understand it, the most stringent laws in the

         21  nation, in terms of fireproofed buildings?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: I

         23  believe we do.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: One of the things

         25  that I just mentioned, and I think this is a
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          2  relatively new phenomenon, these small inexpensive

          3  fire extinguishers that are now readily available in

          4  all five boroughs for less than $20 each, and they

          5  purport to do almost anything.

          6                 Now obviously I am not saying anyone

          7  in their right mind would not think that we should

          8  become firefighters, but I do think that maybe

          9  perhaps similar to the law that we passed requiring

         10  smoke alarms, that if we do have buildings that do

         11  not meet fireproof standards, to the extent that you

         12  would like to see it, or perhaps in other

         13  structures, something like this which is readily

         14  available and convenient might be something that you

         15  would either recommend or mandate down the road.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Peter, I

         17  don't know if we should mandate something like that.

         18  I mean, as you know, like so many other things, this

         19  is really a complicated subject.

         20                 I can think of one thing that is

         21  universal, I mean a smoke detector, everybody should

         22  have it, and as many as you could possibly have.

         23                 Our fire recently on Vendelia Avenue,

         24  15 minutes before we got the call, there was a

         25  complaint from the apartment below that there was a
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          2  water leak, so the person who had that fire was

          3  trying to put out that fire for about 15 minutes

          4  before we got the call.

          5                 The water, she tried so long the

          6  water was leaking through the ceiling. People, and

          7  many of our fires are caused --

          8                 SPEAKER VALLONE: By people trying to

          9  fight it wrong, yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: -- By people

         11  trying to put it out themselves. Many of our

         12  fatalities are people who have had too much to drink

         13  and are not fully aware of their capabilities or

         14  their limit. That is an excellent product I think to

         15  have in your kitchen, where you could just back out,

         16  try to give it a quick shot, that could put that

         17  fire out on a stove like that, and all of a sudden

         18  your problem is over and you are backing out of your

         19  kitchen on your way to safety.

         20                 The last message that we want to give

         21  the folks in this City, in such complicated and so

         22  many different types of construction and situations

         23  that we have in this City, is for them to start

         24  trying to put their own fires out. Our message is

         25  always get out.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Except in highrises.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, that is

          4  the confusion we have here. It is not except in

          5  highrises, because any person who has a fire in

          6  their apartment, the message is to get out.

          7                 SPEAKER VALLONE: In that apartment.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: In any place

          9  you have a fire. Even if it is in your car, get out.

         10  So that message is clear and that is clean. Where it

         11  becomes complicated is what to do when you get out

         12  of your fire apartment. You know, if it is your fire

         13  in your apartment, get down the stairs and get out.

         14  If it is above you, you know, there is no danger. If

         15  it is below you, the highrise do this, in a

         16  one-family do this, in a commercial do this. So that

         17  is where this problem has arisen.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Well, that was my

         19  next question. Obviously it is the difference

         20  between the smaller, let's say less than six family

         21  or one and two family and three families and in

         22  highrise buildings in which you have a fire

         23  occurring above your apartment or below your

         24  apartment. My question specifically was in the

         25  apartment where the fire is occurring, and that was
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          2  going to be my next question, obviously in that

          3  apartment, even in a highrise, you have to get out

          4  as quickly as you can.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

          6                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Where do you go?

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: If the fire

          8  is in your apartment, anywhere, just go down the

          9  stairs and get out and if you have the capability or

         10  the wherewithal or of certainly the most important

         11  thing at that point is to close the door, both of

         12  these --

         13                 SPEAKER VALLONE: So close the door of

         14  your apartment after you leave.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Close the

         16  door on your way out. Get your children or your

         17  family or whatever and get out. Close the door.

         18  Knock on the other doors on the floor and get to a

         19  place where you can call us safely.

         20                 But each building, each situation is

         21  different. You need a plan for where you live and

         22  that is your responsibility in addition to our

         23  efforts to try and make more education, more

         24  information available, it is your responsibility to

         25  know what your building is about.
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And I assume that

          3  that will be one of the by-products of this, the

          4  recommendations you are going to make, that in each

          5  situation there will have to be a plan.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We have been

          7  doing that for at least, I know at least the last

          8  five years we have really accelerated our fire

          9  safety education and prevention programs. We have

         10  made a difference. This tragedy unfortunately is

         11  just something that makes it look like there is so

         12  much more that needs to be done. I can assure you

         13  that we have made really great efforts in trying to

         14  do more presentations in education throughout the

         15  City at all different levels, but this shows that

         16  there is more that needs to be done.

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much,

         18  Commissioner. I will turn it back to the Chairperson

         19  and members of the Committee for the specifics on

         20  the proposed legislation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, members,

         22  we have a large number of people here today from the

         23  community and from the industry who want to testify,

         24  so the Chair is going to pose a five-minute

         25  limitation on questions and answering. There will be
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          2  a second round, and that five-minute limitation will

          3  apply to the Chair as well.

          4                 Commissioner, as it relates -- we all

          5  agree that sprinklers are good, does the Fire

          6  Department have any estimate of the cost of

          7  installing sprinklers in new construction?

          8                 We are going to submit these

          9  questions to you formally, so if you have some

         10  answers today we will take them, if not we will --

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Mr.

         12  Chairman, I am Joe Rosenberg, Assistant Commissioner

         13  of Intergovernmental Affairs for HPD.

         14                 The estimate that has been determined

         15  by OMB and HPD, your question was installation in

         16  dwelling units --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: --

         19  Hallways and stairwells?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Whatever you

         21  want to give us.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         23  Okay.

         24                 The estimate we have at this point

         25  per dwelling unit, for installation of sprinkler
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          2  systems in dwelling units, public halls and

          3  stairways is 1,376 dollars per dwelling unit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What is dwelling

          5  unit, two bedrooms, kitchen and bath?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: The

          7  average dwelling unit, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: One-thousand?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         10  One-thousand three-hundred seventy-six dollars per

         11  dwelling unit. That includes public halls and

         12  stairwells as well though.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is new

         14  construction, correct?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         16  That is the gut rehab.

         17                 Okay, the new construction for public

         18  halls and stairs is $849.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Per dwelling

         20  unit?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         22  That's correct, yes.

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: The other was

         24  rehab?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:
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          2  That's correct, yes. That is for gut rehab, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Does the

          4  installation of sprinklers necessarily --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Let

          6  me just say something. And the $1,376 includes the

          7  dwelling units, it is important to note.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Does the

          9  installation of sprinklers necessarily change the

         10  available floor space in new buildings or have some

         11  effect in the final height of a building?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Archie, let

         13  me get it straight.

         14                 You are talking about brand new

         15  construction?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Right, this is

         17  new construction.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Brand new

         19  construction, going to build a four-family or a

         20  five-story building or whatever, we have gotten

         21  different numbers on whether it is $2 a square foot

         22  to $4 a square foot; is that the number you are

         23  looking for?

         24                 You want to know what does it cost

         25  somebody to put up a sprinkler?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That's right,

          3  yes.

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That's right.

          5                 And it would not affect your living

          6  space, your square footage?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask, what

          8  about affecting the size and heights of buildings,

          9  lowering the ceiling and ultimately determining how

         10  high --

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Has no effect on

         13  -- it can be included? I mean, if you have got an

         14  eight-foot ceiling, you are going to include

         15  sprinklers and in no way --

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Sure, it can

         17  be inside the ceiling.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:  Another

         19  question: What about the piping? What kind of piping

         20  can be used to build an automatic sprinkler system?

         21  What are the comparative advantages and

         22  disadvantages of copper, steel, polyvinyl chlorides

         23  or other materials?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE:

         25  Personally the code requires that sprinkler piping
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          2  be metal piping, and doesn't permit non-metallic

          3  piping. The standard is basically a black steel

          4  piping that is used, and what we think needs to be

          5  looked at as part of the issue with sprinklering, is

          6  changing the type of material that can be used, and

          7  we believe that there are non-metallic alternatives,

          8  such as chlorinated polyvinyl chloride sprinkler

          9  piping which is a new material that has been used

         10  successfully throughout the country and it is a more

         11  cost-effective installation, requires less man hours

         12  to install a non-metallic system than it does a

         13  metallic system, so we feel as part of this

         14  investigation into sprinklers that we need to look

         15  at these non-metallic alternatives so that we can

         16  bring the initial costs or any retrofit costs down

         17  and that is a change that we will have to make at

         18  the Buildings Department.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: My last

         20  question, Commissioner.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Does the Fire

         23  Department have any thoughts or recommendations for

         24  reducing or offsetting the increased cost, the cost

         25  of installing sprinklers in new or buildings where
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          2  they would be undergoing major rehab?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We would have

          4  no ability to offset the costs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you have any

          6  suggestions or thoughts?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ESSEN: Well, that would

          8  be something that you guys would have to work out.

          9  That is your end of it. Do you want to give credits

         10  for things like that? Great.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         12  Provenzano. Excuse me, Councilman McCaffrey, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         14  Commissioner, one of the items that the Speaker is

         15  addressing with you is on the case-by-case

         16  building-by-building information campaign, and the

         17  question comes how do we really begin to reinforce

         18  that on an ongoing basis, because of the conflict in

         19  the messages that are out there.

         20                 Some suggestions that we have offered

         21  is placing at the mailbox area which seems to be one

         22  of the areas in a building where the greatest number

         23  of tenants are at some point coming to by way of

         24  posting a sign that says in this building in the

         25  event of a fire such and such. But other efforts
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          2  have to be taken to inform the tenants specifically.

          3                 So, can you tell us what efforts the

          4  Department is undertaking now, working with owners

          5  of buildings to tailor that specific message?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Just as sort

          7  of a quick fix, trying to get started right away, we

          8  have asked the real estate board and the building

          9  owners to immediately put together or copy this

         10  flyer that we have been distributing over the last

         11  couple of years throughout the City, to put that

         12  together to actually have their building supervisors

         13  or maintenance people walk the building at night,

         14  knock on the door when people are home and ask them

         15  to read this, and also to see if the self-closing

         16  door is operating properly, that it actually is

         17  self-closing. If just that little thing was done in

         18  every building, in every department throughout this

         19  City, we believe that we would have taken a major

         20  step toward educating citizens throughout the City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The tenants

         22  in South Park Tower in their petition talked about

         23  items that they recommend by way of fire drills, for

         24  example in a building; are those the things that the

         25  Department can help facilitate also?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. I think

          3  it is more complicated because unlike the commercial

          4  buildings where people are there all day, the Fire

          5  Safety Director, there are people on the staff that

          6  are wardens or people that help us do those fire

          7  drills during the day, unlike that, the apartment

          8  building, if it has got 700 apartments in it, in the

          9  course of the day who knows when anybody is home,

         10  who is home, whether it is children, whether it is

         11  somebody watching children, whether it is an elderly

         12  person, whether or not the people that actually run

         13  the apartment are home, that is more complicated.

         14  And to organize those drills, those fire drills

         15  would certainly be more difficult. But I think it is

         16  worth talking about and it is worth trying to get

         17  the building owners to do things like that, for them

         18  to reach out to the tenant, if there is a tenant

         19  group, if there is -- the building I am in, I see

         20  there is a tenant group that gets together to try to

         21  save money, that same group can maybe get together

         22  to try to do something about educating their own

         23  people, it would probably have to be done at night.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And the

         25  last and broad question to the Administration, in
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          2  our current array of financial packages, and

          3  certainly I understand the Commissioner saying you

          4  like to positively encourage people under the

          5  current availability of financial resources to look

          6  at retrofit, tell us what is out there by way of

          7  J-51 benefits from HPD or OMB, et cetera, that would

          8  afford or could be made available to provide that

          9  type of implementation.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         11  Okay, Councilman, as you know, J-51 has been

         12  probably the most important program in this City for

         13  the upgrading and modernization of existing multiple

         14  dwellings. It has been around since 1955, Section

         15  489 of the Real Property Tax Law, it was just

         16  extended by the State Legislature in June.

         17                 J-51 is an as-of-right program. What

         18  that means is that regardless of the scope of the

         19  project, as long as an item is part of the project

         20  and is carried out legally with proper permits the

         21  installation will qualify.

         22                 Sprinkler system installations

         23  qualify for J-51.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So that is

         25  something that we have as an available tool now that
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          2  as the Commissioner talks about we can begin to

          3  encourage people in those buildings not of new

          4  construction categories to look at.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          6  Correct. And it is our estimate that approximately

          7  50 percent of the cost of the sprinkler installation

          8  would be paid over ten to 12 years of the tax

          9  incentive.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Are there

         11  any other items other than J-51 that might be

         12  available?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         14  Well, one that we are still checking out is MCI and

         15  that is a state determination through the State

         16  Division of Housing and Community Renewal. MCI's

         17  major capital increase. We haven't found anything in

         18  the State regs that indicates whether or not I think

         19  sprinkler installations would be eligible. The thing

         20  to note which is of interest, and one of the main

         21  distinctions between J-51 and State MCIs and J-51,

         22  the J-51 costs deal with foregone tax revenue while

         23  MCI rent increases are paid directly by the tenant,

         24  so that is really one of the major distinctions

         25  between --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

          3                 Lastly, Commissioner, let me just

          4  say, we understand we all have a mission here and we

          5  particularly understand that you, Commissioner Von

          6  Essen and Commissioner Feehan and the rest of your

          7  staff, have this as also an object of love for your

          8  fellow firefighters that we move forward in this

          9  direction and we appreciate your leadership in this

         10  direction.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         13  Provenzano.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         15                 Good morning. I agree that we need an

         16  absolutely fantastic bill here.

         17                 One of my fears, and this is not to

         18  be detrimental to my colleagues, but I think

         19  sometimes what we do in the Council is pass a bill

         20  because we have to pass a bill and then look back on

         21  it and say, well, you know, it is not a great bill

         22  but we will get it out and then we can add this or

         23  add that or work on it.

         24                 I think we have to do something now,

         25  immediate, to address this problem. I think it has
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          2  to be a good piece of legislation. I commend my

          3  colleague Walter and the Administration for working

          4  on this.

          5                 And I commend the Fire Department,

          6  when you talk about prevention, I know what a

          7  fantastic job you do. But I think prevention, when

          8  we talk about prevention, we assume that everybody

          9  has their wits about them all the time, and in an

         10  ideal world that happens, but we are always dealing

         11  with human frailty, and that is where we run into

         12  problems. I think we have two problems here, we have

         13  the highrise problem and we have the smaller

         14  dwelling problem and I think they are almost

         15  separate issues.

         16                 I also have a problem with talking

         17  about a fireproof building. I think it is a

         18  misnomer. It is like saying the Titanic can't sink.

         19  It is only fireproof if everybody follows the rules,

         20  and when you are in an apartment that is burning, do

         21  you remember don't touch the door like this, touch

         22  it like this. You don't always think of those

         23  things.

         24                 I guess my question, one of the

         25  things that I think is an excellent idea is the
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          2  address system in the highrise apartment buildings.

          3  I think that is very good because you could actually

          4  be talking to people while the craziness is going on

          5  and reminding them, which again may not work but,

          6  hey, you are there and I think it gives people a

          7  little more confidence to know that the fire guys

          8  are there and they are trying to help us and I think

          9  that communication is an excellent idea.

         10                 My question deals with sprinklers and

         11  where they would be placed.

         12                 I have several personal friends that

         13  are firemen and we have kind of discussed this issue

         14  a lot recently. And sprinklers in hallways, doesn't

         15  that place a bit more hardship on a firefighter who

         16  in a highrise is now walking up all of these stairs,

         17  has tons of equipment and whatever and now has a

         18  sprinkler system that is hallways --

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You said

         20  hallways, but you mean stairwell?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We think in

         23  many instances a stairwell is a problem. Except an

         24  open stairwell would be helpful because the fire

         25  could spread. But in an enclosed stairwell, if we
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          2  are able to get what we believe is a much better

          3  system in the apartment itself, if it is in the

          4  apartment, no matter what human frailty that you

          5  talked about before, the fire is going to be put out

          6  by the sprinkler, no matter what. Whether you are

          7  totally unconscious, whether you have been shot and

          8  now someone has torched off your apartment and left

          9  you to die, the sprinkler is going to put the fire

         10  out.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Would they

         12  actually work that well that if the sprinkler went

         13  off in an apartment where there was a fire it would

         14  put out the whole fire?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. In

         16  almost all instances. I mean, I am sure there are

         17  cases where there is so much fire it gets started

         18  past it, but I think we ought to stick to the fact

         19  that they put fires out, and overcome those

         20  frailties that you talked about, that as a City you

         21  can't be responsible for every frailty but in an

         22  instance like this, if you are looking to make an

         23  improvement, this is the direction to go, put a

         24  sprinkler in an apartment, it will put the fire out.

         25  Put it in a hallway it is going to help us. If the
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          2  fire for some reason or another gets out into the

          3  hallway or the fire is started in a hallway.

          4                 The third thing that is helpful but

          5  not necessary and a problem, if we have already

          6  accomplished the first two is have it in a

          7  stairwell. So the plan is logical and rational as

          8  far as the firefighter's position goes, trying to

          9  put a fire out. You just made our life much, much

         10  easier. These two instances that have brought this

         11  to everyone's attention, neither one of them happens

         12  if there is a sprinkler in the apartment working.

         13                 The tragedy with the firefighters,

         14  there were sprinklers in the hallways which I

         15  believe would have helped but they weren't working.

         16  That is a very, very unusual -- both of these

         17  situations, in my opinion, are very unusual.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Commissioner, just a quick answer on

         21  the cost of the PA system which you raised as a

         22  possible, an immediate solution?

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't have

         24  a cost.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No estimate, no
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          2  idea?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No. I think

          4  it is going to be different.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          6  Mr. Chairman, we have a preliminary cost but this

          7  requires some additional work. The estimation by OMB

          8  is that public address systems would cost

          9  approximately $800 for a PA speaker.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: A hundred

         11  dollars per PA --

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         13  Eight--hundred dollars.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Oh, 800 per

         15  speaker.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         17  Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And the speaker

         19  would be on the floor?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         21  There would be two speakers.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: On

         24  each floor.

         25                 Now, of course this has to be checked
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          2  a little further because there could be possible

          3  federal ADA requirements of that nature.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Eight-hundred

          5  dollars and two on the floor.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          7  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is $1,600

          9  per floor.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         11  Right, that is what we have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, Council

         13  Member --

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Council

         15  Member, Commissioner Rosenberg's response is to HPD

         16  buildings. If you are talking about normal

         17  installation in an apartment building like we had on

         18  60th Street, I don't know that that speaker is going

         19  to be $800 each. I would rather not give you an

         20  estimate. I think that these are affordable, this is

         21  an inexpensive way for retrofitting. If you are

         22  going to do one retrofit right away, that is the way

         23  to go. They are installing cable wires in every

         24  building throughout this City, there is HBO and

         25  cable, there are wires running in hallways

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  throughout the City. Those wires could be run, those

          3  speakers could be run and it would not be, we don't

          4  believe, that costly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          6  Michels.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Commissioner.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 I of course want to join with my

         11  colleagues in expressing our condolences to the Fire

         12  Department for their grievous loss, as well as the

         13  loss of the tenants of these buildings. It is a

         14  great tragedy for the entire City.

         15                 In line with that, you know, I

         16  remember years ago we had done a lot of public

         17  education, one of them was the most effective radio

         18  that I heard in my entire life and that was ending

         19  with the phrase constantly being repeated and

         20  repeated "close the door. Close the door", do you

         21  remember that one? Are there any thoughts of

         22  devoting some more money for more of a public

         23  education system?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Unfortunately

         25  since this tragedy there has been lots of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  conversation and interests from different media

          3  people that might want to help us do these --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think it is

          5  time to take advantage of this.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: It is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is some

          8  renewed interest, we should start doing some more

          9  public --

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We are going

         11  to do that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We should

         13  start educating the people. We could put the

         14  greatest systems of the world here, pass the

         15  greatest laws in the world, and if people don't know

         16  about them and aren't using them, it won't help.

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Let's take

         18  a step back to the level of interest before you have

         19  a tragedy like this.

         20                 We have demonstrations every year

         21  when you move your clocks forward and back, there is

         22  almost no coverage on TV. I go around myself and

         23  hand out batteries at bus stations, there is no

         24  coverage --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I think
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          2  we are on the same wavelength.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We burn

          4  Christmas trees at Christmastime to show how fast

          5  that fire and how hot it gets, there is not very

          6  much interest on TV, now there is some interest.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: So, let's

          9  remember that there are some other people that we

         10  need to help us in this.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is

         12  unfortunate that we find ourselves in this position,

         13  but at least we should take advantage of it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We agree.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

         16  thing I want to ask you is whether or not you are

         17  recommending the linkage of the sprinkler systems to

         18  informing the Fire Department when they go off, so

         19  you don't have to find a phone once these things are

         20  going on, or find a fire box?

         21                 When the sprinkler system goes off,

         22  will this automatically result in a call to the fire

         23  dispatchers?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think if

         25  you want to stop this from happening, make it that
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          2  complicated. I think that you have got a great

          3  opportunity here to move forward and make some

          4  improvements.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay. You

          6  think that would be difficult to do, okay.

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes, I think

          8  that is crazy.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  Now, if you

         10  are talking about the public address system, which I

         11  think is a very good idea, if you can do it. I think

         12  with that you should have to mandate using the

         13  public address system for once a year fire drill in

         14  each apartment building, whoever participates will

         15  participate. But you know, if you go on a cruise,

         16  the first thing that should go out on that ship is a

         17  fire drill, and these are the things, in the schools

         18  you always have fire drills, there is no reason why

         19  we can't have fire drills and also educate the

         20  people.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well,

         22  anything you do is   a good idea. In schools you

         23  have children, and on a cruise it is the first time

         24  you have ever been there and a very complicated

         25  situation. In an apartment building there should be
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          2  some obligation on the part of the person who is

          3  living in that apartment building paying their rent,

          4  going to work every day, to have some sense of what

          5  they have to do in their building.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I don't

          7  think it should be done by the Department, I think

          8  it should be a requirement by the owners of the

          9  apartment, whether it be a co-op or a condominium or

         10  whatever.

         11                 Let me ask you this: In these

         12  apartment buildings, in the proposal here, do you

         13  have any idea exactly where you want these fire

         14  sprinklers located, in public halls, in what units,

         15  bedrooms, living areas, living rooms, hallways,

         16  where would you want these fire sprinklers placed?

         17  And about how many would be in each room?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The proposal

         19  is for -- wait one second.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Council

         21  Member, I would like to answer that question.

         22  Richard Visconte, Deputy Commissioner of the

         23  Department of Buildings.

         24                 When we proposed sprinklers in the

         25  dwelling units we propose that that installation
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          2  comply with the national standard NFPA 13, which

          3  basically requires a sprinkler in each room. It

          4  accepts the bathroom from that provision, it is not

          5  above a certain size, and when you install a

          6  sprinkler system there is an issue of the coverage,

          7  so that based on the size of the room, a particular

          8  room may require more than one sprinkler.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: All right, so

         10  we can look into that.

         11                 The other thing I wanted to ask you

         12  is, don't you think it would be wise in these days

         13  of computerization that each building should have

         14  filed with the Fire Department, available to the

         15  Fire Department, where the controls are for these

         16  systems so that you guys can be going to the fire at

         17  the same time you can determine if it, number one,

         18  has a sprinkler system and number two, where those

         19  controls are. It is pretty much the way we require

         20  people in dealing with hazardous materials to tell

         21  us what type of materials they have on hand when you

         22  have a fire --

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That is

         24  already required and our guys know where the

         25  sprinkler main valves are --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They seemed

          3  to have a problem with this particular fire and --

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: On Vendelia

          5  Avenue?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That was a

          8  totally different situation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: A different

         10  situation.

         11                 Finally, we already have installed

         12  many buildings are required to have sprinkler

         13  systems, are you satisfied that the inspection

         14  procedures and the reports that are done are

         15  satisfactory to you? And is this what you expect we

         16  will be following under this legislation when we

         17  have sprinklers installed? What should we base them

         18  on as far as inspections, self-inspection,

         19  self-certification, what do you do?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I think

         21  that we are very happy with the inspection process

         22  we have in our commercial buildings. This fire on

         23  Vendelia Avenue certainly has brought forward a

         24  serious problem for us that this tragedy is bringing

         25  all kinds of studies and investigations making that
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          2  happen and when it is over with we will be able to

          3  make more recommendations as far as inspections.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You know that

          5  self-certifications --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your time has

          7  expired.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me just

          9  finish here.

         10                 Self-certification we have always had

         11  a problem with, huge violation with HPD of the

         12  self-certification law, so it is important that we

         13  look at this very carefully assuming what we are

         14  going to be doing here.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You have to

         16  remember, with HPD this was a small -- none of their

         17  buildings have sprinklers --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

         19  about violations. I am not talking about sprinkler

         20  systems at HPD.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't think

         22  it is fair to paint that, because of this tragedy,

         23  paint that brush.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         25  Ognibene.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, thank

          3  you very much.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thanks very

          5  much, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Welcome.

          7                 Although I think everybody has agreed

          8  that they want to do something with sprinklers to

          9  improve fire safety, it was interesting to me

         10  listening to your testimony looking at our statute

         11  here. For instance, as I understand it, our statute,

         12  the one that is before us anyway, the 198, says that

         13  what we want to do is basically retrofit every

         14  building but primarily in the stairwells and the

         15  halls with certain exceptions and leave it at that,

         16  where what I got from your testimony was that the

         17  recommendation is that you do it new construction or

         18  major rehab, but that it is more effective to put it

         19  in the apartment in the living space area rather

         20  than just the halls. It seems that is what I got

         21  from the testimony and that retrofitting, that there

         22  is a great deal of concern about retrofitting that

         23  you think ought to be looked at before we jump into

         24  that at this time, and I want to make sure that we

         25  understand that although it seems that we are all
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          2  heading in the right direction, it appears that

          3  between the statute and your testimony, that there

          4  is a dichotomy of interest or recommendation.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes, Tom. To

          6  me one is very simple and one is very complicated.

          7  You have to make the decision now whether or not you

          8  want to bring them all together and really possibly

          9  delay one from happening. But you can separate them,

         10  go forward with things that are very doable, very

         11  reasonable and terrific I think for the future, and

         12  then begin to look at the complicated part, the part

         13  of people who live in landmarked buildings, the

         14  people who live in buildings full of asbestos, the

         15  people who own their apartment, who own their co-op,

         16  who bought it 20 years ago, do you have the right to

         17  tell them to retrofit their apartment in any way.

         18                 These are all very, very complicated

         19  issues that I think are going to need a lot of

         20  discussion from your end with the people that own

         21  those buildings, those are legal issues.

         22                 Our recommendation is to seize this

         23  moment, go forward immediately with all new

         24  construction and if you want to get involved with

         25  the retrofit right away, order the communication
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          2  system and then begin these other really hard

          3  discussions on how and when because of different

          4  levels of renovation, different ages and all of

          5  these other different variables you decide what to

          6  do about retrofitting.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you. I

          8  did want to clarify that because the only statute

          9  that we have presently before us, there is that

         10  significant difference that I thought ought to be

         11  pointed out and I thank you for doing that.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: But

         13  Councilman, I just want to add something on the

         14  record. Joe Rosenberg, HPD.

         15                 As the Commissioner said, it does

         16  require more careful analysis, but one of the senses

         17  with retrofitting is that it can occasionally be

         18  disruptive. You have got systems in place, you have

         19  tenants in place, they can not be perhaps as cost

         20  efficient as if it is tied to a substantial rehab

         21  occurring in which the work can be done at the same

         22  time. That is something that is being looked at.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Just going

         24  into there and breaking into ceilings, breaking into

         25  walls and installing this as an independent system
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          2  would probably, it seems logically would be much

          3  more costly than incorporating it, the numbers that

          4  you gave were part of the original construction or

          5  major rehab and it is easier to fit in doing it that

          6  way.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          8  Right. The specific number on that is the retrofit

          9  according to the bill that is before you, Intro.

         10  198, the public halls and stairways would be $1,306

         11  per dwelling unit.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: That is an

         13  estimate?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         15  That is an estimate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Because we

         17  had talked earlier, you gave that number, I think it

         18  was understood that was part of the gut rehab.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         20  That included dwelling units. If we are doing

         21  dwelling units --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: As gut rehab

         23  or just simply retrofitting a sprinkler system?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         25  Retrofitting for hallways and stairwells, according
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          2  to Intro. 198, is $1,306.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: The

          5  gut rehab in which we are doing is triggered by

          6  substantial rehab and it covers the dwelling units,

          7  the stairwell and the hallways, is $1,376.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Much cheaper

          9  for -- basically on the same price on the gut rehab

         10  you can include these dwelling units --

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: For

         12  an additional $70 on the gut rehab trigger you are

         13  getting a dwelling unit, having a sprinkler

         14  installed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right. Which

         16  the Fire Department feels is a much more effective

         17  utilization of a sprinkler system.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Are you

         19  talking about inside an apartment? Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Let me ask

         21  some questions, there is a question, are sprinklers

         22  in stairwells dangerous to firefighters? There is an

         23  indication, there is an additive that is put in the

         24  water that may make it slippery or dangerous?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, I think
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          2  it is just the grime and paint on the stairwell

          3  floor added to the water and the firefighters

          4  carrying all of this equipment just make it

          5  difficult for us, and of less value than the other

          6  two options.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: The placing

          8  of sprinkler heads, is it better in ceilings or

          9  walls?

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Ceilings.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: It is better

         12  in the ceilings.

         13                 Thank you very much. Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Our next person

         17  is Council Member Boyland.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 My question is a two-part question

         21  that I have. Coming from a district in Brooklyn

         22  where we are on the developmental stage as we have

         23  been working on for awhile, my question is, your

         24  statement was that you advocate installation of

         25  sprinklers in all new residential construction. Now,
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          2  we also have to begin to look at the older buildings

          3  also, as far as the installation of sprinklers. Now,

          4  in the development stage that we are in, are we now

          5  beginning, are we prepared to do penalties for the

          6  developers or the owners of those particular

          7  buildings that do not have sprinkler systems and are

          8  there enough inspectors also to go out and ensure

          9  that these sprinkler systems have been installed

         10  within these new buildings, as well as the older

         11  buildings?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We are

         13  nowhere near the point of talking penalties. We have

         14  to change laws. We have to do a lot of work to --

         15  someone who started putting up a building yesterday,

         16  you can't by having this meeting today expect him to

         17  start installing sprinklers tomorrow. You are going

         18  to have to change laws, you are going to have to

         19  work with people to accomplish all of this, begin

         20  that process and --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Are we

         22  prepared to move in that direction --

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I ask you

         24  that question. You have to start working on changing

         25  the legislation. And when the legislation is
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          2  different we will be required through Buildings and

          3  our own agency to get the inspectors out there and

          4  inspect them. At this point that is not a variable.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And also for

          6  the Housing Department, when these buildings are

          7  constructed, are we prepared as far as inspectors

          8  and things? Are you going to be able to facilitate

          9  the new load that is going to be coming on as far as

         10  initiating when our bill, when our work is done on

         11  this end, to carry out the responsibility that we

         12  have, financially and fiscally I am talking about?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Yes.

         14  Richard Visconte, Deputy Commissioner of Buildings.

         15                 With regard to sprinklers in new

         16  buildings, that would be folded into our normal

         17  inspection workload, we are there anyway doing

         18  certain types of inspections, plumbing inspections,

         19  presently a highrise residential building has a

         20  standpipe, and we would fold that into the

         21  inspection process that we have right now.

         22                 With regard to retrofit, that would

         23  become an enforcement issue for the Department, and

         24  depending upon the outcome of the actual change to

         25  the Code would become an enforcement issue for us
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          2  and may require additional inspectors on our part to

          3  see that where sprinklers are required to be

          4  installed retroactively, that they are in fact

          5  installed. So it can have an inspectoral impact, it

          6  can also have an administrative impact. When we had

          7  prior laws with retroactivity, like Local Law 5

          8  which related to highrise office buildings, it had a

          9  significant impact on a Department as far as

         10  manpower.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay, thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you.

         14                 Council Member Warden, a member of

         15  the Committee.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Thank you very

         17  much. I just want to clarify something I think I

         18  heard you say.

         19                 I think I heard you say that in the

         20  recent fires the fatalities might have been

         21  prevented if the sprinklers that were in the hallway

         22  had worked; is that accurate?

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No,

         24  partially. I said in my opinion, the fire at

         25  Vendelia Avenue where we lost three firefighters,
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          2  those firefighters may have been saved if the

          3  sprinkler in the hallway had worked. I don't believe

          4  that the amount of heat that blew out from that

          5  apartment and caught them in the hallway could have

          6  built up to that level if the sprinklers had been on

          7  in the hallway. So we will never know that but we

          8  believe that made a difference in losing those

          9  firefighters.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Okay, well,

         11  assuming that -- I believe that also -- while we are

         12  considering legislation of this type, what

         13  safeguards can we build into the legislation that

         14  would provide that sprinkler systems that are

         15  installed do work?

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, in that

         17  particular fire, if the sprinkler had been over the

         18  couch where the fire started, it would have put it

         19  out way before it got to the hallway.

         20                 As far as inspections, I believe our

         21  inspection process is working. This was a fluke, in

         22  my opinion, and we will after this investigation

         23  make recommendations to prevent this hopefully from

         24  ever happening again. But I don't think there is a

         25  problem out there in the City right now that people
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          2  have to be concerned about their sprinkler systems

          3  not working.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: And what is

          5  the periodic testing that you recommend? Who does

          6  the testing? Is it the responsibility of the owner,

          7  the responsibility of the Department?

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: There is a

          9  combination of different responsibilities. In the

         10  commercial buildings where we have most of our

         11  sprinklers, it is the responsibility of the owners

         12  and it is monitored by the Department.

         13                 In the particular situation we had at

         14  Vendelia Avenue, it was the responsibility of HPD

         15  for that particular building to monitor it. We think

         16  that is where the breakdown was.

         17                 That was also overseen by the

         18  Department and we are looking at how we can better

         19  improve our monitoring of that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Okay, and my

         21  final question: There was a recall of the Omega

         22  sprinkler heads in October of '98, were you aware of

         23  that? And if you were, or if things like this

         24  happened, what type of follow-up does either

         25  Department have, Buildings, Fire or HPD, to ensure
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          2  that the appropriate heads are put so that there is

          3  a level of safety?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Richard

          5  Visconte, Deputy Commissioner of Buildings.

          6                 Both Buildings and Fire were aware of

          7  the issue or the problem with Omega sprinkler heads.

          8  We immediately took action to withdraw approval of

          9  that particular sprinkler head in New York City so

         10  that no other new installations would use this

         11  particular head.

         12                 We then began a dialogue with the

         13  company which manufactures the sprinkler head,

         14  Central Sprinkler Company, which we asked the

         15  company how they intended to deal with this

         16  particular problem. Concurrent with those initial

         17  discussions, the Federal Consumer Product Safety

         18  Commission brought suit and we were basically

         19  stopped from taking any further action until that

         20  suit was settled. It has been settled and Central

         21  Sprinkler has now a program for sprinkler

         22  replacement, offers a kit to building owners to

         23  assist them in identifying whether they have Omega

         24  sprinkler heads or not and building owners are

         25  required by August of this year to make a claim for
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          2  full reimbursement for the installation and

          3  replacement of sprinkler heads.

          4                 We have provided information to the

          5  industry through the various building owners

          6  associations, since the Omega sprinkler head is what

          7  is called a quick release sprinkler head and it is

          8  basically used in office buildings, and I believe

          9  through our outreach program and through our web

         10  page have been getting information out to building

         11  owners.

         12                 We don't think there is a public

         13  safety issue here, that it was the testing of a few

         14  heads, it failed to open at a specific pressure, but

         15  we feel that it doesn't represent any safety hazard

         16  but these sprinkler heads should be replaced and

         17  that will occur in due course through central

         18  sprinklers replacement program.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Are we using a

         20  self-certification process for this, or will there

         21  be follow-up from your Department?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Well,

         23  we view this as the responsibility of the owner to

         24  make the claim. The replacement of a sprinkler head

         25  is an ordinary repair and it is something that is
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          2  solely the responsibility of the building owner.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Okay, I would

          4  just caution you, because we have information, not

          5  in New York City but in other jurisdictions there

          6  have been fires that were not effectively fought by

          7  the Omega sprinkling head, so you have to be

          8  cautious about that.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: We are,

         10  and we are continuing to reach out to owners who

         11  have sprinkler buildings to inform them that they

         12  should replace their sprinkler head.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. First of

         15  all, I want to announce to any of you who wish to

         16  testify, you must sign in with the sergeant at my

         17  left, otherwise your name will not be called. There

         18  is a process by asking to speak and you must sign

         19  that.

         20                 So, now we call on Council Member

         21  Eldridge.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         23                 Commissioner Von Essen, taking the

         24  same situation on 60th Street with the fire starting

         25  in the apartment and the door left open, if there

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  had been sprinklers in the hallway, would the smoke

          3  have been eliminated?

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, the smoke

          5  wouldn't have been eliminated, but the fire might

          6  not have extended as far out as it did, which made

          7  it really difficult for my firefighters to make it

          8  down that hallway, it was about 60, 70 feet, with

          9  the fire, the heat meeting them out that far. It

         10  made it really difficult for them to get through the

         11  apartment, and that is the problem. If the door is

         12  there, it allows us to get to the door to set up,

         13  everybody gets ready to go, and if they can't make

         14  it they immediately close the door. So, if they can

         15  make it they put the fire out and it is pretty

         16  quick. The problem is getting down that hallway.

         17  That is a scary experience, for anybody who has

         18  never experienced it, it is very difficult.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: That

         20  building illustrates part of the problems I think

         21  about education because some of the people who tried

         22  to escape the smoke and when they heard there was a

         23  fire and to leave, had been worked in buildings,

         24  commercial buildings, where there were fire drills,

         25  file chiefs and the whole organization and where
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          2  they had always been told to leave.

          3                 I represent that district and in that

          4  district I think that we have such a mixture of

          5  buildings. We have a lot of buildings that were

          6  pre-1938, so that they may have different procedures

          7  for the fires.

          8                 My office did an informal survey of

          9  some of the newer buildings in the Lincoln Square

         10  part of the district and we found the total lack of

         11  uniformity as response to fires and we had two major

         12  fires in that area in the last couple of years.

         13                 So, I wonder about the education part

         14  of it. Did the local fire stations go and inspect --

         15  did they inspect the cellars and the back stairwells

         16  and things like that in all of the buildings?

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And how

         19  often do you do that?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Once a year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Don't you

         22  think that we should mandate owners or managing

         23  agents that every building over a certain size must

         24  have a fire plan for fire in place that residents

         25  should be notified of that plan --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: More than a

          4  general education because it has to really be

          5  personalized for the building?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The problem

          7  is exactly as you spell it out. It is so

          8  complicated, it is almost impossible for us to

          9  educate everybody about their building. Someone has

         10  to take that responsibility on, and I think if you

         11  mandate the owners to at the very least educate the

         12  people in their buildings what they should do, I

         13  think you have made a tremendous step forward.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I live in a

         15  29 or 30-story ten-year-old building, and I asked

         16  the managing agent the other day, and it is a very

         17  large managing agent, and she said you are supposed

         18  to leave the apartment, and I said wait a minute.

         19  Now each of these floors also has a plaque on it

         20  telling you where the fire, the stairwell is. So

         21  that is an exceedingly misleading indicator also.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: What you just

         23  said is the truth, you are supposed to leave your

         24  apartment, but it is just like a news story, it

         25  doesn't tell you the rest of it.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: And it is

          4  very difficult for us to give a two-page explanation

          5  for every configuration throughout the City in two

          6  sentences, you know, that people are listening to.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So you would

          8  agree that we should somehow legislate or mandate --

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes,

         10  education for each specific building.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: When you

         12  talk about the public address system, it bothers me

         13  a little bit because in my office building I can't

         14  understand the public address system, and in the

         15  subway stations I certainly can't understand the

         16  public address system, and I wonder, we have some

         17  musicians, we have other people who have soundproof

         18  doors and things like that, the effectiveness, the

         19  true effectiveness of the public address system that

         20  if in fact we mandate an important notification,

         21  individual notification program and some

         22  responsibility that we might not need that kind of a

         23  public address system.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, ideally

         25  if everyone in their building knew what to do, that
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          2  is the first step forward, but as Councilwoman

          3  Provenzano mentioned before, the frailties of human

          4  beings when there is a panic, and they look out

          5  their window and let's say the fire is three stories

          6  below them and they are in no danger, but they are

          7  not going to maybe realize that they are in no

          8  danger so they are going to think they are in

          9  danger, so they are going to forget maybe the

         10  education program or maybe they have just moved in

         11  or maybe they don't speak the language and they have

         12  avoided the landlord's attempt to educate them. If

         13  they go out into the hallway now, they will hear a

         14  fire chief or his representative who has arrived and

         15  they will be hearing stay in your apartment if you

         16  are above the whatever floor. If you are above the

         17  19th floor, stay in your apartment. You know, that

         18  is a very simple clear message that can be delivered

         19  we think pretty inexpensively, and we think that is

         20  a good way to go because there are situations where,

         21  many situations where that will be helpful.

         22                 In that particular building the other

         23  day, there were many people that used the stairwell,

         24  and many people used the stairwell, thousands of

         25  people use stairwells and they have been fortunate
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          2  they used the right stairwell where there was no

          3  fire or heat or they had been in the stairwell at a

          4  time before that blast of smoke and heat came out of

          5  the apartment of afterwards. It was this freak

          6  timing of this tragedy that made this so unusual.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Provenzano has a quick

          9  question on the second round.

         10                 Council Member Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, one

         12  more little question. Again about the public

         13  announcement system.

         14                 Did you say two speakers per floor?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I didn't say

         16  anything.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Oh, okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Commissioner

         19  Rosenberg talked about two speakers per floor in

         20  Housing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I am sure

         22  that would depend on the size of the floor? Because

         23  some of these are --

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I mean, that

         25  is okay for housing. What we are talking about,
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          2  buildings throughout the City are all different

          3  sizes, and all different power of speakers --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: And all

          6  different volume and sound, so I don't know if you

          7  can -- you know, we can't -- talk about that here

          8  today.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: All right.

         10                 The other thing is, the fire starts,

         11  fire alarms go off, do we now hear a public

         12  announcement over fire alarms? You know, how do we

         13  get around that?

         14                 Are we thinking maybe about public

         15  address systems in each apartment since they have?

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: What we are

         17  talking about is right now we are talking about a

         18  highrise building. We are talking about a situation

         19  and the analogy we are making is the tragedy we had

         20  at 60th Street, where someone might be ten floors

         21  above the fire. They don't hear a fire alarm, they

         22  don't hear anything. They run out into their hallway

         23  and it is clear. They have seen a lot of smoke

         24  coming up outside their window.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, so
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          2  there is not a fire alarm --

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Let me

          4  finish. No, they haven't heard anything.

          5                 So, if they heard a speaker down the

          6  hallway, it is okay if you are above the 19th floor,

          7  stay in your apartment, that would help.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We cannot

         10  possible create a situation that is going to solve

         11  every problem.

         12                 We had a fire in, I think it was the

         13  Bronx, where a person murdered his three children

         14  and torched himself off and put himself in a closet,

         15  a sprinkler would not have helped them. You know,

         16  you are not going to put sprinklers in closets. You

         17  can't possibly figure out every situation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You are

         20  trying to do the best you can for a City with 8

         21  million people.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         25                 Commissioner, quickly, emergency
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          2  exits, are they wired to the regular electrical

          3  systems in a building?

          4                 Are they separate, or if the lights

          5  go out, do the exit sign lights go out as well?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: It is

          7  separate.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It is separate,

          9  all right.

         10                 Do you have photo luminescent, glow

         11  in the dark safety signs? Are they permitted in

         12  buildings?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Permitted?

         14  Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They are

         16  permitted.

         17                 There are no requirements, though,

         18  for photo -- in other words, if they are admitted,

         19  are they required to have photo-luminescent signs?

         20  In the hallways, the elevator, the sign says you go

         21  this way for Stairway A or that way for Stairway B,

         22  it can easily be seen in the dark.

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Councilman

         24  Spigner, I think what you are getting into is all

         25  different buildings and different rules and
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          2  different ages and different codes, it is hard to

          3  give you a blanket answer.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So there are no

          5  requirements for photo-luminescence?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Not in

          8  residential buildings.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So when the

         10  lights go out, if I am standing on the 16th floor in

         11  front of the elevator that has this sign that says

         12  you are here, Stairway A is that way, A or B, but I

         13  can't see this. Do you see from a safety point of

         14  view that there should be such requirements?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, we think

         16  that people have to know where their stairway is on

         17  their floor.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I may be a

         19  visitor. I am just asking about photo luminescence.

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't know

         21  exactly what photo-luminescence means. You mean does

         22  it glow in the dark, or is there a light?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It glows in the

         24  dark. Self-contained.

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: It's a good
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          2  idea.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          4                 Council Member Eldridge, the last

          5  person to question the Commissioner.

          6                 Ms. Eldridge.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

          8                 Could you just delineate, the

          9  Buildings Department or Fire Department, what part

         10  of inspections in buildings you are responsible for,

         11  and then particularly in the 60th Street fire, my

         12  understanding is it may have been caused by a short

         13  from the electric heating unit. Many of the new

         14  buildings use those units, tenants again don't know

         15  how to maintain them; is there a responsibility for

         16  maintaining them or a notification of what to do?

         17  Who is responsible for those units?

         18                 But what do you inspect that has

         19  something to do with a potential fire in a building?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: That is

         21  an extremely broad question. But let me just address

         22  it from the standpoint of the sprinklers.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: And

         25  equipment, like a heater.
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          2                 Sprinklers, there is an inspection by

          3  the Building Department of the installation. It is a

          4  pressure test and a flow test.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: That is

          6  actually after it is installed you go on site and

          7  you do it?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Right.

          9  And you cannot get your certificate of occupancy

         10  until all of the required inspections are performed.

         11  This is one of those inspections.

         12                 With regard to the equipment and an

         13  electric heater, any equipment like that must be

         14  approved for use in New York City. So a manufacturer

         15  must submit the equipment to what we call our MEA

         16  Division, and that equipment is approved, and there

         17  are various national standards, underwriters

         18  laboratories, et cetera, as you would be familiar

         19  with lighting where you want to make sure the

         20  equipment will not short out and it has been

         21  properly manufactured. There is no specific

         22  inspection by us of that piece of equipment. And the

         23  owner is responsible to keep any piece of equipment

         24  in a building in proper operating condition and use

         25  that equipment safely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Council

          4  Member Eldridge, we can't inspect every electric

          5  heater in every apartment that is full of candy

          6  wrappers and paper and garbage.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I understand

          8  that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: There is a

         10  certain level of responsibility for the people who

         11  own an apartment, who own an electric heater, and on

         12  that electric heater it describes the danger of

         13  electric heater.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But when we

         15  are talking about electric heater, we are not

         16  talking about a portable electric heater, we are

         17  talking about a real heating and cooling unit that

         18  is part of the installation of the building. So, in

         19  people's minds when you hear the electric heater you

         20  think it is one of those little ones. So that

         21  becomes a question of maintenance basically by the

         22  building owner or management also that they have to

         23  notify people, don't they? I mean, isn't it another

         24  -- you would think that people would know you are

         25  not supposed to stuff paper, but people may not
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          2  think about that until, as in this case, it was too

          3  late.

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So what

          6  inspections do you do in a building? Do you do the

          7  sprinkler system in operation once it is installed.

          8                 MR. GANSY: Peter Gansy, Chief of

          9  Operations with City Fire.

         10                 The Fire Department has a cyclical

         11  inspection program for all buildings in the City.

         12  All public buildings we do all parts of, all

         13  commercial buildings we inspect all parts of. All

         14  residential housing in New York City, we do only the

         15  public areas, the hallways, the stairwells, the

         16  roof, the basement and the common areas. We have no

         17  authority whatsoever to enter anyone's premise.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: You say

         19  cyclical, how often do you do an apartment house,

         20  for instance?

         21                 MR. GANSY: An apartment house could

         22  be anywhere in the two to three to five year area.

         23  We try to do our A public buildings annually,

         24  commercial buildings annually, depending on the type

         25  thereof, residentials are in the two to five area.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And how many

          3  inspectors do you have?

          4                 MR. GANSY: We are talking about not

          5  only the Bureau of Fire Prevention, we are talking

          6  about the 11,000 firefighters.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, gentlemen,

          9  Mr. Von Essen, Mr. Rosenberg, gentlemen -- oh,

         10  Council Member Marshall.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. I did

         12  hear you say that equipment should be submitted to

         13  the Department of Fire, I mean heating units. Do we

         14  at all talk to the retailers that sell these items?

         15  Do we have any control over that at all?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE: Well,

         17  when you say the retailers, if the product is

         18  something which is incorporated into a building, it

         19  has to have our approval.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: It's not? It

         21  doesn't?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER VISCONTE:  The

         23  people that furnish this equipment to contractors

         24  know that that equipment should be approved for use

         25  in New York City. The contractors installing the
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          2  equipment know it has to be approved equipment. But

          3  we don't reach out to like Home Depot or to other

          4  stores and say, you know, that you can only sell

          5  equipment that is approved in New York City.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I am

          7  from Queens, I have over-occupancy up to the gills,

          8  I have seen kerosene stoves in stores for sale,

          9  which absolutely will be disastrous in any of those

         10  houses.

         11                 You know, we limit the sale of spray

         12  paint to youngsters because we want to stop graffiti

         13  and also the box-cutters, it seems to me that we

         14  have got to control the sale of these things a

         15  little better too.

         16                 CHIEF FEEHAN: We do not allow and

         17  have not allowed for many years the kerosene heaters

         18  in the City and if we find them we confiscate them.

         19  So, if you could give us, Ms. Marshall, tell us

         20  where they are doing this, in Jackson Heights,

         21  Elmhurst, wherever, we will take them out of there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, Chief

         24  Feehan, Commissioner Visconte, Commissioner Von

         25  Essen, Commissioner Rosenberg, Chief, I want to
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          2  thank you all for your testimony.

          3                 Now we have explored a lot of issues

          4  from a prepared set of questions that we will be

          5  submitting to you in the spirit of collegiality and

          6  cooperation which is required for us to develop a

          7  successful bill, one that makes sense and will be

          8  enforceable, it would help us if you would respond

          9  to these questions as rapidly as possible.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We will.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now we move to

         15  the general population. There are a group of people

         16  here who have personal experience with a fire and

         17  they want to share with us. Maybe in that connection

         18  I would invite to the table Anna Beard, Tom Palumbo,

         19  Johan Bager, Jerome Rose and Tina Drennan. If you

         20  would all take a seat at the table, we will be able

         21  to hear your experiences. We would be happy if you

         22  could share them with us, it will help us focus on

         23  where we ultimately want to go.

         24                 Gentlemen, ladies, if you will

         25  identify yourselves. We have a number of witnesses
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          2  today so try to organize your thoughts, and if you

          3  do have any written testimony we will certainly be

          4  happy to incorporate that into the record.

          5                 So, whoever wants to begin, you may

          6  go at this time.

          7                 MR. ROSE:  Hello. Testing. Forgive

          8  me, but I will have to say I have to be at WSR as

          9  soon as possible, and I apologize to the Council for

         10  not giving them as much time as I can. I was

         11  misinformed about when I would be testifying.

         12                 My name is Jerome Rose and I wanted

         13  to submit for the Council for those who may not have

         14  seen the stairwell where four of my fellow residents

         15  died. I think it is very revealing as to what it

         16  looked like.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         18                 MR. ROSE: I would also like to submit

         19  the planned escape from fire as issued by the Fire

         20  Department with Mayor Giuliani's name on it and the

         21  former Fire Commissioner Howard Safir, it clearly

         22  states that one should have escaped by the stairs.

         23  And I would like to read the following testimony.

         24                 Mr. Chairman and honored members of

         25  the Committee on Housing and Buildings, I come here
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          2  today with my fellow residents to give testimony and

          3  bring to your attention the issues about which we

          4  are deeply concerned. This pertains to the recent

          5  fatal fire at South Park Tower, 124 West 60th Street

          6  in Manhattan. I have brought with me three fellow

          7  residents, people whose stories I believe will be

          8  significant.

          9                 May I introduce them to you. They are

         10  Johan and Anna Bager, Priscilla Lima, and

         11  unfortunately Geramie Lauder, the husband of Livi

         12  Lauder, a victim of the fire is unable to attend,

         13  his two-year-old son Michael is suffering from

         14  pneumonia.

         15                 Let me start off immediately by

         16  requesting that this Committee establish a complete

         17  independent investigation into the fire for the

         18  following reasons:

         19                 The fire took place on Wednesday,

         20  December 23rd, the day before Christmas Eve when the

         21  building was 80 to 90 percent empty. The residents

         22  were either at work or already away on their

         23  Christmas holidays. There is no doubt in anyone's

         24  mind that the death toll could have been ten times

         25  greater.
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          2                 We also believe that the City Fire

          3  Department and the owners of the building acted

          4  irresponsibly in not anticipating such a

          5  catastrophe. Although there may be no legal

          6  responsibility for these tragic events, there is

          7  certainly a moral responsibility for such an

          8  egregious lack of foresight. The mere notion of a

          9  fireproof building is now rendered absurd following

         10  this catastrophe, it may be fireproof but it

         11  certainly is not smokeproof.

         12                 The thought that residents should

         13  remain in rooms filling with smoke is equally

         14  absurd. It is against every instinct we have.

         15  Obviously this tragedy should have never happened,

         16  but it did. With the absence of any iota of

         17  information, the residents did what they were told

         18  to do. It is posted in front of every elevator by

         19  law in case of fire use the stairs unless otherwise

         20  instructed. It is also clearly not stated who is to

         21  give the instructions.

         22                 Because the smoke was so pervasive

         23  throughout the building, I did not speak to one

         24  resident who did not open his or her door to

         25  investigate if there was indeed a fire in the
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          2  building and where it was. Everyone thought the fire

          3  could be next door.

          4                 The first instinct was to run, other

          5  cooler heads called 9-1-1 to report it, while others

          6  attempted to contact the front desk. This was

          7  practically impossible because it was continually

          8  busy. The intercom was not functioning as was

          9  usually the case in that building.

         10                 No one anticipated the chain of

         11  events that lead up to the tragic fire. It was never

         12  supposed to happen this way. There never was

         13  supposed to be a fire lasting two and a half hours.

         14                 How could a simple apartment fire

         15  escalate into a four alarm blaze? The door to the

         16  apartment on fire was left open, the resident did

         17  not call 9-1-1 or sound a general alarm. The

         18  concierge was telephoned by a resident that she

         19  smelled smoke on the 19th floor. He sends the super

         20  and the assistant super to investigate. The fire has

         21  reached critical proportions and is already in the

         22  hallway.

         23                 Upon reaching the 19th floor in the

         24  elevators the super and assistant are nearly knocked

         25  out and killed by the blast that hits them when the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  doors open, the elevators. The hallway is already

          3  totally black and they crawled to freedom towards

          4  the fire exit, are the fire doors now left open.

          5                 Two elevators are frozen and made

          6  unusable. The switches activate an elevator alarm,

          7  it is still undetermined if there was smoke, if the

          8  smoke alarm in the elevator which warned Wells Fargo

          9  Security or if it was only an alarm that was heard

         10  from a stuck elevator.

         11                 The elevators were still being used

         12  by residents as late as 10:15 a.m., after they

         13  should have been exclusively for the Fire

         14  Department.

         15                 The 9-1-1 call is placed by the

         16  concierge and he is forbidden by the building

         17  management to activate the general alarm unless he

         18  sees the fire himself. This is the task of the

         19  superintendent, he is the man in charge of fire

         20  safety.

         21                 When was the general alarm finally

         22  activated and by whom? To many of the residents the

         23  first alert was the smell of smoke and not the

         24  general alarm. Many residents testified they never

         25  heard any alarm.
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          2                 Because there was absolutely no prior

          3  information as to what to do in case of fire and no

          4  means of communication throughout the building,

          5  everyone thought they should evacuate as trained.

          6                 People along the fire column saw

          7  their apartments filling up with smoke from floor to

          8  ceiling. They saw smoke billowing outside their

          9  windows and when they tried to gain air by opening

         10  the windows, the smoke came gushing in choking them

         11  further.

         12                 No one resident I spoke to

         13  anticipated that the fire exits which filled with

         14  smoke became avenues of death. The doors to the

         15  exits by necessity had to be opened on the 19th

         16  floor to access the standpipes and gain entry. This

         17  is by the firefighters. The smoke also shot up into

         18  the stairwells each time a resident tried to enter

         19  the fire exit.

         20                 No one anticipated the then doors and

         21  windows would allow lethal smoke into the apartment.

         22  Many over the apartments in the column of that fire,

         23  they would not make it and found refuge on their

         24  balconys.

         25                 No one believed the smoke would
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          2  permeate the buildings and apartments within

          3  minutes. On the part of everyone, survival became

          4  uppermost. It is an ironic situation that it was

          5  precisely because the hallways and exits were

          6  impassable, that people had to remain or return to

          7  their apartments. It was actually the smoke that

          8  saved their lives.

          9                 There is no question that the death

         10  toll would have been unbelievable if the fire had

         11  occurred at any other time. And I believe the

         12  residents are asking for private investigation and I

         13  will submit to the Council here the reasons why we

         14  feel that way, for the sake of brevity, and I

         15  believe this investigation should be conducted away

         16  from any political and personal interest. It should

         17  be done as fairly as possible, not to attach blame,

         18  but to prevent any other disaster of this kind to

         19  take place.

         20                 The catastrophe that took place could

         21  easily be repeated in any highrise building in New

         22  York. Because people make mistakes, should others

         23  have to die? As a modern society can we not empower,

         24  are we not empowered to change situations and learn

         25  from our errors?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 I thank the Council for their time

          3  and I hope that myself and fellow residents will

          4  lend some information and bring legislation at hand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Rose, we

          6  want to thank you for taking the time to prepare

          7  such a comprehensive document of your own personal

          8  experience, and I assure you that this Council,

          9  together with your Council member, and the

         10  leadership of the Council, have your interests at

         11  heart as we move forward.

         12                 We also again extend sincere

         13  condolences of those New Yorkers and your neighbors

         14  who unfortunately were the victims of this tragedy.

         15                 MR. ROSE: Let me just finish.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Surely.

         17                 MR. ROSE: I took this on because I

         18  never knew this woman. She died 19 feet from my

         19  door. She chose Stairway A, I chose Stairway B. I

         20  lived, she died.

         21                 Thank you, Council.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you again,

         23  sir. Is there any other person that is sitting with

         24  you who cares to testify and add to Mr. Rose's

         25  testimony?
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          2                 Madame, if you will identify

          3  yourself, please.

          4                 MS. LIMA: My name is Priscilla Lima.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You have to push

          6  the button. Go ahead.

          7                 MS. LIMA: My name is Priscilla Lima,

          8  I am a resident of Apartment 33 E, and I have

          9  prepared a statement that I would like to read.

         10                 On the 23rd of December I was in my

         11  apartment, 33 E, 124 West 60th Street, around 10:00

         12  a.m. when the fire in our building erupted. I said

         13  to my parents that I smelled something burning, so I

         14  went to the kitchen to find out if I left the

         15  toaster oven on. I couldn't find anything.  As I was

         16  saying to my parents that I couldn't find what was

         17  causing that smell I saw through the glass window

         18  behind them dark smoke blowing outside. The smoke

         19  was really, really black and there was a lot of it.

         20  So, I said to my parents immediately and in panic, I

         21  think there is a fire in the building, look outside.

         22                 My parents looked behind them and

         23  jumped up from the couch where they were sitting. My

         24  father said grab your coat and let's get out of

         25  here, there is definitely a fire in the building.
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          2                 As I ran to the closet where my

          3  husband and I keep our coats, I laid eyes in the

          4  intercom of the building which is right next to the

          5  closet and I called to call the doorman to see if I

          6  could get some information about what was going on

          7  and what we should do. However, the intercom was not

          8  working, and I just remembered that point, why the

          9  hell that intercom had not worked for over a month.

         10                 I grabbed a piece of paper that we

         11  keep behind the intercom that has phone numbers for

         12  the front desk, management office, et cetera, and I

         13  ran to the phone and called the front desk, but

         14  needless to say it was busy, probably hundreds of

         15  other people were probably also calling.

         16                 I looked outside and the smoke was

         17  getting worse. I could now basically only see smoke

         18  when I looked outside and nothing else through the

         19  window. My father said come on, Priscilla, let's go,

         20  it smells really strong in here. I put the phone

         21  down and the three of us left the apartment in a

         22  hurry. My mother and father were ahead of me. I was

         23  the last one to leave. As I heard the door shut

         24  behind me, I smelled even more smoke than I was

         25  smelling in the apartment. The air in the corridor
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          2  of the 33rd floor was thick and brown and it was

          3  extremely difficult to breathe. I could barely see

          4  my parents even though they were close to me walking

          5  towards the middle of the hallway.

          6                 As my parents walked in front of me,

          7  my mother asked where is the stairwell, and I said

          8  keep walking and it will come up on your left across

          9  from the elevator there is a sign on it.

         10                 The smoke was so thick that my father

         11  walked right past the stairwell, probably unable to

         12  see the sign. I was right behind my mom and I

         13  pointed the door out to her. She opened the door and

         14  as I was yelling to my father that he had passed the

         15  stairs, my mouth filled with bitter tasting thick

         16  air and my eyes hurt as we were suddenly surrounded

         17  by this incredibly thick and gray air in the

         18  stairwell. The air was so dark that I could not see

         19  anything in there, absolutely nothing, not even the

         20  walls or the steps.

         21                 My mom immediately turned around and

         22  I stayed there for what were probably just a few

         23  seconds, though it felt like a long time.

         24                 I tried to look for the rail. The

         25  railing, and I tried to see if it was possible to go
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          2  down, but as I stretched my hands and couldn't find

          3  anything, I could not even see the steps, could not

          4  find anything to hold on to. I realized it was

          5  impossible to go down. I turned around to exit the

          6  stairs and my father was right there. He said let's

          7  go back to the apartment, it is too hard to breathe

          8  in here and we will never be able to make it down.

          9                 As we walked out of the stairwell and

         10  I went to put my hands in my pockets to get keys, I

         11  felt a complete sense of panic and helplessness as I

         12  realized that I had walked outside of my apartment

         13  without keys in the rush and panic of it all. The

         14  fear that I felt at that moment is really impossible

         15  to describe. I looked at my parents right in front

         16  of me and realized we could not get back into the

         17  apartment because the doors at South Park Tower lock

         18  behind you when they close.

         19                 We were in a hall so full of smoke it

         20  was impossible to breathe, my mom was coughing and

         21  the stairwell was even worse an we were locked

         22  outside the apartment. There was nowhere to go. I

         23  told my parents in panic that I had not brought keys

         24  and there was no way back in because the damn doors

         25  lock. I pressed the elevator button, even though I
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          2  knew I was not supposed to do that in a fire, but I

          3  didn't know what else to do. My mom starting yelling

          4  help and knocked on people's doors and thank God at

          5  that time and what seemed like a miracle, we heard

          6  someone yelling down the hall to come into their

          7  apartment, that their door was open.

          8                 We ran in that direction, though it

          9  was impossible by that time to see anything in the

         10  hallway because the smoke was so thick, and I really

         11  want to emphasize, you could not see a thing in that

         12  hallway on the 33rd floor. So the myth that if you

         13  were ten floors above you would have been okay is

         14  frankly not true. The smoke had completely filled

         15  the building by that time. I have a friend that

         16  lives on the 44th floor and he said that on the 44th

         17  floor it was the same exact thing.

         18                 So, we walked into the woman's

         19  apartment, she was scared, carrying a newborn baby

         20  and didn't know what to do. The smoke in her

         21  apartment started to get worse every second and she

         22  suggested we went out onto her porch, to try to get

         23  dressed more warmly, but there was no time, we just

         24  basically rushed out onto the porch in the freezing

         25  cold and we stayed there. The apartment was so
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          2  completely filled with thick dark gray smoke that it

          3  was literally impossible to see anything else there

          4  once we were out on the porch. You know, I want to

          5  emphasize that. The apartment was closed, there were

          6  no windows open. We were on the porch and we could

          7  not see anything in there.

          8                 Soon the smoke started to come out to

          9  the porch, through the porch door. I guess air can

         10  flow through the cracks surrounding the door

         11  somehow, though to the naked eye it looks like those

         12  porch doors seem to be able to prevent passage of

         13  air. It was not doing its job and the smoke kept

         14  coming out from inside the apartment and it started

         15  to smell stronger out there.

         16                 At this point a neighbor that was

         17  stuck outside his porch on the apartment above us on

         18  the 34th floor heard what was happening and tied

         19  duck tape to a rope and through it to us. We sealed

         20  the porch door with duck tape and waited out there

         21  for a long time.

         22                 I was scared that we couldn't see

         23  anything in the apartment. We were locked outside in

         24  this little porch with absolutely no way out and my

         25  fear at that point was that we would see flames

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            101

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  inside the apartment and have to make a terrible

          3  choice between enduring a fire or jumping out from

          4  the 33rd porch door. Thankfully that did not happen,

          5  but I tell this entire long story to highlight what

          6  a deathtrap our building was.

          7                 Notice how many things were wrong.

          8  First, the intercom was not working, which left us

          9  without any idea of what was going on or what we

         10  should do. There was no fire alarm ringing in my

         11  apartment or in the hallway. Even if a fire alarm

         12  had rung I would not have known what to do as I have

         13  never been told what to do in the event of a fire at

         14  South Park Tower in the two and a half years that I

         15  have lived there. The doors that lock behind you

         16  when you leave.

         17                 I mean, I know you have the option to

         18  undo that, but normally you think about security and

         19  you leave your door locked, but in the event of a

         20  fire the doors that lock automatically are a

         21  tremendous fire hazard and people just never think

         22  about that, they just think let me leave the door in

         23  automatic lock for security reasons. Nobody ever

         24  tells you what a big fire hazard those doors can be.

         25                 There was no sprinkler system that
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          2  could push some of that toxic smoke down and allowed

          3  us to breathe it in the apartments or the hallways.

          4  There were no clearly marked fire exits. Apparently

          5  there was a second stairwell that was not as filled

          6  with smoke as the one I tried to go down in, but in

          7  the two and a half years living in that building, I

          8  never even knew a second stairwell existed, which

          9  demonstrates how poorly marked the fire escapes are

         10  in the building.

         11                 And lastly, a stairwell so poorly

         12  planned, or I am not even sure how that problem

         13  would have been fixed, but it was impossible to

         14  breathe in there, therefore, we were trapped in the

         15  building, not able to escape the fire. You know, a

         16  fire stairwell in theory should enable people to

         17  leave the building, that was not the case.

         18                 As this calamity took place, it

         19  angers me that certain public officials were saying

         20  that everything would have been fine and people

         21  would have been safe if only they stayed in their

         22  apartments. These statements are based on a complete

         23  lack of understanding of what the conditions in

         24  South Park Tower were at the time of the fire. As I

         25  described here, the apartments were so full of smoke
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          2  at the time of the fire, it was nearly impossible to

          3  breathe inside them.

          4                 So it is not the case that everything

          5  would have been fine if people would have stayed in.

          6  People were not safe, the air was terribly poisonous

          7  inside the apartments, and I think fire sprinklers,

          8  the sprinklers on the ceilings would have helped to

          9  push some of that smoke down.

         10                 The only reason why people stayed in

         11  their terribly smoky apartments was because they

         12  couldn't leave, they were trapped inside as the

         13  hallways and stairwells were even more filled with

         14  smoke than the apartments.

         15                 In addition, the fire door of the

         16  stairwell that we tried to use says "in case of fire

         17  use the stairwell", in general, fire drills of

         18  buildings instruct people to get out through the

         19  fire stairwells in case of fire. Nowhere had I ever

         20  seen signs saying in case of fire stay in your

         21  apartments. I wonder if there are any such signs

         22  anywhere. Every person I have talked to about this

         23  tells me they too thought that in the event of a

         24  fire you were supposed to get out. In the panic of a

         25  fire people will simply leave. I am certain that I
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          2  am not the only person in the building that forgot

          3  to grab keys as I ran out the door, you know, scared

          4  of the fire, and the problem is once we were out in

          5  the hallway there was no way out if you had

          6  forgotten your keys.

          7                 In sum, I believe it is imperative

          8  for the fire code of this City to be changed. If the

          9  fire standards at South Park Tower meet the

         10  guidelines of the City, people are simply not safe

         11  in residential buildings. No intercom, no fire alarm

         12  in the apartments, no fire extinguishers, no

         13  sprinklers, no clearly marked fire exits, automatic

         14  locks on doors, and stairwells that function like a

         15  chimney instead of allowing people to escape all

         16  combine to make buildings deadly.

         17                 In order to avoid future tragedies

         18  such as the one that took place at our building and

         19  cost four lives, I urge public officials to revise

         20  the City's fire codes so as to address every one of

         21  these fire hazards.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Lima. Again, this Committee shares the horror and

         24  the tragedy that you have just gone through, we will

         25  be happy to receive a copy of your testimony so that
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          2  we could use it as part of our background material

          3  as we try to develop the appropriate remedies for

          4  these kinds of tragedies.

          5                 Yes, Ma'am.

          6                 MS. BAGER: Yes, my name is Anna

          7  Bager. I reside at 124 West 60th Street, in

          8  Apartment 30 D. My reason for speaking today is to

          9  share my experience as I witnessed a lack of

         10  communication between the management and staff to

         11  the residents of South Park. I left my apartment at

         12  approximately 9:35 a.m. that morning to walk the

         13  dogs and was completely unaware at that time of any

         14  smoke or fire, I didn't smell anything. Upon my

         15  return at about 9:47 I noticed that the fire alarm

         16  in the lobby had gone on. I assumed it was a false

         17  alarm until I saw my neighbors coming through the

         18  stairwell door in panic. At that point the fire

         19  alarm stopped ringing and I thought oh, okay, let me

         20  find out what is going on. So I went to the

         21  concierge to inquire about what was actually going

         22  on. He at that point really didn't know what to tell

         23  me. I mentioned that my husband might still be in

         24  the apartment and if there was a fire I would like

         25  to call him. Being that the intercom system was out
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          2  at the time, he said you can't use the regular phone

          3  because I am leaving it open for residents.

          4                 Well, I started to panic as I saw the

          5  Fire Department pull up and then there was

          6  confirmation that there was indeed a fire.

          7                 I implored this man to call my

          8  husband to see if he was in the apartment. It took

          9  about 15 minutes to get to the phone. I am sure that

         10  there isn't even call waiting on the single line

         11  phone that they are using instead of an intercom

         12  system.

         13                 I finally got to my husband who is

         14  here today to speak about his experience inside the

         15  apartment and felt much better that he was actually

         16  okay and alive. I didn't know at that point what to

         17  tell him, whether to stay in the apartment or to

         18  leave the apartment.

         19                 And then I spoke to one of the

         20  firemen and at that point he said he should just

         21  stay where he is and I said would you please go and

         22  check on him and they did and I thank them very much

         23  for that. They were wonderful.

         24                 At this point, as of today the

         25  intercom system at South Park is still not

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  functioning, and I understand that the public

          3  address system could be an immediate option, an

          4  immediate safety possibility for the building and I

          5  am asking you to ask our landlord to have this

          6  installed immediately, like yesterday, like now,

          7  because I don't feel safe in the building without

          8  any kind of communication. This could happen at any

          9  time at any moment and I don't feel safe and neither

         10  do the rest of the residents, and it is just

         11  something that could be done immediately and if the

         12  expense is an issue, I think that is just

         13  inexcusable.

         14                 Thank you very much for hearing me

         15  out today.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.

         17  Bager. Thank you for your testimony and we certainly

         18  sympathize with you and your concerns are our

         19  concerns, I assure you.

         20                 Who is next? Mr. Bager?

         21                 MR. BAGER: Yes. My name is Johan

         22  Bager, and I am a tenant and I live in Apartment 30

         23  D, which is right above the fire. And I think

         24  everybody has said just about everything there is to

         25  be said, and I think most if not everything has been
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          2  identified as what we can do. The biggest issue is

          3  when are we going to do it, it is not just our

          4  apartment building, and we talked about intercom

          5  systems. Intercom systems by definition do not cover

          6  everybody, that is a public address system, we don't

          7  have those, and as the Fire Commissioner

          8  recommended, it is imperative that we have those

          9  installed in buildings promptly. Personally I don't

         10  feel that the Year 2002 is sufficient, but rather by

         11  the end of this year. It is a doable scenario. The

         12  cost incurred I think is negligible compared to the

         13  cost, the expenses of maintenance of buildings, to

         14  try to put them out and the loss of loved ones and

         15  property, et cetera.

         16                 Tax abatements, whatever there may

         17  be, I think can and should be done to put at the

         18  very minimum public address systems as a solution to

         19  retrofit the buildings.

         20                 In my scenario I didn't have an

         21  option to go out in the hallway, that was my

         22  instinct to do so, but there was too much smoke

         23  already so I went out on the balcony and that is

         24  what saved my life. Everybody else has already

         25  described how horrible it was to actually be there,
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          2  and if you have never been in a fire before, you see

          3  it on television, et cetera, it is nothing like it.

          4  You basically have to decide for yourself that this

          5  is where your life ends and all the things you

          6  wanted to do you are not going to get to do. I

          7  didn't have any trouble perhaps because I was 11

          8  flights above, but I didn't know that because as Mr.

          9  Rose said, we all thought the fire was next door.

         10  And 11 floors above, that is about 100 feet away, it

         11  shouldn't be a problem, but it is. The apartment was

         12  completely filled with smoke, I had no recourse

         13  anywhere and I am happy that I was in there, I put a

         14  wet towel in front of the door, went out on the

         15  balcony with a wet towel because the flames came

         16  from the outside as well.

         17                 Had my wife been in there, she stated

         18  unequivocally, I would have taken the dogs and tried

         19  to escape through the fire stairwells, as did my

         20  neighbors. That was the instruction, the only

         21  instructions we ever had, and they are posted by the

         22  elevator, we see them every day. Mayor Giuliani

         23  suggested we should have all stayed in our

         24  apartments and that was common knowledge. I beg to

         25  differ. Ignorance is expensive in this scenario, I
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          2  was ignorant, I just didn't have a choice, I was

          3  lucky therefore.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Bager. Is there anyone else who would care to

          7  testify sitting at the table?

          8                 Yes, identify yourself, sir.

          9                 MR. PALUMBO: My name is Tom Palumbo.

         10  We are on the 24th floor of the building 124 West

         11  60th Street.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I can't hear

         13  you.

         14                 MR. PALUMBO: I will start again. My

         15  name is Tom Palumbo, and we live on the 24th floor

         16  of 124 West 60th Street.

         17                 I have a short story. We were, that

         18  floor, the tenants of that floor were some of the

         19  lucky people who really had no choice because we

         20  walked out to see the smoke and we tried to get down

         21  the stairway and the stairway was too black with

         22  smoke and we had no choice but to go back to the

         23  apartment, which turned out to be the thing to do.

         24                 Also, we were far enough away from

         25  the fire so that we didn't get the smoke coming up
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          2  from those apartments. So, I thank God that we were

          3  able to take that action. A friend of mine called on

          4  the phone and said it was on TV so we watched TV so

          5  we knew what was going on, but it was frightening.

          6  The first thing that we thought about was, and we

          7  said to each other, my wife and I, we said are we

          8  going to die? And what we did was we shut the door,

          9  put tape along the edges of the door and put some

         10  towels in, so that was okay.

         11                 I do want to tell a brief story that

         12  will illustrate and sum up some of the things that

         13  were wrong in that building that have been

         14  continually talked about but very, very little

         15  action was taken.

         16                 No telephones of communication from

         17  elevators, and the elevators get stuck frequently.

         18  One of the things that happens when an elevator gets

         19  stuck are people ring the alarm bell and sometimes

         20  from my apartment I hear it so I walk out and knock

         21  on the door to reassure the people in the elevator

         22  that I was going to do something about it. That day

         23  I heard a faint alarm which sounded like the

         24  elevator and I thought I better go out and see who

         25  that is or if that is the case, and when I went out
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          2  I saw the smoke.

          3                 Anyway -- oh, and the intercom, of

          4  course, talking about them all the time, nothing was

          5  ever done. The fire alarm. The fire alarm, I think

          6  somebody just mentioned that we thought it was

          7  another false alarm. First of all, the fire alarm

          8  didn't sound that particular time, the day of the

          9  fire. We have had many, many, many fire alarms going

         10  off, it always turned out to be false alarms.

         11                 A week after the fire I was going

         12  down on the elevator and with a woman and her baby

         13  who she had just wrapped in a blanket and she said I

         14  don't know whether this is real or not but I have to

         15  get out of here. So we got down to the main floor

         16  and on the main floor she was so upset and excited

         17  that I decided to stay with her instead of going off

         18  to work.

         19                 Eventually we encountered the manager

         20  of the building, and she was the one that spoke

         21  mostly because I thought that she had more to say in

         22  her panic. I was okay, but she was not. And she

         23  asked them how are we to know that this is a real

         24  fire and not just another false alarm and he

         25  couldn't answer that question. Could not answer the
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          2  question. And I have asked the same question many

          3  times, how do we know that when the alarm goes off

          4  that this is a real fire.

          5                 Anyway, I just thought that would be

          6  a point to illustrate, of all the things that can go

          7  wrong, and I certainly appreciate the opportunity to

          8  be able to talk to you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Palumbo. Thank you, residents of that building.

         11                 Now we have also sitting at the table

         12  Ms. Drennan.

         13                 MS. DRENNAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Dina Drennan.

         15                 MS. DRENNAN: Yes, my name is Dina

         16  Drennan. I was married to a fire captain for 27

         17  years and some of you in this room might remember

         18  that four years ago there was a loss of three

         19  firefighters in a fire that happened down by the

         20  Holland Tunnel in Greenwich Village, two young

         21  firefighters died, one right away, and one the next

         22  morning, and my husband lived for 40 days. It was

         23  during that 40 days that my life changed, when I had

         24  my first brush with fire.

         25                 It happened at the New York Burn Unit
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          2  at Cornell, 40 days in a Burn Unit, I challenge

          3  anybody who says we cannot afford a sprinkler system

          4  to make a visit to the Burn Unit at New York

          5  Hospital.

          6                 We lost, a year after my husband died

          7  we lost 173 of our citizens, many of them are poor,

          8  many of them are not comfortable speaking to this

          9  Council, many are immigrants and many of them have

         10  bad habits with alcohol and tobacco. We know the

         11  scenario, 173 New Yorkers. It was the year of the

         12  Oklahoma City bombing, more people died right here

         13  in our City than at the Oklahoma City bombing in

         14  dribs and drabs, and you didn't see Brian Gumble,

         15  and you didn't see Katie Corak, and we didn't see

         16  any coverage of the 173 New Yorkers that died.

         17                 I studied those statistics that year.

         18  There was a grandma and a grandpa lighting their

         19  Hanukkah candles, over and over it was us, we say it

         20  was children playing with matches? We have troubled

         21  children in this City, you all know that, you

         22  represent the districts. We have three fire marshals

         23  in a city with 1 million children in public schools,

         24  the most troubled children you would find anywhere,

         25  three address the needs of juvenile fire setters,
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          2  children raged with fire when they are angry about

          3  what is going on in their personal lives.

          4                 For every loss of life however that

          5  year, you multiply it by four. Close to 700 people

          6  were so badly burned that year and every year that

          7  they required extensive hospitalization. And if I

          8  could take you right now up to Cornell Burn Unit,

          9  you would see the children that were burned that

         10  year coming in their facemasks with their twisted

         11  bodies, with their melted skin and you would develop

         12  the will to tell the powerful groups in this City

         13  that they cannot afford to do what is right.

         14                 I sit on the board of a national

         15  fallen firefighter committee, my job is to deal with

         16  some of the families in a limited way. Because what

         17  bandaid is big enough to take care of these poor

         18  people? We lose more firefighters in America than

         19  any other industrialized country. The reason is

         20  carelessness. The reason is lack of budgets, lack of

         21  determination to stand up to powerful interest

         22  groups that block this legislation. 104 firefighters

         23  died the year along with my husband from all over

         24  the country. We can change this. We can change this.

         25                 I would like to tell you the story of
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          2  a businessman that did the right thing. His name is

          3  Zachariah -- was Zacharia Allen. Zacharia Allen

          4  owned cotton mills up in New England, a very rich

          5  man. A man in 1835 that knew what a bottom line was,

          6  a man that wanted to make a profit and probably

          7  loved the results of what his good businesses

          8  brought home. What Zachariah Allen also realized,

          9  that the factory at that time had many, many fires.

         10  Immigrant labor was cheap in those days, even

         11  cheaper than the lives of City people in New York

         12  City that have to go through what these people did,

         13  but Zachariah Allen decided to use some of his

         14  resources and it is why we have building codes

         15  today. The reason we have building codes is because

         16  in 1835, almost 170 years ago, Zachariah developed a

         17  building code plan, and he built his mills to be

         18  safer. He cared about those immigrants even when no

         19  one else cared about them. And he did another thing.

         20  He put big water towers on the tops, big, big water

         21  towers on the tops of his mills and he concocted a

         22  faucet. It was the very first sprinkler system, and

         23  it was built in 1835. Almost 170 years have gone by

         24  since then. How sad it is that we have not learned

         25  from the past mistakes.
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          2                 One of the things I always felt safe

          3  in my home, one of the things I realized was the

          4  year my husband died that 40 people in the country

          5  died in hotels, motels, dormitories, boarding houses

          6  -- do you know how many bad habits are in boarding

          7  houses? Forty people died though, in the whole

          8  country of the United States of America, 3,425

          9  Americans died at home. You are not safe at home.

         10  Today is a beginning, and I hope so much that you

         11  have the courage to stand up to forces that have

         12  blocked sprinklers in our City for so long. I hope

         13  today is only a first step. There are about 777

         14  names on plaques in headquarters if you are a line

         15  of duty firefighter that died saving the people in

         16  this City. You don't ask them what to do. They are

         17  willing to risk their lives for you and they will

         18  say we don't need sprinklers, we might slip. You do

         19  not listen to them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         21                 MS. DRENNAN: Because they love so

         22  much what they are doing. Let us provide the money

         23  to take care of what needs to be done to ensure

         24  their safety. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.
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          2  Drennan.

          3                 Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you

          5  very much for sharing your real pain with us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, now we

          7  will hear from former Congressmembers, former

          8  District Attorneys, former Comptroller, representing

          9  the view of many of us on this impeachment effort,

         10  the honorable Elizabeth Holtzman.

         11                 Ms. Holtzman, if you would identify

         12  yourself, we would be happy to hear your position on

         13  this issue.

         14                 MS. HOLTZMAN: Mr. Chairman and

         15  members of the Committee, my name is Elizabeth

         16  Holtzman, Counsel to the law firm Herrick Feinstein,

         17  and to my right is Paul Mendez, the Chief Executive

         18  Officer and Chair of the Board of Firecom, the

         19  City's largest fire alarm company. I want to begin

         20  by thanking Deputy Speaker Archie Spigner, the

         21  distinguished chair of this Committee on Housing and

         22  Buildings, and the members of this Committee for

         23  giving me the opportunity to testify today on the

         24  critical issue of improving fire safety conditions

         25  for New Yorkers in residential housing. I also want
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          2  to commend the chair and all of the members of the

          3  Committee for holding this hearing on how to protect

          4  New Yorkers more effectively from the dangers of

          5  fire. All of us are indebted to Council Member

          6  Walter McCaffrey for his leadership in introducing

          7  Intro. 198 and to the other co-sponsors of this

          8  legislation.

          9                 While Intro. 198 focuses on the issue

         10  of sprinkler systems, I am here today to suggest

         11  that there is another key component of fire safety

         12  in residential buildings, fire alarm systems.

         13                 As this Committee and the City

         14  Administration explore the best possible approaches

         15  for approving fire safety protection for New Yorkers

         16  in residential buildings, I hope you give full

         17  consideration to the utilization of fire alarm

         18  systems. Fire alarms provide an immediate and

         19  automatic way of alerting the Fire Department to the

         20  existence of a fire, computerized systems can

         21  provide immediate voice instructions to residents.

         22  Fire alarms are also back up to sprinkler systems,

         23  they can detect when a system has been turned off.

         24  Bear in mind that fire alarm systems are required in

         25  office buildings over 100 feet in height and in many
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          2  hotels.

          3                 There is no good reason that New

          4  Yorkers should not be as safe in their homes as they

          5  are when they go to work. There is no good reason

          6  for tourists to visit New York City, to have the

          7  benefit of stronger fire protection measures than

          8  people who live in this great City.

          9                 To provide this Committee with more

         10  in-depth information on this matter, I would like to

         11  introduce Paul Mendez, the Chairman of the Board of

         12  Firecom, Inc., the largest fire alarm company in New

         13  York City. Please be assured that both he and I

         14  stand ready to provide any additional information on

         15  the subject of fire alarms the Committee might need.

         16  We want to be as helpful as possible to you on this

         17  important matter.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.

         19  Holtzman. I recognize you are put in a very

         20  difficult position following the emotional testimony

         21  that preceded you.

         22                 Mr. Mendez.

         23                 MR. MENDEZ: Yes, my name is Paul

         24  Mendez, and that was very emotional testimony.

         25                 I am Chairman of the Board of
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          2  Firecom, the largest fire alarm company in New York

          3  City. My company and I are deeply committed to

          4  improving life safety in New York City.

          5                 In your hearing on the subject of

          6  sprinkler systems, I would like to help you

          7  understand how fire alarm systems can not only

          8  improve the effectiveness of sprinkler systems, but

          9  provide substantially increased safety for New

         10  Yorkers from fires in residential buildings, because

         11  as we all know, smoke kills.

         12                 At the present time hotels in New

         13  York and all office buildings over 100 feet in

         14  height must be equipped with an integrated smoke

         15  detection and voice evacuation system. There is no

         16  good reason for giving people who visit the City or

         17  those who work in office buildings greater

         18  protection than New Yorkers in their homes.

         19                 I would suggest that the City impose

         20  the same requirements for fire alarm installations

         21  in apartment buildings as in hotels and office

         22  buildings.

         23                 Fire alarms provide critical safety

         24  benefits. First, in the event of a fire smoke is

         25  immediately detected causing the fire systems to
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          2  notify simultaneously the Fire Department and the

          3  residents. There is no longer a need to be dependent

          4  on a phone call by an individual to 9-1-1.

          5                 Second, fire alarms are a crucial

          6  supplement to the sprinkler systems. They can detect

          7  when a sprinkler system has been turned off and

          8  alert both central stations and the building

          9  manager. Thus, a fire alarm system might have

         10  avoided the deaths of the three firefighters on

         11  December 18th who were killed in the City managed

         12  Brooklyn apartment house in which sprinklers had

         13  been turned off.

         14                 Third, fire alarm systems provide

         15  vital communications to residents during a fire. The

         16  fire alarm systems can be programmed to provide

         17  voice instructions to the building occupants during

         18  the most critical moments directing them to remain

         19  in their apartments, close the fire doors to avoid

         20  the elevators and the like.

         21                 Some have proposed that in existing

         22  residential buildings a simple communication system

         23  be installed to be used by the Fire Department to

         24  communicate with residents in the event of a fire.

         25                 Although this is better than the
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          2  present system, it is not as effective as the

          3  integrated fire alarm system.

          4                 For example, instructions for

          5  residents must await the arrival of the Fire

          6  Department, whereas a computerized fire alarm system

          7  gives immediate instruction to residents in the

          8  crucial minutes before the firefighters arrive.

          9                 The tragic loss of life during the

         10  two recent fires should prompt the City to review

         11  and strengthen its existing fire codes, requiring

         12  installation of fire alarm systems would be one

         13  excellent way to reduce the threat of fires and save

         14  lives of firefighters and New Yorkers.

         15                 I stand ready to be of whatever

         16  assistance I can to you in addressing this subject.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Mendez, and Ms. Holtzman, for your contribution to

         19  today's deliberations. And we would appreciate your

         20  testimony if you would leave it with us and we will

         21  consult with you as we proceed in this --

         22                 MS. HOLTZMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 If I might just add one thing. The

         25  testimony that I heard was possibly the most moving
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          2  testimony I have ever heard in these chambers, and I

          3  know that members of this Committee will not turn,

          4  nobody who heard it could turn a deaf ear to what

          5  they said.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are right.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 MS. HOLTZMAN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now we have a

         10  panel of experts from the sprinkling industry, I

         11  believe.

         12                 Mr. Ray Alfred, Michael D. Cato,

         13  Rocco Gabrielle, Russell Flemming and John A.

         14  Viniello. Gentlemen, please have a seat. Identify

         15  yourselves. We are delighted to hear your views on

         16  today's topic.

         17                 MR. ALFRED: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18  My name is Ray Alfred, I am currently the Fire Chief

         19  of Jacksonville Fire and Rescue Department in

         20  Jacksonville, Florida, and so I bring you greetings

         21  from Jacksonville.

         22                 I have been in the Jacksonville Fire

         23  Department for about three years and prior to that I

         24  was with the Washington, D.C. Fire Department for 30

         25  years, from 1988 to 1993 I served as that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            125

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Department's chief. I was also a member of the

          3  National Fire Protection Association and the

          4  International Association of Fire Chief Board of

          5  Directors.

          6                 I appreciate this opportunity to come

          7  before you to give testimony not only in support of

          8  the proposed legislation but to lend support and to

          9  encourage this body to strengthen the proposed

         10  legislation, by including the requirement that

         11  sprinklers be done throughout, and I repeat,

         12  throughout new construction.

         13                 In addition, and perhaps most

         14  importantly --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is new

         16  construction you are talking about?

         17                 MR. ALFRED: That's right.

         18                 In addition, I come -- more

         19  importantly, I come in support of the brave men and

         20  women of this great Fire Department who every day

         21  risk their lives while protecting the lives and

         22  properties of others, particularly the residents,

         23  visitors and workers of this great city.

         24                 Let me commend this Council, Mr.

         25  Chairman, and yourself, for your visionary
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          2  leadership in undertaking this legislation. And Mr.

          3  Chairman, I believe it is visionary, because a lot

          4  of legislators shy away from this kind of

          5  legislation. It is unpopular by some segments of the

          6  community. But I assure you that it is necessary and

          7  it is the right thing to do. So, again, I applaud

          8  your leadership and this Committee.

          9                 Some might wonder what I am doing

         10  here, I am from Jacksonville, Florida, why would I

         11  come to testify? Well, one, because I believe in

         12  automatic sprinkler systems. I think it is in fact

         13  the tool that give us, the firefighters, within the

         14  fire service, a hand up in handling our job in

         15  protecting lives and property.

         16                 The other is that, and it has already

         17  been alluded to, on December the 18th, this City

         18  lost three of its finest firefighters who responded

         19  to the call of duty. I can assure you and every

         20  member of this Committee that the loss was felt in

         21  fire service organizations throughout the country.

         22  Every day throughout this country, those of us in

         23  the fire service cry out as best we know how to you,

         24  our public officials, our appointed officials,

         25  please help us to protect lives and property. We do
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          2  this day in and day out without hesitation, without

          3  becoming discouraged, and sometimes despite

          4  insurmountable odds, we continue to appeal to you,

          5  our elected officials, to make the tough decisions

          6  and support us in our quest to save lives and

          7  property.

          8                 Mr. Chairman, and members of this

          9  Committee, I will use this time to talk about what I

         10  consider and what has been known as acceptable fire

         11  protection standards, standards such as those which

         12  require sprinklers in all new construction, and for

         13  the protection of occupants and firefighters.

         14                 However, this community, and this

         15  community alone, must ultimately decide on what are

         16  acceptable fire protection standards, and when you

         17  do, I am certain that you already recognize that a

         18  few within the community will react in opposition

         19  without realizing the long-term impact will be

         20  actual saving of lives and property.

         21                 I can spend this time discussing the

         22  economic benefits of how good automatic sprinkler

         23  systems are, but there are other experts here at the

         24  table who are going to articulate that information

         25  and can best do that.
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          2                 I can tell you the story of the

          3  February 23rd, 1991 fire in the 38 story One

          4  Meridian Plaza office complex in Philadelphia, which

          5  burned upward through three non-sprinkler floors and

          6  when it reached the 30th floor, which was equipped

          7  with automatic sprinklers throughout, nine sprinkler

          8  heads, nine, completely extinguished the fire. But I

          9  will not, because you probably have already heard

         10  about that story. What I will say to you today is

         11  that through testing and experience it has been

         12  proven that the first five to ten minutes of a fire

         13  are of great concern to us in the fire service if an

         14  extinguishing effort is initiated before the fire

         15  reaches what we call flash-over point, control of

         16  the fire is effected quickly and lives are saved and

         17  property damage is lessened.

         18                 I am testifying that a working

         19  automatic sprinkler system, along with smoke

         20  detectors, throughout a building, throughout a

         21  building, not only provide early warning to the

         22  occupants, but can also contain and extinguish a

         23  fire.

         24                 In Jacksonville all new construction

         25  more than two stories in height and existing
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          2  buildings which are substantially renovated must be

          3  sprinklers throughout.

          4                 When I left Washington in 1993 the

          5  requirement was that all new construction over three

          6  stories in height must be sprinklers. It is my

          7  understanding that perhaps in my reading

          8  consideration is being given to -- currently, to a

          9  90-story building where sprinklers will only be done

         10  in common areas and not in the individual units, as

         11  a fire professional I think this is inconceivable. I

         12  can't imagine a 90-story complex that is not

         13  sprinklered throughout, and yet, in the event of a

         14  fire in the upper floors, as you had heard my

         15  testimony earlier, in the event of a fire,

         16  firefighters are going to be expected to risk their

         17  lives, and they will, to rescue the residents and

         18  the occupants of the building.

         19                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

         20  Committee, my testimony is that this Fire Department

         21  in New York City needs your help and your support.

         22  They need you to help protect them, and so you can

         23  and so they can provide protection of life and

         24  property within this City, I ask that you provide

         25  them that additional tool, and for us automatic
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          2  sprinklers are exactly that, an additional tool to

          3  help us perform our jobs even better and more

          4  efficiently. Please pass legislation which requires

          5  sprinklers throughout, throughout the building.

          6                 This concludes my testimony and I

          7  will be happy to respond to any questions you might

          8  have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Chief, we would

         10  like to have a copy of your testimony, and we thank

         11  you for taking time to visit with us and share your

         12  expert views.

         13                 I have had the pleasure of visiting

         14  your town on a number of occasions and it was a very

         15  delightful experience.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Mr.

         17  Chairman, may I ask a question?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You may ask all

         19  the questions you care to.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Chief, the

         21  legislation that you are supporting, that you are

         22  encouraging us to support is for new construction,

         23  but we have millions of buildings, thousands of

         24  buildings in our City that already exist that are

         25  without protection, can you make some suggestions
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          2  for those buildings?

          3                 MR. ALFRED: I think those existing

          4  buildings, and all of us in the fire service, in

          5  every community I know where there is a major urban

          6  center, our buildings are old and there are in fact

          7  significant numbers of existing structures, it is

          8  always a tough question, we have to start some

          9  place, we start, my suggestion is what you are doing

         10  here now, with new construction throughout.

         11                 The existing structures, we talked

         12  about retrofitting, I don't think that we can ignore

         13  that, but I think it is going to take a combination

         14  of groups of discussion, it is going to take public

         15  and private sector, it is going to take the business

         16  community, it is going to take the financial

         17  community to get together, it is going to take the

         18  insurance industry to get together and find out and

         19  try and determine how do you go about financing the

         20  retrofitting of its existing structures.

         21                 I think it was testified earlier that

         22  you have got buildings I am sure within the City

         23  that are owned by individuals and perhaps it is very

         24  difficult financially, but there are ways to help

         25  them finance retrofitting of those buildings. It is
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          2  going to have to be done sooner or later.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Do you know

          4  of any state or city in our country where government

          5  does assist with that, or can give some incentives

          6  for landlords to do this?

          7                 MR. ALFRED: I don't know of any. I

          8  can't name any, however, I know that discussions are

          9  taking place. In some cities, for instance, the

         10  insurance industries will afford a reduction in

         11  premium. There are other things that can happen, but

         12  I can't name them and I will be glad to get back to

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council member,

         15  you weren't in the room when the HPD Commissioner

         16  did make reference to the J-51 benefits that are

         17  available for retrofitting purposes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Even if a

         19  building is not under J-51?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It is available.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: For all

         22  buildings. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, next?

         24                 MR. GABRIELLE: Good afternoon, Mr.

         25  Chairman and members of the Committee. My name is
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          2  Rocco Gabrielle, I am the State Fire Marshall of the

          3  State of Maryland.

          4                 I have been in the fire business for

          5  about 50 years, as the Chief of my volunteer fire

          6  company and served as the top administrative officer

          7  there. I am a retired Maryland state policeman, I

          8  served 24 years, and during the 24 years I was

          9  responsible for investigating fires. I closed out my

         10  career as the Director of the Maryland State Police

         11  Crime Laboratory with the rank of captain. I have

         12  been in the position of the State Fire Marshal of

         13  Maryland since 1982, which is about 16 going on 17

         14  years. I am a past president of the Fire Marshals

         15  Association of America, and I am presently the

         16  president of the National Association of State Fire

         17  Marshals.

         18                 First of all, let me say to the

         19  Committee that I appreciate the opportunity to be

         20  here, and I concur with everything Chief Alfred

         21  said. He had said many, many points that are very

         22  important to understand.

         23                 In looking at what happened in

         24  Maryland, I am going to give you two anecdotes about

         25  two different buildings.
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          2                 Back in about the early seventies,

          3  '71, '72, we had a highrise fire in what was a

          4  building that was 35 stories high, the fire occurred

          5  on the 12th floor. Extensive damage on the floor of

          6  origin, above the floor, below the floor. A

          7  firefighter died in that fire, fighting that fire.

          8  The building was not sprinklered, it wasn't required

          9  to be sprinklered by law.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Was it a

         11  residential or a commercial building?

         12                 MR. GABRIELLE: It was a commercial

         13  building.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: In New York our

         15  commercial buildings are sprinklered.

         16                 MR. GABRIELLE: Let me now fastforward

         17  23 years later. Two years ago we had a fire in the

         18  World Trade Center in Maryland, in downtown

         19  Baltimore City. The fire occurred on the 21st floor,

         20  in the electrical cabinet. It blew out a fuse,

         21  started a fire. The fire was put out immediately by

         22  the sprinkler head that was located in the closets.

         23  So what has happened between the first fire and the

         24  second fire? Well, the Maryland Legislature decided

         25  to pass the bill that required sprinkler systems in
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          2  all buildings that are occupied, residential,

          3  commercial or whatever, they must be sprinklered,

          4  and I am not going to bore you with the law, you

          5  have a copy of it in the handout you are going to

          6  get --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We certainly

          8  appreciate the foresight of your delegation in

          9  preparing this information for us.

         10                 MR. GABRIELLE: Let me just make a

         11  couple of more points, in Maryland we identify a

         12  highrise building as any building of human occupancy

         13  which is four stories above grade level for over 45

         14  feet in height, and again I say you can look at the

         15  rest of the law and look at that. We believe in

         16  Maryland, as the State Fire Marshal, that is a fair

         17  and equitable law.

         18                 In 1990, then Governor William Donald

         19  Schaffer signed a very comprehensive sprinkler bill

         20  so that as of today in all new construction, the

         21  only construction that is not required to be

         22  sprinklered are one and two-family dwellings.

         23  Everything built in Maryland must be sprinklered.

         24  Obviously it is my belief that the law prevented the

         25  escalation of fires in new building construction,
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          2  particularly after July 1, '74 and then after '90.

          3  Ideally, while this issue is on the table here, and

          4  the Councilman brought it up, there ought to be some

          5  considerations to retrofit programs.

          6                 Now, as Chief Alfred said, there are

          7  several models out there that allow the owner,

          8  depending on which you look at, to be eight years,

          9  nine years, ten years, 12 years to retrofit these

         10  buildings. My belief is that if you get this foot in

         11  the door and you get this law passed, you have

         12  certainly done something for those people in the

         13  future, but I also believe you ought to give some

         14  consideration to those people in the older

         15  facilities.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, members of the Council,

         17  thank you very much for the opportunity to be here.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we thank

         19  you, Mr. Gabrielle.

         20                 Anyone else prepared to testify this

         21  morning?

         22                 Yes, identify yourself, sir.

         23                 MR. CATO: Yes, Michael Cato, I am

         24  with the City of Delray Beach, Florida Fire

         25  Department and I --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What town?

          3                 MR. CATO: Delray Beach, Florida. I

          4  also chair the Florida Fire Marshals Legislative

          5  Committee and we are very actively involved in Fire

          6  Code legislation within the State of Florida.

          7                 To answer one question you had

          8  earlier about monies available, the state has

          9  offered money for assisted living facilities to

         10  retrofit sprinklers in Florida, that is something

         11  that is going on right now.

         12                 The City of Miami Beach is also

         13  looking into ways of providing zero interest

         14  financing for retrofitting many highrise buildings

         15  in Miami Beach.

         16                 I am not going to repeat a lot of the

         17  things that the other fire officials have said about

         18  sprinklers, but I think you all clearly understand

         19  that sprinklers can only control fires if they are

         20  aware the fires occur. We have to have the

         21  sprinklers throughout the building, if the fire

         22  occurs where the sprinklers are not, then obviously

         23  the sprinklers can't control the fire.

         24                 It was mentioned also about the

         25  enormous amount of smoke that the victims went
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          2  through in the fire that was testified just previous

          3  to us. Sprinklers also control the amount of smoke,

          4  a small fire produces a small amount of smoke, we

          5  all know that.

          6                 I want to deal with the retrofit

          7  issue because I think you all have already been

          8  convinced that you need to deal with new

          9  construction.

         10                 In Florida we do have retrofit

         11  requirements in many areas. Recently the State

         12  legislators passed legislation that required

         13  retrofit of highrise buildings within 12 years. That

         14  legislation goes into effect 2001, which would mean

         15  that Florida will have to have all highrise

         16  buildings sprinklered by 2013, so that is underway.

         17                 In Highland Beach, which is one of

         18  the communities that my Department protects, it is a

         19  predominantly highrise coastal community along the

         20  Atlantic Ocean, they have gone through a retrofit

         21  over the past 10 years, actually within a five-year

         22  period, all of the 15 buildings that weren't

         23  sprinklered that were highrise had been retrofitted

         24  and they have all gone through it very successfully

         25  with minimal disruption to the building occupants.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you have

          3  testimony in your package relating to that

          4  experience?

          5                 MR. CATO: Yes.

          6                 Unless you have any other questions,

          7  that is really all I have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Cato,

          9  Council Member McCaffrey has a question for you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I know you

         11  have travel arrangements and I appreciate it. Let me

         12  just ask you very quickly, I am familiar with USF&G

         13  building in Baltimore and its location, a short

         14  distance down next to the Harbor Court Hotel, the

         15  residential tower next to the Harbor Court, you are

         16  familiar with the building I am sure. Is that

         17  building then now, as we understand, entirely fire

         18  sprinklered?

         19                 MR. GABRIELLE: If it was built after

         20  1974, yes, and I believe it was.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Now, my

         22  question is, when the State of Maryland enacted

         23  this, did it take the position of extending benefits

         24  to owners and developers to defray the costs in

         25  terms of sprinkler systems?
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          2                 MR. GABRIELLE: What happens when you

          3  install the sprinkler systems is we get into the

          4  issue of trade-offs. The trade-offs reduce the

          5  amount of cost for construction and almost pay for

          6  in most cases the installation of the sprinkler

          7  systems. It allows you to reduce a three-hour wall

          8  to a two-hour wall and a lot of other things that

          9  you can do.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And in

         11  terms of the experience and before and after the

         12  changes that took place in terms of fires, now

         13  granted, Baltimore may not have as many highrise

         14  buildings that would fit into the category perhaps

         15  that we are looking at here, but was that also the

         16  experience of the difference in the change in terms

         17  of requiring sprinklers in terms of the level of

         18  effectiveness?

         19                 MR. GABRIELLE: Right. And by the way,

         20  you had more highrises in a square block than I

         21  think we had in all of Maryland.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         23                 MR. GABRIELLE: Which even speaks to

         24  the issue you were talking about today.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And
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          2  subsequently, was the USF&G building required to

          3  deal with sprinklers after the fire?

          4                 MR. GABRIELLE: Yes, they were. The

          5  city Fire Department, Fire Prevention Bureau worked

          6  with them and they were able to retrofit.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So now, is

          8  it your experience that in terms of the requirement

          9  for sprinklers, that that is not discouraged

         10  development in Maryland?

         11                 MR. GABRIELLE: No. There was

         12  opposition, don't misunderstand me, but we overcome

         13  the opposition and I think they have seen the light

         14  now and they see the importance of the sprinkler

         15  system.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you

         17  very much. I just wanted to grab you before you left

         18  on it. Thank you. I ask the rest of the panel for

         19  your indulgence just for taking that out of order.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just want

         21  to ask you, what buildings are required to have

         22  sprinklers in Maryland?

         23                 MR. GABRIELLE: All buildings.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Even the

         25  small, lowrise buildings?
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          2                 MR. GABRIELLE: There is a whole

          3  litany of them, dormitories, townhouses. The only

          4  thing that we do not sprinkler in a new building are

          5  the one and two-family dwellings.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: This is all

          7  new buildings, not retrofittting old buildings?

          8                 MR. GABRIELLE: No, no retrofit.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

         12                 MR. FLEMING: Yes, Mr. Chairman and

         13  the Council, my name is Russell P. Fleming. I am the

         14  Vice President of Engineering for the National Fire

         15  Sprinkler Association. My career in fire protection

         16  engineering has spanned more than 20 years and has

         17  focused on fire sprinkler protection.

         18                 I am a fellow of the Society --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

         20  gentlemen, for coming. I appreciate you being here.

         21                 MR. FLEMING: I am the past President

         22  of the New York Metropolitan Chapter of the Society

         23  Fire Protection Engineers, a past and present member

         24  of 18 national fire protection associations

         25  technical committees, and I serve as Chief Delegate
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          2  for the U.S. in international standards activities

          3  related to automatic sprinkler and water spray

          4  systems.

          5                 In the 1970s New York City was the

          6  leader in demanding better fire protection including

          7  sprinklers in highrise office buildings.

          8                 In the 1980s New York City was a

          9  leader in requiring sprinkler protection for hotels,

         10  but the city now lags behind most of the country in

         11  sprinkler requirements for highrise residential

         12  apartments. At a time when the City of Boston is

         13  completing a program of retrofitting existing

         14  highrise departments with sprinkler protection, New

         15  York has not even yet enacted sprinkler requirements

         16  for new highrise apartments.

         17                 The idea that an 80 or 90-story

         18  residential tower could be constructed today in New

         19  York City without sprinkler protection is

         20  indefensible given today's knowledge of the benefits

         21  of fire sprinkler protection.

         22                 Indeed no major hotel chain would

         23  even consider a major highrise project today without

         24  sprinkler protection. The liability alone is

         25  prohibitive, given that sprinklers represent the
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          2  accepted state-of-the-art in fire protection

          3  engineering, how has New York City gotten out of

          4  step?

          5                 Well, over the past 20 years the

          6  building regulatory committee in the United States

          7  -- community rather, in the United States, has come

          8  to realize there is no substitute for complete fire

          9  sprinkler protection, and that there is a special

         10  need for such protection in highrise buildings.

         11                 At one time sprinklers were commonly

         12  considered as an alternative to compartmentation

         13  strategies for highrise protection, and residential

         14  buildings do lend themselves to compartmentation,

         15  but highrise office fires, such as One Meridian

         16  Plaza, and highrise residential fires, such as the

         17  MGM Grand in Las Vegas, have continually

         18  demonstrated that compartmentation is not equivalent

         19  to sprinkler protection.

         20                 Neither compartmentation --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can you

         22  explain what that is, compartmentation?

         23                 MR. FLEMING: Compartmentation

         24  strategies are what you have heard of described as

         25  "fireproof construction". Fire protection engineers
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          2  don't use the term fireproof construction, they

          3  don't believe there is any such thing. You will hear

          4  them refer to fire resistive (sic) construction,

          5  because you can help the building itself not burn,

          6  but we surround ourselves with combustibles and the

          7  fire still takes place.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So

          9  compartmentation meaning fireproofed, doesn't

         10  require sprinklers?

         11                 MR. FLEMING: That is exactly right,

         12  it was considered an alternative.

         13                 But neither compartmentation,

         14  so-called fireproof construction, nor even voice

         15  command systems, get to the heart of the problem

         16  which is helping to suppress the fire. Because a

         17  non-suppressed fire burns and develops smoke and

         18  toxic product which spreads throughout the building.

         19                 In the MGM Grand --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Which we know

         21  actually is the killer, it is the smoke, not the

         22  fire.

         23                 MR. FLEMING: Smoke from an

         24  unsuppressed fire.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.
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          2                 MR. FLEMING: Now, in the MGM Grand

          3  fire, it is important that this Council realize that

          4  at least 29 of the victims were found dead in their

          5  hotel rooms. Twenty-nine victims stayed in their

          6  rooms and died in the MGM Grand fire. Both of the --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

          8  words, you couldn't open those windows?

          9                 MR. FLEMING: That may be true, but

         10  the point is that you are not protected by staying

         11  in your room.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

         13  that, but one of the problems with that particular

         14  fire, as I understood it, the windows were not open,

         15  they were trying to open the windows or break

         16  through them and they couldn't.

         17                 MR. FLEMING: That can be the case.

         18                 But both of the residents as far as

         19  here in New York have also demonstrated that the

         20  compartmentation intended by fire doors, stairwell

         21  doors, room doors, can be easily compromised.

         22                 In our view, and Council Member

         23  Warden mentioned this, and I wanted to respond to

         24  it, the full recognition of automatic sprinkler

         25  protection actually came last year when the US
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          2  Consumer Product Safety Commission filed the

          3  administrative complaint seeking recall and

          4  replacement of a particular model of sprinkler on

          5  the basis that it could not be reliably depended

          6  upon to activate in a fire situation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Which

          8  sprinkler was that?

          9                 MR. FLEMING: This was the Omega

         10  sprinkler you heard about earlier by Council Member

         11  Warden.

         12                 But this action not only confirmed

         13  the role of fire sprinklers as the critical fire

         14  safety element, but also established the standard of

         15  performance to which no other fire safety device has

         16  ever been held.

         17                 The federal government has

         18  effectively given notice that it will continue to

         19  demand the same high reliability that has been

         20  established by sprinkler protection over the past

         21  century.

         22                 Sprinklers are needed for all

         23  highrise buildings and the City Council should be

         24  commended for addressing this need. Unfortunately,

         25  as you may have already recognized, the bill
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          2  currently before the City Council, Intro. 198, does

          3  not accomplish what it intends. A quick reading

          4  would suggest that it intends to amend the New York

          5  City code to require the installation of sprinklers

          6  throughout new J-2 apartment occupancies and within

          7  the stairs and public halls of existing of J-1 and

          8  J-2 occupancies three stories or more in height, but

          9  there are several problems with the wording as it

         10  presently exists.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Well, I

         12  mean the bill is dead, so move on.

         13                 MR. FLEMING: Can I address three

         14  issues that should be considered in a new bill?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes,

         16  please.

         17                 MR. FLEMING: One is that if

         18  sprinklers are required in J-2 apartments, they

         19  should not be made as an exception to a ventilation

         20  clause, but it should clearly be written as a

         21  requirement for buildings classified in occupancy

         22  group J-2.

         23                 Secondly, any proposed deadline for

         24  installation of sprinklers in stairs and halls, if

         25  this is still a consideration, should be extended
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          2  with a more realistic compliant schedule,

          3  staggering, if possible, based on the height of the

          4  building, which might be more practical.

          5                 Thirdly, the installation of

          6  sprinklers in stairs and halls, or halls, if it is

          7  accomplished on a retrofit basis, should be

          8  considered only as the first phase of eventually

          9  providing complete sprinkler protection for these

         10  buildings.

         11                 By sizing the piping and by providing

         12  plug T's for later connections to systems within the

         13  apartments, the cost of eventually providing

         14  complete protection is thereby reduced.

         15                 But the requirements for sprinkler

         16  system installation aren't enough. The fire at 17

         17  Vendelia also pointed out other weaknesses in New

         18  York City's requirements for properly maintaining

         19  systems.

         20                 Although the present concept of the

         21  certificate of fitness is a good one, building

         22  employees are generally no substitute for a licensed

         23  fire sprinkler contractor. They may not possess

         24  sufficient appreciation to the life safety role of

         25  the sprinkler system, or they may be under
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          2  tremendous pressure from their employers to certify

          3  an improperly maintained system.

          4                 The law should be amended to require

          5  a system inspection by an outside licensed sprinkler

          6  contractor on at least an annual basis.

          7                 The requirement should also state

          8  that the systems are to be inspected, tested and

          9  maintained in accordance with NFDA standard 25,

         10  which is now available as a national consensus

         11  standard for system maintenance.

         12                 The Vendelia fire also brought to

         13  light problems in the New York City Code related to

         14  substandard sprinkler systems. Shortly after the

         15  fire, our organization issued a news release

         16  pointing out the differences between sprinklers in

         17  that building and the real sprinkler system.

         18                 The New York City Code currently

         19  allows bits and pieces of sprinkler protection to be

         20  taken from the domestic water system provided there

         21  are not more than 20 sprinklers in each fire section

         22  and not more than ten from any single plumbing

         23  riser. The sprinklers in the building at 17

         24  Vendelia, aside from the basement sprinkler systems,

         25  were connected to the plumbing systems in multiple
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          2  risers covering 30 separate fire sections inviting

          3  problems with unidentified and unsupervised valves.

          4                 Normally the New York City Code would

          5  require a sprinkler system alarm and a Fire

          6  Department connection for any sprinkler system with

          7  more than 36 printers in a fire section. The alarm

          8  indicates flow in the system and the Fire Department

          9  connection permits a Fire Department to support the

         10  sprinklers with their pumpers.

         11                 At 17 Vendelia however, the use of

         12  those multiple separate sections resulted in more

         13  than 200 sprinklers taken off the plumbing system

         14  not served by a Fire Department connection and not

         15  provided with system alarms. Without system alarms

         16  there were no periodic alarm tests which could have

         17  foretold a closed valve problem.

         18                 When the Fire Department tried to

         19  pump into the Fire Department connection, they were

         20  pumping only into the basement sprinkler system

         21  which was not involved in the fire.

         22                 The references to sprinklers taken

         23  from the plumbing system should be deleted or

         24  substantially revised to match similar provisions

         25  with a model building code, which are generally
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          2  applicable to systems with 20 or fewer total

          3  sprinklers.

          4                 This will permit sprinkler systems

          5  installed in New York City to be configured in a

          6  manner that permits them to be reliably maintained

          7  and tested and properly supported by the Fire

          8  Department in fire situations.

          9                 Finally, a requirement for sprinkler

         10  systems in highrise buildings should be accompanied

         11  by a requirement that all system control valves be

         12  provided with central station supervision to ensure

         13  that they are maintained in the open position and

         14  are therefore able to do their job to save lives and

         15  property.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: On your last

         17  point, central station supervision, you are talking

         18  about the central station in the building? Or who

         19  would be --

         20                 MR. FLEMING: Yes, Mr. Michels, this

         21  is exactly what you were talking about earlier when

         22  you asked the question of is there a way for the

         23  Fire Department --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So the Fire

         25  Department is connected with it, and knowledgeable
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          2  as to where these valves are.

          3                 MR. FLEMING: Not only knowledgeable

          4  where they are, but through central station

          5  supervision the open position of valves and water

          6  flow potential in the system is monitored by a

          7  private organization, and if there is water flow in

          8  the system they are obligated to call the Fire

          9  Department. If there are closed valves they are

         10  obligated to call the building owner --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Instead of

         12  the Fire Department you can call directly by an

         13  automated system, they would actually be connected

         14  to a private company which would then inform --

         15                 MR. FLEMING: That is exactly the

         16  state-of-the-art in office buildings and should also

         17  be extended to highrise residential as well.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the way

         19  you talk about this fire, it should be the study for

         20  example of what not to do.

         21                 MR. FLEMING: Yes, exactly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The way you

         23  criticized it, everything went wrong that could have

         24  possibly gone wrong with it.

         25                 MR. FLEMING: That is not a sprinkler
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          2  system. A sprinkler system is installed in

          3  accordance with nationally recognized standards and

          4  extends throughout the building and it can be

          5  properly supervised and monitored.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. Now,

          7  one of the concerns a lot of people have, including

          8  myself, because I had an experience with my father

          9  and his factory, and that was that they just

         10  installed a system and it prematurely went off and

         11  it ruined all of his merchandise one day and there

         12  was no fire.

         13                 Are there studies being done, is

         14  there more work being done to get a better and a

         15  safer sprinkler system?

         16                 MR. FLEMING: Fire sprinkler systems

         17  have an unbelievably good record, not only in terms

         18  of putting out fires, but also in preventing the

         19  type of thing you are talking about.

         20                 Mr. Viniello is going to be

         21  addressing the potential for inadvertent discharge

         22  in his remarks, but it is very rare.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is there

         24  research still being done? Are we still trying to

         25  stay with the computers and everything today, we
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          2  should be improving the fire system as well.

          3                 MR. FLEMING: Absolutely.

          4                 And the sprinklers, any sprinkler

          5  generally allowed in use has to be permitted for

          6  testing and examination and listing by a nationally

          7  recognized laboratory such as underwriters

          8  laboratories or factory mutual research

          9  corporations, every sprinkler model has to undergo

         10  dozens of individual tests to make sure that it is

         11  not subject to inadvertent failure and that it will

         12  reliably respond to fire.

         13                 So there is an extensive --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I guess the

         15  other point you should ask is, and when it comes to

         16  some people's apartments some people say, well, you

         17  know, one of the reasons a lot of people don't use

         18  smoke detectors, when they should be using them by

         19  law, is that they don't look nice.

         20                 Is there any way you can make the

         21  sprinklers look nice and still be in an apartment?

         22                 MR. FLEMING: A tremendous amount of

         23  work has gone into that in the past 20 years. Mr.

         24  Viniello has a couple of sprinkler samples with him

         25  now.
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          2                 Sprinklers no longer look like the

          3  old factory-type sprinklers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is what

          5  I am talking about.

          6                 MR. FLEMING: They are now

          7  aesthetically --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: People will

          9  spend a lot of money and go to great lengths to make

         10  their apartments look pretty and then you've got

         11  these things sticking out of the walls or sticking

         12  out of our ceilings and it doesn't look nice.

         13                 MR. FLEMING: Well, I think you are

         14  looking at very old sprinklers. Now-a-days the

         15  manufacturers try to make the architects happy with

         16  the aesthetics of sprinklers these days.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 Sir.

         20                 MR. VINIELLO: My name is John

         21  Viniello, and I am the President of the National

         22  Fire Sprinkler Association. Our Association was

         23  founded in 1905 and we represent sprinkler

         24  contractors, manufacturers and suppliers, and yes I

         25  have a vested interest and I am going to address it
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          2  later in my remarks.

          3                 I have been involved in the sprinkler

          4  industry for 25 years having served in a variety of

          5  capacities with the National Fire Sprinkler

          6  Association, including Assistant Director of Codes

          7  and Standards, Regional Manager for the northeast,

          8  and Vice President of Field Operations and have been

          9  their president since my election to the Board of

         10  Directors in 1984.

         11                 I served on a variety of NFPA,

         12  National Fire Protection Association committees, and

         13  was one of the pioneers in the development of the

         14  residential quick response sprinkler.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: We accept

         16  you as an expert. Please help us now with your

         17  expertise.

         18                 MR. VINIELLO: One of the most

         19  important parts of our work with NFSA has been

         20  involved in working with model building code

         21  organizations around the United States, and we have

         22  been actively participating in the work of the new

         23  international building code which will replace many

         24  of the model building codes in the Year 2000.

         25                 On December 14th of 1998 I sent a
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          2  letter to the Mayor of the City of New York with

          3  copies to the Fire and Building Commissioners

          4  advising them of my concerns about the planned

          5  construction of a 90-story residential highrise

          6  being opposed by Trump Dae Woo at 845 UN Plaza. You

          7  have got a copy of that called Exhibit A.

          8                 It is my understanding that the

          9  present New York City Building Code would allow

         10  the   construction of this building to omit

         11  sprinklers in the residential occupancies beyond the

         12  tenth floor, provisions similar to the one that

         13  occurred in the recent highrise fire which claimed

         14  four lives at 124 West 60th Street.

         15                 We respectfully urge the City Council

         16  to adopt legislation which will make it mandatory to

         17  require complete automatic fire sprinkler protection

         18  and all new construction above three stories in

         19  accordance with nationally recognized standards.

         20  Most modern building codes recognize the

         21  effectiveness of automatic sprinkler fire protection

         22  throughout all structures and encourage their

         23  installation and I call your attention to Exhibit B.

         24                 Automatic sprinklers have enjoyed an

         25  enviable record of protecting life and property for
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          2  more than a century. During that time, in a fully

          3  sprinklered building there has never, I repeat,

          4  never been a multiple death fire where a properly

          5  maintained system was in operation.

          6                 In our view, the present New York

          7  City building code does not provide adequate safety

          8  provision for those who live in their highrise

          9  buildings.

         10                 Those in support of the concept of

         11  compartmentation or fireproofed buildings are asking

         12  residents to make informed decisions in emergency

         13  situations and unfortunately that I believe is

         14  asking a great deal.

         15                 Those who are mentally and physically

         16  challenged, the young, the old, may not be capable

         17  of taking action appropriate for someone who is in

         18  complete command of their physical and mental

         19  faculties. An automatic fire sprinkler system

         20  protects the inhabitants of a structure against

         21  unfriendly fire by controlling or extinguishing the

         22  fire at its incipient stages and is a proven life

         23  safety technology.

         24                 Now the only way to effectively fight

         25  a fire in a highrise building is to control the fire
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          2  as it starts. Had complete sprinkler protection been

          3  installed in the two fatal fires that occurred

          4  within days of each other last month, this public

          5  hearing would probably not be taking place.

          6                 Unfortunately, building and fire

          7  codes, addressing the need for fire sprinklers are

          8  reactive rather than proactive. It is only after a

          9  fire tragedy occurs and there is loss of life,

         10  significant injury and property damage, that

         11  legislators recognize the need to provide for some

         12  type of in-place protection. There is no equivalency

         13  to the installation of complete automatic fire

         14  sprinkler protection. It takes away any guesswork as

         15  to where the fire is going to start and the

         16  inhabitants and the completely sprinklered building

         17  rest assured.

         18                 Now, let me point out, the new

         19  international building code which will be available

         20  in the Year 2000 and will be adopted by many states

         21  throughout the country proposes to require fire

         22  sprinklers in all buildings more than fire stories

         23  in height and residential structures in excess of

         24  four stories in height.

         25                 The New York State building
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          2  construction codes, right outside the City, require

          3  complete sprinkler protection in all residential

          4  occupancies beyond three stories.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why don't we

          6  require it in those smaller buildings as well?

          7                 MR. VINIELLO: Well, I think the

          8  reason why the City is exempt is because of your

          9  population. And the reason why you have them in

         10  buildings that size is you can't fight fires

         11  effectively once that fire gets out of control. You

         12  have to keep the fire small.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why exempt

         14  three-story buildings and five story buildings from

         15  sprinklers?

         16                 MR. VINIELLO: They don't exempt them,

         17  anything over three stories has to be protected.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

         19  about under three stories.

         20                 MR. VINIELLO: Many of the cities

         21  adopt ordinances which require -- I will give you a

         22  good example, the town of Greenberg, New York, in

         23  Westchester County, requires sprinklers in all one

         24  and two-family dwellings.

         25                 So, many of the communities take it
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          2  upon themselves because they don't have the

          3  firefighting resource to handle fires in the smaller

          4  buildings, they will require these stronger

          5  ordinances.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why these

          7  national groups and all of these other groups

          8  exempting the smaller buildings?

          9                 MR. VINIELLO: They haven't gotten to

         10  it yet.

         11                 I mean, they have looked at it and

         12  they have decided that these buildings beyond three

         13  stories are the ones that they want to protect.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why not take

         15  below three stories?

         16                 MR. VINIELLO: I agree with you, I

         17  think we should and maybe New York should be the

         18  leader, you are so far behind.

         19                 Let me continue, if I may.

         20                 It is our view that by utilizing the

         21  provisions, and this is important, that already

         22  exist in a New York City building construction code,

         23  and adding additional economic incentives, such as

         24  construction trade-offs, as the structure is being

         25  planned, the three and four dollar per square foot
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          2  costs suggested by the real estate interest could

          3  drop substantially.

          4                 I believe that you can build them as

          5  high as you want and as big as you want in this

          6  City, new construction, less costly, with sprinklers

          7  than without. If you take advantage of the code, you

          8  make some simple modifications that already exist in

          9  the code.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you are

         11  talking about a 90-story building.

         12                 MR. VINIELLO: I am.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I read your

         14  letter. But isn't there difficulty in pumping water,

         15  keeping the pressure of water that high?

         16                 MR. VINIELLO: No, not at all.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Or does it

         18  come from the roof?

         19                 MR. VINIELLO: No, they have fire

         20  pumps and they stage it. It is no problem at all,

         21  they do it all over the country.

         22                 How do you fight a fire in a 90-story

         23  building without sprinklers?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, what

         25  you do, the Fire Department uses their pumpers.
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          2                 MR. VINIELLO: How do you get the

          3  people up to the 90th story? How do you get the Fire

          4  Department in there? Fly them in there?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

          6  about the pumping of the water. As I understand it,

          7  the pumpers that we have in the Fire Department

          8  hooks into the building system and pumps water up

          9  from the fire hydrants.

         10                 MR. VINIELLO: That does help.

         11                 Go ahead, Russ.

         12                 MR. FLEMING: Well, if I could add

         13  something. Actually the height of the buildings in

         14  New York City prohibits the Fire Department from

         15  pumping from street level all the way up. That is

         16  why the highrise buildings in New York City have to

         17  have internal pumps and tanks.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It makes it

         19  prohibitive.

         20                 MR. FLEMING: I am sorry, from a

         21  pressure standpoint, I believe the Fire Department

         22  used to have something called a super pumper that

         23  they took out on the streets of New York City, but

         24  they abandoned that.

         25                 They actually need to use the
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          2  building's internal resource to fight fires

          3  effectively in highrise buildings.

          4                 MR. VINIELLO: Now let me point out a

          5  couple of things that were raised by the Council.

          6                 It should also be pointed out that

          7  the insurance industry does not recognize any

          8  insurance rate reductions for partial systems.

          9                 And now to the issue that was raised

         10  about accidental leakage of a sprinkler, there is

         11  evidence that one of the most profitable lines of

         12  insurance underwritten by an insurance carrier is

         13  sprinkler leakage.

         14                 While many premium dollars are

         15  collected, very little is paid out in claims. And

         16  according to statistics, compiled by factory mutual,

         17  in the 1970s, the odds of inadvertent sprinkler

         18  operations due to a mal functioning defect are one

         19  per year per 16 million sprinklers in use. You have

         20  a better chance of being struck by lightning.

         21                 In addition to new construction, we

         22  urge the City Council to adopt measures which will

         23  ultimately lead to the complete sprinkler

         24  protection, and I am talking about apartments,

         25  hallways and stairwells of all existing highrise
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          2  structures over a prescribed period of time.

          3                 We also believe that there should be

          4  economic incentives available to owners and

          5  developers to help offset the cost of these

          6  installations.

          7                 Let me give you an example. In

          8  Alaska, two percent of the assessed value of any

          9  structure is exempt from taxation if that structure

         10  is protected with a complete automatic sprinkler

         11  system.

         12                 Ladies and gentlemen, it is not an

         13  issue of whether or not a sprinkler works. The issue

         14  with respect to retrofit appears to be caught.

         15                 Let's collectively develop ways to

         16  get creative and develop some economic incentives to

         17  help alleviate any financial concerns that may arise

         18  out of the result of these requirements.

         19                 You will, as you have already heard,

         20  and you will hear more testimony today, of the

         21  benefits of sprinklers, they work when they are

         22  called upon to do so.

         23                 And in closing, let me just suggest,

         24  because it has been suggested that the National Fire

         25  Sprinkler Association has a vested interest in that
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          2  their contractors and manufacturers and suppliers

          3  will benefit from strong sprinkler legislation. To

          4  this we plead guilty. I am not ashamed of it, we do

          5  have a vested interest.

          6                 But our vested interest is aimed at

          7  saving lives and protecting property from unfriendly

          8  fire. We have a proven technology whose record is

          9  impeccable and whose product works.

         10                 Let me also suggest that the real

         11  estate interests, builders and developers also have

         12  a vested interest, and it would seem to me that one

         13  of their priorities is to provide for those who live

         14  in their buildings with a safe environment from the

         15  hazards of fire, which obviously in this City isn't

         16  taking place.

         17                 I believe that I am doing my job and

         18  I call upon them to do theirs. Automatic sprinklers

         19  should become a way of life in this City and you,

         20  the leadership, by adopting strong sprinkler

         21  legislation, can make that happen.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. McCaffrey

         24  has a question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes, I have
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          2  a series of questions.

          3                 First, on your last point, Mr.

          4  Viniello, if we were to exclude everybody who had a

          5  vested interest, this would be a ghost town. I mean,

          6  there would probably be about seven people here in

          7  the Chambers. So you being sensitive about that,

          8  it's not necessary to be sensitive.

          9                 Let me ask you the question in terms

         10  of the operation of the fire sprinklers. I have seen

         11  material that indicates that a fire sprinkler has

         12  the capacity of dousing a fire and extinguishing it

         13  in under 90 seconds, as opposed to fire services who

         14  would end up under a very comparable set of fire

         15  circumstances requiring ten to 11 minutes; is that

         16  true, gentlemen?

         17                 MR. VINIELLO: Fire sprinklers keep a

         18  fire small at the incipient stage. Feeling

         19  temperatures at 200 degrees the fire sprinkler goes

         20  off.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And at that

         22  time what will happen then, they will end up with

         23  spray, they will begin to knock down the fire and

         24  extinguish the fire long before you would end up

         25  having a situation of a comparable nature in which
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          2  fire services arrive?

          3                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: In terms of

          5  the issue in terms of the false triggering, you

          6  point out that that is something that is a misnomer,

          7  and I am glad you addressed that, is the question

          8  some of my colleagues have asked, to what the

          9  position would have to be in the average size

         10  apartment as to the number of actual sprinkler heads

         11  that would be necessary in an average apartment in

         12  New York City; can you educate us as to that?

         13                 MR. VINIELLO: Why don't you cover

         14  that.

         15                 MR. FLEMING: Well, that sort of

         16  depends on how large the apartment is. A sprinkler

         17  can cover an area of up to 20 feet by 20 feet, and

         18  there is a limit in terms of obstructions, but if

         19  you think of one sprinkler per room in general,

         20  except for very large rooms, that will give you an

         21  idea of how many sprinklers are installed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

         23                 Are you aware of what the ADA

         24  provisions are as it applies to fire sprinklers?

         25  There is some discussion there that says that under
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          2  the federal ADA guidelines that sprinklers are an

          3  item that is of necessity in terms of highrise

          4  development; is that true?

          5                 MR. FLEMING: Well, it sort of becomes

          6  defacto truth in a way because the ADA either

          7  requires a place of safe refuge, or they have

          8  accepted sprinkler protection as providing the

          9  equivalent. So that is very important and most of

         10  our buildings are not built with a place of safe

         11  refuge, even though we might have fire resistant

         12  stair enclosures, they are not sized, they are not

         13  maintained in a safe manner.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Tell

         15  everyone what the definition would be for that safe

         16  environment.

         17                 MR. FLEMING: Well, a truly safe

         18  definition, the truly safe refuge would be one which

         19  is not impacted by the fire. Obviously from the

         20  testimony you heard here earlier today, that is not

         21  the case with the stairwells in our present

         22  buildings.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But that

         24  would also include being safe from the poisons from

         25  the smoke, et cetera.
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          2                 MR. FLEMING: That is correct.

          3                 Let me just say one thing about

          4  smoke. Smoke is a killer, and there are experts in

          5  fire protection who specialize in smoke control for

          6  that reason, but the first thing any smoke control

          7  expert will tell you is to manage the smoke. You

          8  have got to manage the size of the fire.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Have you

         10  gentlemen seen anywhere in the City of New York in

         11  any of the construction or the locations that you

         12  are familiar with the use of the safe refuge

         13  component?

         14                 MR. FLEMING: I have no personal

         15  knowledge of it that's been attempted in New York

         16  City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So, absent

         18  that, then the ADA pushes us in the direction of

         19  fire sprinklers also?

         20                 MR. FLEMING: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Gentlemen,

         22  let me ask you, in terms of the item on the cost,

         23  there are significantly different cost estimates out

         24  there, the national average, as I understand, is

         25  about a dollar eighty-one in terms of the national
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          2  average?

          3                 MR. VINIELLO: That's about right, for

          4  new construction, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: On new

          6  construction. Obviously in New York we always have a

          7  significant impact and cost to a greater degree.

          8                 And lastly, tell us what the impact

          9  is in terms of fire services of sprinklers, in terms

         10  of the taxing of their resources, their manpower,

         11  the risk that firefighters would not be put at if

         12  fire sprinklers were the norm, as they are called,

         13  to fight fires.

         14                 MR. VINIELLO: I am not sure I follow

         15  the question, Walter.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: If we end

         17  up having a situation where fire sprinklers are

         18  there, by the time the firefighters pull up to a

         19  scene the circumstance is either extinguished or it

         20  is of a much more limited nature so that the concept

         21  in terms of the flashover is not the type of

         22  circumstance -- that they are almost as timed

         23  getting there, you know, now we are in those

         24  critical seconds which the apartment or whatever the

         25  setting is is about to have the flashover and all of
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          2  the danger and --

          3                 MR. VINIELLO: That is absolutely

          4  true, it eliminates that issue. I think it was

          5  pointed out that had there been sprinklers in the

          6  Brooklyn fire, those firemen would not have been

          7  under any kind of a difficult situation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Have you

          9  ever been in San Diego?

         10                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Are you

         12  familiar with the hotel called the Del Coronado?

         13                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes, I am.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Old hotel.

         15                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         17  Magnificent.

         18                 MR. VINIELLO: Completely sprinklered.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes, fire

         20  sprinklers in there.

         21                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes, completely, all

         22  over.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         24  Sixteen-hundred sprinklers.

         25                 MR. VINIELLO: You are absolutely
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          2  right. You have done your homework.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And not a

          4  problem, and these are old sprinklers.

          5                 MR. VINIELLO: That's right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you

          7  very much, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Can I ask a

          9  question?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, please.

         11                 Council Member Marshall.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Some of the

         13  safe areas might be considered fire safe, actually

         14  even one and two-family, even a two-family house

         15  sometimes is required to have a fire escape, and of

         16  course we know that that doesn't really prevent

         17  people from being killed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Nor does

         19  that meet the ADA requirement, Helen.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Right.

         21                 But that would be the response of

         22  some landlords in our City, and we have a problem in

         23  our City, most of our tenants have serious bars on

         24  those windows and I know, because I did a building

         25  where I was a director, I had to have a gate that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  could be pulled open from the inside. But how would

          3  you respond to that? Because these people in this

          4  tower, many of their lives were saved by going out

          5  on their balconies.

          6                 MR. VINIELLO: Yes, but remember,

          7  people who are in complete command of their

          8  faculties could take action to try to escape from a

          9  fire. But many people who are killed in a fire are

         10  very elderly and young physically challenged, those

         11  people don't know what to do, and the fire sprinkler

         12  systems take the guesswork out of that. You don't

         13  have to worry if there are bars on the windows, the

         14  fire escape is going to work.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes.

         16                 MR. VINIELLO:  It is a terrible

         17  situation to be caught in a fire where you don't

         18  have sprinklers because it is the smoke that is

         19  going to kill you, not the fire.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Can I just

         21  ask one other layman's question?

         22                 If you were in an apartment house and

         23  there was flames and fire, would the fire break

         24  through the glass windows?

         25                 MR. VINIELLO: It has been known to do
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          2  that, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That could

          4  happen even if the person was on the fire escape.

          5                 MR. VINIELLO: Oh, sure. That has

          6  happened.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Viniello,

          9  that is your name?

         10                 MR. VINIELLO: Viniello.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You state in

         12  your testimony that, I will read it exactly as you

         13  said it, it should be pointed out that the insurance

         14  industry does not recognize any insurance rate

         15  reductions for partial systems.

         16                 MR. VINIELLO: That's right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We don't have

         18  any insurance people testifying today, could you

         19  define to us what you mean by a partial system?

         20                 MR. VINIELLO: Sure. The situation

         21  supposedly where you had a sprinkler system only in

         22  the hallways and in the stairwells. Complete

         23  protection means you have sprinklers all over.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is that by

         25  agreement of all of the insurance companies?
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          2                 MR. VINIELLO: It is the ISOR

          3  recommendation, the Insurance Services Office --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I would

          5  appreciate it if you could get us any documentation

          6  to that.

          7                 MR. VINIELLO: We have in the

          8  testimony some information on credits for sprinklers

          9  as part of our testimony, it is in the material that

         10  we handed out.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         12  Gentlemen, thank you very much. We appreciate it.

         13                 MR. VINIELLO: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Can I just

         15  ask one other question?

         16                 Are partial systems established at

         17  all for residential buildings? Like, for instance,

         18  in this building there were no sprinklers in their

         19  stairwell either, were there?

         20                 MR. VINIELLO: No, there were no

         21  sprinklers in the stairwell. It's a problem with a

         22  partial system. If a fire starts in an unsprinklered

         23  area, it can gain so much energy that it could

         24  overwhelm the system that is already in place out in

         25  the corridor. That is the problem with a partial
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          2  system, you can't guess where a fire is going to

          3  start. That is why you have to put them all over.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you,

          6  gentlemen.

          7                 Mr. Joshua Muss.

          8                 Mr. Muss, will you identify yourself,

          9  sir, and we will be happy to take your testimony on

         10  this.

         11                 MR. MUSS: Good afternoon, gentlemen

         12  and ladies. I will apologize, I will  have to give

         13  you the written testimony after this, I will send it

         14  in.

         15                 My name is Joshua Muss, I am

         16  principal of Muss Development Company, a company

         17  that has been developing and has built many

         18  thousands of residential units in the metropolitan

         19  area since 1906, primarily within the boroughs of

         20  Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island.

         21                 I am not going to use my materials

         22  which you will be able to read, but I would like to

         23  make a very serious distinction here, between Delray

         24  Beach, Jacksonville, Maryland and Manhattan, versus

         25  the boroughs of the City of New York, I do not
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          2  appreciate as the developer of the boroughs when

          3  people come in and frighten the Committee with

          4  90-story buildings, which aren't really 90 stories,

          5  and the fact is that there is such a distinction

          6  between development in the boroughs in Manhattan,

          7  and I think that the Committee, much of which is

          8  represented by Council people from the boroughs,

          9  should pay very close attention to the fact that the

         10  issue now is not three or four dollars a square

         11  foot. The issue is the difference between having

         12  housing built in the boroughs or not.

         13                 Even if in fact it is three or four

         14  dollars a square foot, the sprinkler in an entire

         15  building you are talking about highrise construction

         16  in Manhattan where it goes into the reinforced

         17  concrete, the only way to build midrise in the

         18  boroughs is to use plank. If you are going to

         19  sprinkler these buildings, that means you have to

         20  lower the ceiling. We are adding another three, four

         21  dollars a square foot to lower the ceilings. If we

         22  lower the ceilings, we have to raise the building in

         23  order to accommodate the increased height. Once you

         24  start increasing the height of the buildings, you

         25  run afoul of some very intricate zoning laws which
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          2  have the effect perhaps of chopping off an entire

          3  floor of a building.

          4                 You may be aware that we are starting

          5  a project in Brighton Beach. After about 17 years of

          6  development process, we are embarking upon a

          7  development which is approximately 17 seven-story

          8  buildings on average.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Approved by

         10  the Council twice.

         11                 MR. MUSS: You bet.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right.

         13                 MR. MUSS: Except this also ran afoul

         14  of the newly developed waterfront zoning which about

         15  seven years ago I came in front of the Council and I

         16  pleaded before this is done because there is no

         17  development community to discuss this, examine the

         18  ramifications, it was too late. So that in order to

         19  fit a seven-story building within the maximum of the

         20  height, if we have to put sprinklers we are going to

         21  lose approximately 15 percent of our development. I

         22  am not opposed to sprinklers.

         23                 I think that the issue has to be

         24  carefully considered. It has to be considered within

         25  the context of zoning laws. It has to be considered
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          2  in context of the code. It is very easy for somebody

          3  from out of town to come and say we sprinkler our

          4  buildings and maybe they build with wood, maybe they

          5  do not have the same means of egress, maybe they do

          6  not have a Fire Department. It is easy for a person

          7  in Manhattan to say the developers are wealthy, they

          8  are making a lot of money, they are selling for $500

          9  a square foot. In the boroughs it has not been

         10  proved that you can sell for $200 a square foot. The

         11  cost of construction is the same.

         12                 And the issue now is not just the

         13  development of housing, the issue, ladies and

         14  gentlemen of the Council, is the preservation of the

         15  neighborhoods of the boroughs where as far as I

         16  know, there has been no comparable development that

         17  we are starting in Brighton Beach that has been

         18  accomplished in the past 20 years, and that is

         19  because of the run-away cost which is gauged on the

         20  incomes in Manhattan and has nothing to do with the

         21  realities of the boroughs.

         22                 Just as a very quick example, in the

         23  City of New York if you put in a sprinkler you have

         24  to use black iron and vitriolic couplings

         25  (phonetic). You cannot use rigid plastic. Rigid
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          2  plastic would cut the cost in half and would make it

          3  available to many more contractors who are not only

          4  within the large contracting community.

          5                 So the fact of the matter is that you

          6  have to examine what there is, and it is easy for

          7  somebody to come in from out of town and say it is

          8  very easy to cover the cost by giving tax

          9  abatements. Ladies and gentlemen, tax abatements

         10  cannot even help develop developments in the

         11  boroughs when you give us a 15-year abatement, which

         12  by the way should be at least as much as there is in

         13  Manhattan, which it is not.

         14                 I think that before action is taken,

         15  and irrevocable action, there has to be a very

         16  serious consideration of the intertwining

         17  consequences with the rest of the code, with the

         18  zoning, with the effect it will have on developments

         19  under construction or under approval, and that

         20  despite the very serious and very lamentable

         21  incidents that have happened in the past months with

         22  nobody -- I mean it is very hard to argue against

         23  safety, but what is the purpose of creating

         24  legislation if the result of it there will be no

         25  construction at all?
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. McCaffrey

          4  has a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: There are a

          6  couple of items. I think if you have a chance to

          7  look at the testimony of the out-of-towners, they

          8  are the ones making the point that you said about

          9  trading off with other items from the code that

         10  would diminish the costs.

         11                 Now, what is the height of each of

         12  the seven-story buildings you develop?

         13                 MR. MUSS: Approximately 71 feet,

         14  71.18 feet which brings us within the allowable

         15  height.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So that you

         17  would not be impacted by this legislation?

         18                 MR. MUSS: I would be impacted by the

         19  legislation --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, you

         21  would not be impacted by the legislation.

         22                 MR. MUSS: Well, that remains to be

         23  seen what the legislation remains to be.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Just to

         25  allay your fears as to your specific item, your
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          2  item, your buildings are the ones that quite frankly

          3  the Fire Department has the ability to, under its

          4  second mission, to extract and rescue individuals at

          5  that height. It is when you now are getting to the

          6  45-story building, the 21-story buildings, et

          7  cetera, where it is much more complicated.

          8                 But I understand your point in terms

          9  of the trade-off in the cost. We understand.

         10                 MR. MUSS: There are other buildings

         11  to be built elsewhere in the boroughs that should go

         12  over seven stories as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Maybe some

         14  day.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Don't feel that

         16  this is the only time you have to communicate with

         17  the Committee or any individual members of the

         18  Council on this issue. We appreciate your concerns

         19  and we will not dismiss them casually.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: May I just

         21  say something, Mr. Chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I think the

         24  reputation history of this Council has always been

         25  very thorough and taken into consideration all
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          2  aspects before we move on legislation. We are

          3  concerned about our total city.

          4                 MR. MUSS: I understand that and

          5  appreciate it. Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, Mr. Dan

          7  Margules.

          8                 Mr. Margules, if you will identify

          9  yourself for the record, we will be happy, as

         10  always, to hear your views on today's topic.

         11                 MR. MARGULES: It's good to be here.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 Yes, my name is Dan Margules, I am

         14  Executive Director of Community Housing Improvement

         15  Program, a trade association of apartment building

         16  owners in the City. Thank you very much for the

         17  opportunity to testify. This is a very serious

         18  issue.

         19                 Attached to my testimony is a copy of

         20  a chart from the Mayor's Management Report of a few

         21  months ago, showing that New York City has a better

         22  fire safety record than Detroit, Philadelphia,

         23  Newark, Baltimore, San Francisco, Washington,

         24  Chicago, Atlanta and Boston. These were 1997 numbers

         25  and with the end of 1998 there was a report from the
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          2  Mayor's Office and the Fire Department a week ago

          3  that the number of fire deaths in New York actually

          4  declined more rapidly than in these other cities in

          5  the last year.

          6                 We have that enviable record because

          7  we already have tough codes that require spending

          8  money on fire resistant or fireproof construction in

          9  smoke detectors rather than sprinklers. Putting

         10  aside the media frenzy and the real tragedies of the

         11  last few weeks, one only have to compare our results

         12  with the results in comparable cities that do have

         13  sprinkler laws to decide who is doing better.

         14                 The recent fire deaths in New York

         15  were terrible avoidable tragedies. In one case of

         16  course there was a sprinkler. Requiring new

         17  sprinklers isn't going to eliminate human error. In

         18  the other case human error also defeated workable

         19  systems.

         20                 That being said, it appears the

         21  Council and Mayor want to adopt a new law, let me

         22  make a few suggestions.

         23                 First, don't add requirements for new

         24  construction without reexamining the existing codes.

         25  If you are going to add three or four dollars a
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          2  square foot to new construction for sprinklers, it

          3  should be possible to reduce the costs for other

          4  fire protection systems that will then be redundant.

          5  There isn't enough new housing built in New York

          6  City as it is, we can't keep indiscriminately adding

          7  to the cost of production. And I was very pleased,

          8  Mr. McCaffrey, with your question, and to the

          9  gentlemen from Baltimore in his response that in

         10  fact the Maryland legislature did reduce the

         11  requirements in the code that the sprinklers

         12  essentially replaced --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you have any

         14  area that you feel is redundant?

         15                 MR. MARGULES: Well, I am not an

         16  expert in codes but the gentleman from Maryland

         17  mentioned the fire hour rating of the partition

         18  walls, which is higher in New York than it was in

         19  Maryland and was reduced further in Maryland in

         20  exchange essentially for the cost of adding new

         21  sprinklers. So I think those things have to be

         22  examined and you can't just proceed to add the cost

         23  without recognizing that there are ways to reduce

         24  costs.

         25                 Second, I don't want you to believe
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          2  that providing tax breaks magically covers the cost

          3  of retrofitting existing buildings. As a rule of

          4  thumb, retrofit costs 50 percent more than new

          5  construction. A seven-story building must be at

          6  least 35 or 40,000 square feet, and conservative

          7  4.50 per square foot, you are looking at about

          8  $175,000 for a retrofit. That is for smaller

          9  highrises. Multiply that by the 10,000 plus

         10  buildings, many of them taller which are over six

         11  stories, and you are talking a lot more than $2

         12  billion.

         13                 Who is going to finance it? Can

         14  tenants afford to pay $50 a month rent increases for

         15  the improvements, which would be the MCI increase?

         16  Will banks lend the money to buildings where the

         17  tenants can't afford those rent increases, or the

         18  rents have already reached market and the loan to

         19  value ratios have been hit on the existing

         20  mortgages?

         21                 And finally, is this the City's

         22  highest priority for a tax expenditure in the

         23  billions of dollars, J-51 is 50 percent of cost, I

         24  am talking over 2 billion for retrofit, that is a

         25  billion dollars.
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          2                 CHIP believes that sprinklers are not

          3  a bad idea and they should be considered as part of

          4  a package of fire safety codes, and it is always a

          5  good idea to review the building codes and

          6  technologies, but sprinklers aren't a magic bullet

          7  and codes shouldn't be haphazardly amended based on

          8  the headlines. So, we are certainly willing to work

          9  with you. We are affiliated with organizations that

         10  are involved in establishing the national building

         11  codes. I am sure we can bring in code experts from

         12  the real estate industry to discuss with you the

         13  package of building codes that need to be addressed

         14  and I certainly volunteer to do that.

         15                 Just one last note in response to

         16  something that was said earlier about the Vendelia

         17  Avenue fire and the nature of the piping, I think

         18  that has to be considered in terms of retrofit as

         19  well. We have had a number of meetings before this

         20  Council over the last several years over issues of

         21  water metering, and one of the big problems with

         22  metering and submetering in existing buildings is a

         23  crazy system of water risers in the domestic water

         24  system. You can't just add a sprinkler to the

         25  domestic water systems without creating exactly the
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          2  kind of problems that were discussed earlier. You

          3  need to build whole new systems.

          4                 Also, there was discussion earlier of

          5  the public announcement system which was not in the

          6  bill but which has been mentioned by earlier

          7  speakers and the Fire Department. If the public

          8  announcement system is going to be the equivalent of

          9  what exists now in commercial buildings, you are

         10  basically talking about the alarm system that the

         11  gentleman who was here a few speakers ago is

         12  selling, and I asked him after he testified what

         13  that cost, he said in a 20-story 200-unit building

         14  it runs around $600 an apartment for one of those

         15  fire announcement systems and the computer controls.

         16  That is $175,000 I think -- oh, $120,000, excuse me.

         17  But still a significant expenditure and again not an

         18  immediate gee, that is the easy one, doesn't cost

         19  anything, let's do it.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I have a

         22  question.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Surely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Headlines

         25  were gotten by this fire. This fire was in a very
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          2  tall Manhattan building. Most of the fires that we

          3  experience all around the year are in small

          4  tenements, where people walk up the steps, they

          5  don't even have an elevator. I am very concerned

          6  about those fires. We lose children, we lose

          7  everybody. We lose lots of people. I would think

          8  that your organization, and knowing your history,

          9  that that is a main concern of yours. And I am

         10  concerned about how we are going to protect those

         11  people. They are not often so articulate, they don't

         12  really have many -- I mean, we are their

         13  representatives, we are probably about their only

         14  representatives. I think it would be helpful to us,

         15  Mr. Margules, if you could tell us how we are going

         16  to protect them.

         17                 MR. MARGULES: Sure. A couple of

         18  things.

         19                 First, I think the Fire Commissioner

         20  indicated earlier, and I don't have the exact

         21  statistics, but I think it is a very interesting

         22  point, the majority of fire deaths in the City of

         23  New York are in one and two family homes, not in

         24  tenement buildings or highrise buildings. So, if we

         25  were going to address this problem in terms of where
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          2  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Is that --

          4                 MR. MARGULES: I believe that is what

          5  the Fire Commissioner said, we can verify that.

          6                 I know that, as I said from the

          7  statistics provided on fire deaths, New York is a

          8  very safe city and one reason for that may be that

          9  it is largely a highrise city that has had fire

         10  resistant construction codes since the early parts

         11  of the century. In the larger buildings,

         12  unfortunately the smaller buildings it may cause a

         13  greater risk.

         14                 As far as my members' buildings are

         15  concerned, the existing buildings and ways to deal

         16  with that, you know, one of the most frustrating

         17  things I learned from reading the newspaper accounts

         18  of those fires is that the instruction that were

         19  required by law to put next to every elevator is not

         20  the complete instruction. You know, it should say in

         21  case of fire stay in your apartment, if you are

         22  ordered to evacuate use the stairs.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, none

         24  of those things worked in this --

         25                 MR. MARGULES: No, no, the correct
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          2  signs weren't there. People followed the message

          3  that they get every day as they stand in front of

          4  the elevator, and they are told in case of fire use

          5  the stairs and that is all they are told, that is

          6  the instruction they get and it is a city

          7  requirement. You know, it is right there, signs next

          8  to the elevator with a little map.

          9                 So that is the message people get

         10  every day, and it is not the whole message they

         11  should be getting. There is a lot that can be done

         12  in signage and in public education that might help

         13  people more quickly and more cost effectively.

         14  Certainly giving them the wrong instruction is not

         15  helpful.

         16                 So, I think, as I said, there is a

         17  host of ways to communicate to tenants what they

         18  should do in the event of a fire, from signage, from

         19  lease notices, to even as has been suggested drills.

         20  And I am not saying that those are necessarily going

         21  to work in a residential building, the Fire

         22  Commissioner again raised the issue of people not

         23  being home, but these are all things that should be

         24  considered.

         25                 I think you do have to look at a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            194

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  package of proposals and I think the Fire

          3  Commissioner's statement that you shouldn't

          4  necessarily try to do everything at once was also

          5  valid, because these are not simple issues.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I

          7  think one thing, as I listened to the testimony of

          8  the people who went through this, if there was a

          9  sprinkler system in the stairways, at least they

         10  could have gotten out of the building.

         11                 The other point that I know that

         12  would be a concern to building owners to putting in

         13  sprinkler systems, but you know we have a toilet

         14  program that required less water and the City

         15  underwrote a lot of it.

         16                 MR. MARGULES: All of it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And I think

         18  it has been very successful so far, it has helped us

         19  to save our water.

         20                 MR. MARGULES: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And so I

         22  think that we need to be looking at things like that

         23  as public representatives as a way of doing it. But

         24  the private industry has got to do their share too.

         25                 MR. MARGULES: What is interesting,
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          2  with the toilet program it was 100 percent city

          3  funded and it got very good response. I think the

          4  City was able to bond out -- actually the Water

          5  Authority bonded out about $900 million on that, but

          6  it was in order to save --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: But which we

          8  are paying with our taxes.

          9                 MR. MARGULES: No, no, in which we are

         10  saving. Which we are saving because by virtue of

         11  bonding out that 900 million or so, they were able

         12  to avoid having to bond out several billion dollars

         13  more for additional sewage treatment plants that are

         14  no longer required because we have cut water usage.

         15  So, in fact it didn't cost the taxpayers a dime to

         16  save the taxpayers money to give those toilets away,

         17  and this is not exactly --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: We have got

         19  to be creative in this one too.

         20                 MR. MARGULES: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Margules.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I do have a

         24  few questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Go ahead,
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          2  Council Member McCaffrey.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Dan, let me

          4  just ask you, can you tell me what the efforts have

          5  been in the last three or four years on the part of

          6  your members to do this type of fire education on a

          7  building by building basis?

          8                 MR. MARGULES: I am sorry, what?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Can you

         10  tell me what your constituent members at the

         11  organization have done during the last three or four

         12  years on a building by building basis to give the

         13  proper instructions as to fire evacuation, et

         14  cetera?

         15                 MR. MARGULES: I am sure they have

         16  done little or nothing beyond the requirements of

         17  posting and signage.

         18                 One of the constant annoyances for

         19  building owners I guess you could say is that there

         20  are numerous requirements for posting and signage

         21  not having to do exclusively with fire but with

         22  smoking and everything else, keys, locks, and you

         23  know, familiarity breeds contempt. There are so much

         24  such requirements neither the owners or tenants read

         25  them from day to day or think about them very much.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay.

          3                 The other item, and I see the

          4  statistics that you are talking about, let me just

          5  indicate to you the statistics, you know, quite

          6  frankly are a little bogus in terms of the fire

          7  coverage --

          8                 MR. MARGULES: Well, these are the

          9  Mayor's Management Report --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, I

         11  understand, but you have taken one year. It was not

         12  so long ago that this Council, which was the lead,

         13  had the exact opposite statistics, and fortunately,

         14  to the compliment of the Administration, having

         15  nothing to do with building codes whatsoever, there

         16  was an increase in terms of fire services that has

         17  now brought this back. Having absolutely nothing

         18  whatsoever, the code was the exact same when we

         19  stood here and we had the then Fire Commissioner

         20  under oath. So, when you raise these statistics,

         21  those of us here know exactly what those statistics

         22  mean, and they don't exactly mean what you think

         23  they mean. It is nice to say this year it is this.

         24                 Now, explain to me why, for example

         25  --
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          2                 MR. MARGULES: My --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: One moment.

          4  Why is it that the city of San Diego, with a

          5  requirement in terms of sprinklers, is at the lowest

          6  level; explain to me why?

          7                 MR. MARGULES: I don't know. Boston

          8  required sprinkler retrofits and they are above us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So in

         10  essence --

         11                 MR. MARGULES: Chicago required

         12  sprinkler and they are above us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Chicago

         14  doesn't --

         15                 MR. MARGULES: What it means --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I want to

         17  correct you, Chicago does not.

         18                 MR. MARGULES: I would like to answer

         19  the question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Chicago

         21  does not require new sprinklers.

         22                 MR. MARGULES: In new construction I

         23  believe they do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, they do

         25  not yet.
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          2                 MR. MARGULES: All right. I know

          3  Boston does.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: It is being

          5  debated similarly in Chicago.

          6                 MR. MARGULES: As was mentioned

          7  earlier by the sprinkler association.

          8                 In any event, I think what it means,

          9  and the point to my testimony was that it is a

         10  package approach, that I don't think that those

         11  statistics tell you everything there is to know

         12  about what sprinklers mean in those cities. I think

         13  what they tell you is that there is a package of

         14  proposals --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Which is my

         16  point.

         17                 MR. MARGULES: Which may or may not

         18  include sprinklers, which may or may not work.

         19                 I think that what we have here is an

         20  enviable record in New York and I must say that our

         21  relative position has been very good over the years,

         22  and the chart before that one, which I didn't

         23  duplicate to bring, showed I think we are at a

         24  45-year low in fire deaths and that the current

         25  downward trend has continued since 1995.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: As I say,

          3  with the Administration coming in.

          4                 MR. MARGULES: But I think it is a

          5  package of proposals, and that is why I am not

          6  saying that sprinklers are a bad idea in new

          7  construction. What I am saying is, that if you are

          8  going to do it in new construction, you have to

          9  approach it the way say Maryland did, where they

         10  found the trade-offs that made it cost effective so

         11  it didn't hurt the ability to build affordable

         12  housing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: That is

         14  obviously one of the items that we are going to look

         15  at the OMB analysis that they gave us before, it

         16  talks about existing programs and what they can do.

         17                 And the other item that is a source

         18  of concern in terms of this, is that I don't think

         19  you can sit there and deny the fact that had fire

         20  sprinklers been in place where the fire broke out in

         21  the apartment on West 60th Street, that those four

         22  people would have been dead. The fire would have

         23  been out in 90 seconds or less. That's the truth.

         24                 MR. MARGULES: I can't speak to that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I can.
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          2                 MR. MARGULES: I know there were fire

          3  sprinklers at the other location and they didn't

          4  work.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I am just

          6  telling you in terms of if the fire sprinkler system

          7  worked and was in place at that point on it, the

          8  fire would have been out in 90 seconds.

          9                 MR. MARGULES: If the door had been

         10  closed probably the result would have been the same.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But the

         12  fact of the matter is that you are never going to be

         13  able to deal with that type of human reaction. When

         14  you manage to solve that, come back and tell us that

         15  you did that --

         16                 MR. MARGULES: Well, all I can say is

         17  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Quite

         19  frankly, we have changed human nature in such a way

         20  as --

         21                 MR. MARGULES: The same human failings

         22  defeated the sprinkler system.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, guys, I

         24  have got a long list of people who want to testify

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you

          3  very much, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 Thank you very much, Dan.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And there is a

          6  snow storm coming up, so let me --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: It's here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

          9                 If you haven't signed in, your name

         10  will not be called. If you haven't signed in. If you

         11  have signed in, it may be called. But guaranteed not

         12  to be called if you haven't signed in.

         13                 So the next four speakers are Blaise

         14  Parascandola, Arthur Perrinello, Irwin Fruchtman,

         15  Michael Lappin, in that order. In that order,

         16  please. You don't have to sit at the same time.

         17                 MR. PARASCANDOLA: You called me

         18  first, Mr. Chairman, right?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         20                 MR. PARASCANDOLA: Can I begin now?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Surely. Identify

         22  yourself.

         23                 MR. PARASCANDOLA: My name is Blaise

         24  Parascandola. I am an engineer and an attorney and a

         25  former deputy commissioner of the Department of
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          2  Buildings of the City of New York. Actually I am

          3  sitting right next to my former commissioner and

          4  boss Irwin Fruchtman.

          5                 I was also the Associate Counsel to

          6  the City Council Committee on Buildings which is

          7  right here now also, which adopted the so-called new

          8  building code almost 30 years ago. Subsequently, in

          9  1972 I was counsel to the Committee on Buildings

         10  which adopted Local Law number 5, the highrise fire

         11  safety law. I also was a member of the Mayor's

         12  Committee on Highrise Fire Safety and recommended

         13  the passage of Local Law number 5.

         14                 When I was Deputy Commissioner of

         15  Buildings, I was a member, along with the Fire

         16  Commissioner, of the Highrise Fire Safety Task Force

         17  of the Buildings and Fire Departments, which

         18  approved alternate methods of compliance for certain

         19  requirements of Local Law number 5.

         20                 I am also a past elected member of

         21  the Society of Fire Protection Engineers. In

         22  addition, I have been consultant to labor

         23  organizations and fire safety and sanitary codes,

         24  Plumbers Local Number 1, Bricklayers Local Number 1,

         25  as well as having represented building owners,
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          2  architects and engineers and fire safety matters

          3  before the Fire Department and Buildings Department.

          4                 Before commenting on the specifics of

          5  Intro. No. 198, I think I should just briefly

          6  describe Local Law Number 5, because that is an

          7  analogous situation. We were confronted with

          8  highrise fire safety in 1970, the Mayor established

          9  its committee and eventually they made

         10  recommendations and they provided for a fire safety

         11  plan. We heard people talking about a fire safety

         12  plan. They provided for communication systems. We

         13  have heard public announcements. They provided for

         14  compartmentation. They provided for elevator and

         15  readiness so the elevators would be recalled

         16  immediately to the ground floor, it will not go to

         17  the fire floor. They provided for pressurization,

         18  and they also provided for sprinklers.

         19                 However, at the time sprinklers were

         20  only an option because at the time in 1972,

         21  sprinklers were basically a fire safety measure for

         22  industrial occupancies, factories, warehouses and

         23  other large storage facilities.

         24                 As one of the representatives said,

         25  the standard is the factory mutual standard, that is
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          2  how sprinklers were developed. And of course, the

          3  reason for that was the fires would start in these

          4  occupancies, particularly in remote areas and off

          5  hours and then would build up an intensity with

          6  higher pressures resulting in major conflagrations.

          7                 The purpose of a water sprinkler

          8  would be to initially contain the fire and

          9  eventually extinguish it.

         10                 In the past, sprinklers which are

         11  activated by a rise in temperature, as someone said,

         12  200 degrees, were somewhat slow to react and supply

         13  water to extinguish the fire.

         14                 However, the technology has improved

         15  and there is now a 50 second sprinkler. We heard a

         16  reference to a 90 second sprinkler, there is now a

         17  50 second sprinkler that will react.

         18                 Now, when Local Law 5 was enacted,

         19  sprinklers were still thought of as basically a

         20  firefighting measure to protect property with life

         21  safety being a secondary benefit.

         22                 Under Local Law Number 5, fully

         23  sprinklered buildings -- when I say Local Law Number

         24  5, that applied to all office buildings existing and

         25  new construction which were over 100 feet in height.
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          2  And in those buildings, fully sprinklered buildings

          3  was considered as an alternative to compartmentation

          4  and pressurization of stairwells which were the

          5  initial mandates of Local Law Number 5.

          6                 As the enforcement of Local Law

          7  Number 5 progressed, some of the weaknesses of

          8  pressurization of stairwells were demonstrated.

          9                 For example, after three or more

         10  stairwell doors are opened, the effectiveness of

         11  pressurization keeping smoke out of stairwells

         12  becomes greatly diminished.

         13                 Now, the effectiveness of

         14  compartmentation, with all due respect to some of

         15  the speakers here today, in containing a fire is not

         16  in dispute. I can tell you from experience that

         17  these fire safety compartments in office buildings

         18  made into floor areas of 7,500 square foot or less

         19  with one-hour fire separations are definitely a fire

         20  prevention measure.

         21                 Let me say this. There was a West

         22  Bacco fire here (phonetic), I know the Commissioner

         23  was here, he would know that also. It was the 22,500

         24  square feet of a floor where this fire started, a

         25  very intense fire, and in three of the compartments
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          2  that were away from the other 7,500 feet, there was

          3  very little damage. In the main one in 75 where the

          4  fire started there was, but the other compartments

          5  were intact; however, there was smoke damage.

          6                 And there was also another serious

          7  fire that occurred years ago, Sol Yurak (phonetic),

          8  many people may or may not remember him. Sol Yurak

          9  was an inpresario who brought many engagements,

         10  ballets, he brought in the Russian ballet, and at

         11  that time we had communist Russia. There was an

         12  anti-communist terrorist group that started a fire

         13  right in his office, and actually the

         14  compartmentation, it was effective except that the

         15  smoke did spread to a certain extent.

         16                 Now, it contained the fire but not

         17  the smoke, and there were two final compartments at

         18  the end of this floor, one, there were two men, one

         19  there was a secretary. The men were able to take

         20  chairs and break the windows and that was able to

         21  vent the fire. The other office where the secretary

         22  was, unfortunately she could not do anything and she

         23  perished.

         24                 So, I think this puts some thought of

         25  perspective. However, as the experience in Local Law

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            208

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  5 came to fore, the Highrise Fire Safety Task Force

          3  felt that full sprinklerization of buildings should

          4  be encouraged. To that end the Task Force was more

          5  readily disposed to grant extensions of time to

          6  comply with Local Law Number 5 when sprinklerization

          7  was the option, in lieu of compartmentation and

          8  pressurization. And we did this and at the time I

          9  was there with Commissioner Fruchtman we said that

         10  now sprinklers was the way to go and what we tried

         11  to do to encourage full sprinklers in office

         12  buildings was to give them greater extensions of

         13  time, we recognized that it would take a long time

         14  to do it.

         15                 Of course, as many of you are aware,

         16  Local Law 5 was a retroactive law, which leads us to

         17  Intro. 198, which only requires full

         18  sprinklerization of newly constructed residential

         19  buildings, mandating only sprinklering of the public

         20  halls and stairways of existing buildings.

         21                 I submit that this is a halfway

         22  measure, and if this is adopted, may not have

         23  prevented the tragedy that occurred in the Vendelia

         24  Houses in Brooklyn, a low-rent housing project

         25  operated by the New York City Housing Authority,
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          2  where three of the City's bravest, our noble

          3  firefighters, perished.

          4                 What occurred there was a gradual

          5  build-up of a fire in an apartment ignited by a

          6  resident's cigar. The phenomenon of splashover,

          7  which has been discussed before, occurred as the

          8  fire grew in intensity, with the concomitant high

          9  pressure, resulting in a fireball traveling down the

         10  public hall and engulfing the firefighters.

         11                 If the sprinklers was installed in

         12  those rooms, the pressures would never have risen,

         13  the fire would have been contained.

         14                 Unfortunately the hallway sprinklers

         15  in the Vendelia Houses were turned off for some

         16  unknown reason and thus there was no protection for

         17  the fire floor. They might have been of some help

         18  but they were turned off.

         19                 Although it is my opinion bolstered

         20  by that of other fire safety experts, that even if

         21  the hallway sprinklers were in operation there would

         22  not have been sufficient extinguishment to stop the

         23  splashover, however the hallway sprinklers would

         24  have helped and there is no reason for them to have

         25  been turned off for so long a time, since this
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          2  building was operated by a New York City agency. And

          3  this was a building that was specifically designed

          4  for the elderly, for low rent, to protect these

          5  people, and they lost this protection.

          6                 In any event --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Where all

          8  the poor and elderly lived.

          9                 MR. PARASCANDOLA: That's correct.

         10  That is the ones you were talking about.

         11                 As to the other recent fire that

         12  occurred in a luxury highrise where sprinklers would

         13  have prevented -- whether sprinklers would have

         14  prevented the smoke from entering the stairwells

         15  where the three tenants died is questionable. That

         16  is in the South Park Towers.

         17                 However, if they were installed in

         18  the apartment where the fire started in South Park

         19  Towers, quicker extinguishment of the fore might

         20  have occurred. Possibly this might have reduced the

         21  smoke and saved the lives.

         22                 In any event, Local Law 5 made its

         23  provision retroactive to existing highrise office

         24  buildings because the problems in fighting fires in

         25  highrise buildings are the same whether they are new
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          2  or existing.

          3                 Highrises defined as 100 feet in

          4  height, similar problems are now coming to the fore

          5  in the residential buildings. They are over 100 feet

          6  in height and they are experiencing the same

          7  problems as these office buildings.

          8                 Thus, full sprinklerization of

          9  existing residential buildings should be mandated,

         10  not only to protect the residents in low-income

         11  housing, but also these people in South Park who

         12  were in luxury housing.

         13                 Finally, those fighting the fire that

         14  the firefighters are entitled to the protection of

         15  proven firefighting measures, even if the

         16  installations are costly.

         17                 As far as the cost goes, the City

         18  would allow for a time period for existing buildings

         19  to comply, which they did in Local Law 5, which we

         20  did with extensions. The City can also provide tax

         21  abatements to owners of existing apartments. Any

         22  loss of tax revenue can be made up by an additional

         23  tax. Now, we can have a solution right here.

         24                 Mr. Chairman, we have a solution to

         25  the cost. A few blocks away from here we have the
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          2  greatest financial institution in the world, the New

          3  York Stock Exchange. They have been given a great

          4  deal by the City. I suggest that when the Dow Jones

          5  goes over 100 every day, that an additional stock

          6  transfer be kicked in and they use that tax to

          7  finance these sprinklers, because these people are

          8  getting rich on Wall Street, the least they can do

          9  is to help to contribute to the safety of the people

         10  of the City of New York.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Parascandola. And I regret that I can't call all of

         14  you at the same time, the chair will stay as long as

         15  the last person who wants to testify. If you have

         16  other business that is more important, I suggest

         17  that perhaps you may want to attend that business.

         18                 The next three speakers are Arthur

         19  Parrinello, Irwin Fruchtman, Michael Lappin, in that

         20  order.

         21                 MR. PARRINELLO: Thank you for the

         22  opportunity to speak before the City Council Housing

         23  and Buildings Committee this morning. My name is

         24  Arthur J. Parinello, I am the President of the

         25  Uniformed Fire Officers Association, and hold the
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          2  rank of Deputy Chief in the New York City Fire

          3  Department.

          4                 UFOA represents approximately 2,400

          5  lieutenants, captains, battalion chiefs, deputy

          6  chiefs, medical officers and supervisor and fire

          7  marshals with the New York City Fire Department.

          8                 The UFOA strongly supports any

          9  proposed legislation that would require sprinkler

         10  systems in residential and commercial buildings in

         11  New York City that currently do not have such

         12  systems.

         13                 Simply stated, when a fire is in its

         14  incipient stage, a sprinkler system can prevent the

         15  fire from progressing to a free burning stage.

         16  Though the sprinkler system may not put the fire out

         17  totally, it should serve to keep the fire under

         18  control until the Fire Department arrives. Stated

         19  even more simply, every second counts in the fire.

         20  And sprinkler systems buy precious seconds and

         21  minutes. No one can put a price tag on those seconds

         22  and minutes. The savings of lives and property can't

         23  be captured by computer. And so it is up to the

         24  ladies and gentlemen of the City Council to weigh

         25  the costs and benefits of a safer city, and it is up
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          2  to you to decide who should pay those costs, but the

          3  fire officers of the City want you to know that we

          4  will support the strongest medicine you choose to

          5  prescribe.

          6                 Thank you for this opportunity to be

          7  heard.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I want to thank

          9  you too, Mr. Parrinello. And anyone who has to

         10  leave, you can leave your testimony and it will

         11  certainly be made part of the record and will be

         12  given every consideration as we deliberate further

         13  on this topic.

         14                 Mr. Fruchtman.

         15                 MR. FRUCHTMAN: Thank you for this

         16  opportunity to present my thoughts on this matter

         17  before you, one that affects the life safety and

         18  property of millions of City residents.

         19                 I was the Building Commissioner of

         20  the City from 1978 to '83 and I fought the highrise

         21  office building wars, a/k/a Local Law 5, from '73 to

         22  '83, and I hope we can learn from that experience.

         23  850 existing office buildings were retrofitted and

         24  all new buildings, office buildings, Class E, beyond

         25  that point were sprinklers.
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          2                 Today we are discussing a different

          3  magnitude of problems, we are discussing over

          4  130,000 residential buildings containing almost 2

          5  million housing units, and the obvious problem is

          6  once again, not with the upgrading of requirements

          7  for new residential buildings but how to retrofit

          8  and save the thousands of existing residents in

          9  these residential buildings.

         10                 Any simplistic attempt to rush a fire

         11  sprinkler retrofit law through in the wake of the

         12  December fires is not advisable for so complex an

         13  undertaking. But by following the basic priority

         14  steps that I will outline to you, the City can move

         15  forward expeditiously with a plan to assure a safer

         16  housing stock for its residents, and the plan, which

         17  I have handed out in the second page of my notes

         18  consists of three parts, and I think it is important

         19  that you listen because this is a plan for action

         20  and an agenda, not to be confused with inaction and

         21  listening to a lot of private interests.

         22                 The first part is I don't believe the

         23  City knows exactly what the condition of these

         24  130,000 existing residential buildings are. I don't

         25  think they know the height, the fire protection
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          2  requirements and the various aspects of the building

          3  that make them safe or not safe.

          4                 The first step in my plan would be

          5  starting right now, and we would take a six-month

          6  period to July '99 to have a fire safety form filled

          7  out by every owner of every building which would

          8  explain exactly what the buildings are, the height,

          9  the number of units and all of the fire safety

         10  systems that exist in those buildings.

         11                 So we are now in July '99 and we have

         12  a body of knowledge which I don't believe we have

         13  now. I mean, the Fire Department and the New York

         14  City Housing Authority did not even know that the

         15  Vendelia building had sprinklers in it. They had to

         16  review the plan initially, it had to go through the

         17  Building Department, it had to go through the Fire

         18  Department, somewhere along the line that sprinkler

         19  system got forgotten, and we have to update that

         20  information because before you start drawing

         21  regulation, you have got to know what you have.

         22                 The second step is to start drafting

         23  in March of this year the new requirements. Now,

         24  this is not a difficult job, because everybody says

         25  New York City Building Code is a great code, is a
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          2  tough code, but the fact is, ladies and gentlemen,

          3  time has passed us by.

          4                 There are now codes in the -- uniform

          5  codes, three in this country, and international

          6  codes being drawn up that are much stricter. In

          7  fact, the State of New York code is stricter than

          8  the New York City code as far as highrise

          9  residential buildings. So, we don't have to look far

         10  for new requirements, we have to accept and read and

         11  understand the requirements of all of these existing

         12  codes. And the cost issue that everybody is worried

         13  about, the cost issue, we have to be competitive in

         14  building buildings in this City, so if you have the

         15  same costs for the same code in New York City as you

         16  have in Boston, as you have in Los Angeles, as you

         17  have in the rest of New York City and New York

         18  State, then it will not cost one nickel more from

         19  the requirement standpoint. So, nobody should be

         20  allowed to use that argument provided this code,

         21  these codes are accepted. And I think you can do it,

         22  there is no reason why you can't do it by March '99,

         23  have a hearing in July '99 and adopt the

         24  requirements for new buildings by July '99. That is

         25  not a difficult task and that is a doable task and
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          2  do it. Do it.

          3                 Now the retrofit. The reason I put

          4  this schedule in is because at the time we get the

          5  responses back to the fire safety plan, so we know

          6  by the use of statistics exactly how many buildings

          7  are over 30 stories, how many are over 12 stories,

          8  how many are X height, what the type of constraints

          9  are in those buildings, we can factor that into a

         10  draft of retrofit requirements on a risk basis.

         11                 In other words, if I have a six-story

         12  building that is --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is clear.

         14  That is clear. I understand that, sir.

         15                 MR. FRUCHTMAN: Good. I will give this

         16  to you too.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right.

         18                 MR. FRUCHTMAN: But it is simple,

         19  right? You have to know what you have, and then you

         20  have to design something that works. And it doesn't

         21  work for the wealthy up on Park Avenue, it works for

         22  every person that lives in a multiple dwelling in

         23  this City, because usually as you go down in the

         24  height of building, below six stories, down to the

         25  three-story level, you are talking about a different
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          2  type of building that hasn't got the enclosed

          3  stairwells, that you have a different type of fire

          4  construction, and you have to think of the right

          5  thing to do for that building as fast as possible.

          6  You don't have to go into every apartment and do a

          7  complete retrofit in that apartment, there are

          8  things known as sidewall sprinklers where you don't

          9  have to start lowering --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner, I

         11  have got a lot of people here who want to testify, I

         12  will make myself available to meet with you, as well

         13  as Walter, to discuss this in greater detail.

         14                 MR. FRUCHTMAN: You have my number

         15  there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I have it.

         17                 MR. FRUCHTMAN: Essentially I said

         18  what I want to say, there is one additional thing.

         19                 You know, everybody in a fire,

         20  especially if you are in a highrise building, your

         21  first inclination because fire and smoke, what it

         22  does, it psychologically changes your mindset. One

         23  of the problems in saying, well, why didn't you stay

         24  in your apartment? You tend to panic in a fire

         25  situation because the smoke goes to your brain and
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          2  you don't start thinking logically. But we have in

          3  other cities, the idea is that in highrise

          4  buildings, over eight stories they put helipads on

          5  the roofs of buildings where people, instead of

          6  going down and they find they can't go down, they go

          7  up. If they don't have a balcony they go up to the

          8  roof and if the Fire Department or Police Department

          9  has a helicopter, they can pick them and pluck them

         10  off the roof. Why can't that be done today? Why?

         11                 And the other thing is, I would again

         12  urge the City of New York to modernize its code and

         13  come in line with one of the national codes because

         14  we are not doing the research, we are not doing the

         15  inspections, we are not doing the things -- we have

         16  a wonderful Fire Department, they have to know what

         17  has to be done, but we are not doing the things that

         18  have to be done in this City to protect its

         19  population.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         21  Commissioner Fruchtman.

         22                 Mr. Lappin, followed by John Torpey,

         23  Robert Solomon, Jim Cahill.

         24                 MR. LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         25  I am Michael Lappin, the President of the Community
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          2  Preservation Corporation, a non-profit corporation,

          3  and one of the City's leading lenders for

          4  rehabilitation of affordable housing. We are

          5  sponsored by the City's major commercial and savings

          6  banks and life insurance companies. I want to thank

          7  you for this opportunity to testify today.

          8                 CPC has nearly 25 years of experience

          9  in lending for rehabilitation in affordable housing,

         10  and affordable housing largely means older

         11  buildings, about 80 to 90 percent of the housing

         12  units in most of the City's low and moderate-income

         13  areas were built before 1960.

         14                 What we have done in these buildings

         15  is gone into both occupied and vacant buildings and

         16  rehabilitated them. Typically we finance such

         17  important things as new plumbing, replacing boilers,

         18  upgrading obsolete and often dangerous electrical

         19  wiring. Doing a number of fire protection measures,

         20  such as sealing dumbwaiters, making sure there are

         21  fire rated doors, making sure fire escapes work,

         22  replacing windows, roofs and so on. We have financed

         23  almost 60,000 apartments in New York City, including

         24  about 16 and a half thousand in Upper Manhattan,

         25  Washington Heights, Inwood and Harlem. Over 16,000

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            222

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  in the Bronx, 19,000 in Brooklyn and Queens.

          3                 All of these are in low and

          4  moderate-income neighborhoods. This reinvestment has

          5  been widely acknowledged as preserving of important

          6  part of the City's housing stock. Without this

          7  renovation this housing would have deteriorated or

          8  at worst become uninhabitable or abandoned.

          9                 I would ask the City to carefully

         10  consider the impact of the proposed legislation.

         11  Older buildings with limited rents will have a great

         12  deal of difficulty upgrading buildings and putting

         13  in sprinkling systems that are spoken about with

         14  some additional public help, major public help.

         15                 Our engineers, we have asked our

         16  engineers what the cost of this would be for gut

         17  renovations, our costs are about 17 to 25,000 per

         18  building to create a new watermain system, because

         19  you have to have a new water system in the building

         20  for sprinklers. And then about 2,025 per apartment

         21  for the necessary sprinkler system, and this is for

         22  a vacant building.

         23                 For an occupied building, to retrofit

         24  it when we do the renovations, it would be quite a

         25  bit higher because you have a lot more things to do.
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          2  You have to bore through existing walls and

          3  ceilings, and depending on whether it is concrete

          4  and whether it is wood, there is a lot of variation

          5  in this.

          6                 Our estimate to do renovation, do

          7  this kind of sprinkler renovation, in addition to

          8  the new watermain which is ab out 17 to 25,000 a

          9  building, would be approximately 2,500 to 3,000

         10  dollars per apartment. Without some direct help from

         11  the City, direct subsidy from the City, this added

         12  cost might render the entire renovation infeasible,

         13  thereby you would have the ironic results of not

         14  only not having fire protection but not having a

         15  renovated apartments, and you may lose those

         16  apartments because we all know that we have an

         17  enormous shortage of housing, in particularly an

         18  affordable area.

         19                 While I think it was testified

         20  earlier that J-51 costs could possibly pay for up to

         21  half of this, in many of these renovated buildings

         22  there is no J-51, taxes are already at zero so J-51

         23  benefits would not apply.

         24                 Similarly, there is limited ability

         25  for these tenants to pay for increases, which is the
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          2  other avenue, method of paying for this.

          3                 So, while we do not oppose putting in

          4  sprinklers, we want the Council to very carefully

          5  figure out how this is going to be done and how it

          6  is going to be paid for particularly in these

          7  neighborhoods where we have people with limited

          8  incomes, where there are other very pressing needs

          9  to be addressed as well as sprinklers, such as

         10  plumbing, faulty electrical, faulty heating systems,

         11  all of which have their own problems and create

         12  their own health and safety problems if not

         13  addressed.

         14                 So this must be considered alongside

         15  with those, and we should understand that this whole

         16  thing and the totality of its economics. We are

         17  always very happy to work with the Council to try to

         18  develop figures as this process proceeds.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We want to thank

         20  you, Mr. Lappin. Your point of view certainly will

         21  be given consideration, at least by the chair as we

         22  proceed on this topic.

         23                 Yes, Council Member Marshall.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Just very

         25  briefly, I mean I have seen gutted buildings that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            225

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  have been burnt out and what have you, it would seem

          3  to me, and you did spell that out in your testimony

          4  that it would be cheaper to do those buildings. The

          5  main problem is this watermain that has to go into

          6  the building. I think that we need to really learn

          7  and understand as much as we can about that because

          8  if we are talking about legislation we certainly

          9  wouldn't want to leave out buildings that are

         10  completely gutted and that we could possibly make

         11  safe for the people to live in.

         12                 MR. LAPPIN: I think the key thing is

         13  in your low and moderate income area this creates a

         14  great deal of additional cost, it is not a cost that

         15  can easily --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: But it is

         17  doable.

         18                 MR. LAPPIN: It is doable but I think

         19  the City will have -- I think someone referenced the

         20  toilets.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes, I did.

         22                 MR. LAPPIN: Someone has to address

         23  how that is being costed, and I think it is a

         24  mandated requirement of the public, the City will

         25  have to come up with some help to pay for that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          3                 Mr. Torpey, followed by Robert

          4  Solomon.

          5                 Mr. Lappin, we need a copy of your

          6  testimony, so you will make it available to us

          7  please.

          8                 MR. LAPPIN: Yes, I will send it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Please do.

         10                 Mr. Torpey.

         11                 MR. TORPEY: Council members, my name

         12  is John Torpey. I am the President of Steamfitters

         13  Local 638 here in New York City. And I represent

         14  over 7,000 members, many of whom live in the five

         15  boroughs.

         16                 I am also a member of the New York

         17  State Building and Fire Code Council, an appointment

         18  of the Governor, and I am concerned about the safety

         19  of my members and also of the residents of our great

         20  city.

         21                 The cost of fully sprinkling an

         22  average two-bedroom apartment in a newly constructed

         23  highrise is approximately two to three dollars a

         24  square foot, the same or equivalent that it would

         25  cost to install wall to wall carpeting.
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          2                 Overall, to install sprinklers in a

          3  new constructed highrise building, it is a total,

          4  three percent of the total cost of the construction.

          5                 I say, ladies and gentlemen, what are

          6  we talking about. What is the human life worth? When

          7  you are looking at the big picture, please consider

          8  the safety of future generations of our New Yorkers,

          9  I am confident you will do the right thing.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I thank you, Mr.

         12  Torpey.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Can I ask

         14  him just a brief question?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sure, you can

         16  ask him.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: He didn't

         18  mean that, sure I could ask, but -- the previous

         19  speaker spoke of buildings that are being renovated

         20  that he would have to bring in another water supply.

         21  Now, if you are building a new building, I know for

         22  instance where I am I am right near LaGuardia

         23  Airport and when they built the hotel they had to

         24  bring in a sewer system.

         25                 MR. TORPEY: Usually and typically
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          2  when a water supply comes in it can split inside the

          3  building, one goes to the domestic water supply with

          4  a meter, and it can tee off onto another meter that

          5  would supply fire protection water supply, either a

          6  fire riser or a sprinkler system that could be taken

          7  off of that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That could

          9  go off of the main system.

         10                 MR. TORPEY: Yes, it can. It can come

         11  off of the original main that comes in there. Any

         12  building that is being constructed, the City has to

         13  have a watermain installed. So you can tee off that

         14  once it is inside the property line.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Robert Solomon. Followed by Mr.

         18  Jim Cahill, Mr. David Vandor, Mr. Dan Berry and Mr.

         19  Mort Hirsch, if they are here.

         20                 MR. SOLOMON: Good afternoon. I

         21  appreciate the opportunity to be here. My name is

         22  Robert Solomon, I am the Chief Building Fire

         23  Protection Engineer for the National Fire Protection

         24  Association, NFPA. NFPA is a private non-profit

         25  organization located in Quincy Massachusetts, and
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          2  that is just south of Boston, they have a Red Socks

          3  baseball team or something up there. NFPA is a

          4  worldwide membership organization whose mission is

          5  to reduce the burden of fire and the quality of life

          6  by advocating scientifically-based consensus codes

          7  and standards.

          8                 This in essence has been NFPA's

          9  mission since the association had its first

         10  organized meeting in March of 1896 right here in New

         11  York City. Ironically the issue that prompted the

         12  formation of NFPA in 1896 is the same subject that

         13  is being discussed in the course of today's hearing,

         14  and I am sure in the coming months the installation

         15  of automatic fire sprinkler systems.

         16                 NFPA is involved in the development

         17  of codes and standards for nearly every aspect of

         18  fire protection and fire safety, whether it be for

         19  advancing the standards for firefighter protective

         20  clothing, advancing the requirements for Fire

         21  Department nozzles and hose lines, developing and

         22  maintaining the national electrical code,

         23  recognizing state-of-the-art technology for fire

         24  alarm systems or learning how to make even better

         25  use of automatic sprinkler systems in the building
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          2  environment, NFPA has led the way in these and many

          3  other areas.

          4                 National Fire Prevention Week is

          5  recognized every October, it is the result of a NFPA

          6  section that deemed it important in 1911 to provide

          7  the public with a reminder of the tragedy that

          8  resulted following the great Chicago fire.

          9                 In 1920 President Woodrow Wilson

         10  issued the first National Fire Prevention Day

         11  proclamation. Every year since then NFPA has worked

         12  to mark this event not as a party or a celebration,

         13  but as an opportunity to reach out to all levels of

         14  the public and to educate them on the merits of fire

         15  safety issues.

         16                 This message is also carried through

         17  the youngest members of the public through the use

         18  of formalized educational curriculums with our Learn

         19  Not To Burn and Risk Watch Programs. These programs

         20  used in the classroom, even in the preschool

         21  environment are used to instill fire safety behavior

         22  and injury prevention attitudes at a very early age.

         23                 Some other programs that NFPA is

         24  involved with include a research foundation, public

         25  fire protection division, engineering division, fire
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          2  investigations program and fire analysis and

          3  research division. These groups all specialize in

          4  very specific areas and subjects and work to address

          5  various fire problems from different perspectives.

          6                 From that brief introduction to NFPA,

          7  I will now turn to the issue at hand.

          8                 New York City is not the only City in

          9  the US that has highrise buildings or that has

         10  highrise fires which tragically may result in the

         11  deaths of firefighters or civilians. One of those

         12  fires was mentioned earlier and I was on the

         13  investigation team, that was the fire in

         14  Philadelphia back in 1991 where three firefighters

         15  lost their lives.

         16                 It is not the only City that has to

         17  deal with ongoing enforcement of codes, citing

         18  building owners for unsafe conditions, whereas

         19  constantly trying to keep up with the myriad

         20  improvements the infrastructure that any

         21  municipality should be striving for.

         22                 The City is applauded for taking up

         23  the cause to look at what options are available to

         24  markedly improve the protection of residents,

         25  visitors and the firefighters of this City. It is
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          2  imperative however that you come to a meeting of the

          3  minds and provide a realistic protection scheme for

          4  your residential highrise properties.

          5                 As you may already be aware, the

          6  Vendelia Avenue fire and West 60th Street fire are

          7  not just under the microscope in this City but also

          8  in the rest of this country and thanks to the

          9  Internet the world. I also saw last night it made

         10  two pages of this week's People Magazine.

         11                 Without mincing words the proposed

         12  language of the amendments to Local Law 60 and Local

         13  Law 45 do not come close providing any meaningful

         14  protection.

         15                 I quote from an NFPA standard the

         16  following provisions. Sprinklers to be placed

         17  throughout premises including inside all closets,

         18  basements and elevator wells and under stairs, it is

         19  the province of automatic sprinklers to subdue a

         20  fire in its early stages. A fire originating in an

         21  unsprinklered section is liable to gain sufficient

         22  headway to prevent its being checked by the

         23  sprinklers and other portions. It is essential

         24  therefore that equipment be thorough.

         25                 If my grammar sounds as though it may
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          2  be off, I apologize. Apparently however this was

          3  appropriate language. The information I just recited

          4  is not from a recent fire protection study or a

          5  report, it is quoted verbatim from the 1896 addition

          6  of NFPA 13, standard for the installation of

          7  sprinkler systems. 103 years later this statement is

          8  still true today.

          9                 The partial installation of

         10  sprinklers is a tactic that must be weighed very

         11  carefully against other fire protection features

         12  that are present in the building.

         13                 Sprinkler systems are an effective

         14  tool of protecting both lives and property. But as

         15  proposed, the amendments to Local Laws 60 and 45 of

         16  the Administrative Code, fall way short of achieving

         17  such a goal.

         18                 Among the 300 codes and standards

         19  developed by NFPA, NFPA 101, life safety code, is

         20  one of the more widely recognized in-use codes in

         21  the US. It has served as the reference code for

         22  federal government agencies, such as OSHA with

         23  respect to fire safety issues in the employee work

         24  place, and it is used by the health care finance

         25  administration as the basis for evaluating the fire
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          2  protection aspects of health care facilities which

          3  receive Medicare, Medicaid reimbursement.

          4                 In addition, this code is also

          5  adopted in whole or in part in some 30 states and is

          6  used quite extensively outside of the US in the

          7  middle eastern region, the Far East and Latin

          8  America.

          9                 The scope and purpose of NFPA 101 are

         10  to address those construction protection and

         11  occupancy features necessary to minimize danger to

         12  life from fire, including smoke, fumes or panic.

         13  This approach to fire protection is not a one size

         14  fits all approach. It is dependent on several

         15  factors, including the nature of the building, the

         16  use of the building and the nature of the occupants.

         17                 Unique among codes in the world, NFPA

         18  101 is also segmented to address not only new

         19  construction but also existing construction.

         20                 NFPA 101 uses a balanced approach to

         21  providing an appropriate level of protection to the

         22  occupants. In other words, the level of fire safety

         23  is not only achieved with construction features or

         24  only with alarm and detection or only with

         25  sprinklers. It is done with the optimum combination
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          2  and contribution of these systems and features.

          3                 If you were to look at NFPA 101, and

          4  a copy was provided to the Council last week,

          5  Council staff that is, you would see that Chapter 18

          6  of the code governs new apartments and Chapter 19

          7  governs existing apartments. In both cases, NFPA 101

          8  carefully and thoughtfully regulates those features

          9  that can make these buildings safe from fire.

         10                 Among the features, the first one I

         11  have a list of, the means of egress features

         12  include, configuration and layout of the means of

         13  egress, the allowable travel distance to reach and

         14  exit enclosure, the separation requirements for an

         15  exit enclosure from the other areas of the building,

         16  such as a public corridor, the minimum width of

         17  these egress components and the proper illumination

         18  of these egress components. The various protection

         19  measures and features include, enclosure of vertical

         20  openings, separation of hazardous areas such as

         21  laundry and storage rooms, use of select interior

         22  floor, ceiling and wall finish materials, selection

         23  of appropriate detection alarm and communication

         24  systems, the installation of automatic fire

         25  sprinkler systems and fire barrier walls to separate
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          2  egress corridors from dwelling units.

          3                 NFPA 101 ends each of these

          4  respective chapters with several operating feature

          5  requirements that require the building occupants to

          6  receive emergency instructions on the procedures to

          7  be used in the event of a fire.

          8                 As you can see from this abbreviated

          9  list, NFPA 101 does not simply mandate the use of

         10  any single system or feature to achieve a necessary

         11  level of life safety for the building occupants. It

         12  is the synergistic effect of construction, building

         13  layout, detection and alarm, automatic sprinkler

         14  systems and operating features that results in a

         15  proper level of protection for the occupants.

         16                 The installation of the automatic

         17  sprinkler system must comply with the requirements

         18  of NFPA 13, standard for the installation of

         19  sprinkler systems.

         20                 In general, both NFPA 13, as well as

         21  NFPA 101, requires sprinklers to be installed

         22  throughout the building with few exceptions. These

         23  exceptions tend to be very limited to areas where a

         24  small percentage of fires may originate or where

         25  concealed spaces such as those found above a ceiling
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          2  are of non-combustable construction.

          3                 One of the areas where sprinklers are

          4  not required by NFPA 13 is exactly one of the areas

          5  where the proposed amendments would require

          6  sprinklers, mainly in the stairs. The current

          7  requirements in NFPA 13 exempts sprinkler protection

          8  in stairs of non-combustable construction, although

          9  one sprinkler is still required at the top of the

         10  stair and one sprinkler is required at the lowest

         11  landing levels.

         12                 Sprinklers work best when installed

         13  at points where the fire originates. If they are

         14  left in corridors only then there is a likelihood

         15  that only if the fire originates in the corridor

         16  will the sprinklers be of any benefit.

         17                 The West 60th Street fire and the

         18  Vendelia Avenue fire were typical in terms of fire

         19  origin, that is the fires originated in the dwelling

         20  unit and not in a corridor. Proposing any

         21  legislation that only puts sprinklers in the

         22  corridors of existing apartments is not going to

         23  necessarily improve the safety of occupants for

         24  firefighters except when the fire happens to

         25  originate in the corridor.
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          2                 As previously mentioned, one of the

          3  groups within NFPA is the Fire Analysis and Research

          4  Division. This group conducts annual studies and

          5  surveys on the fire problem in the US. US fire

          6  experience is viewed based upon any number of

          7  categories, including total fire loss and dollar

          8  amounts, fatal fires, fires by occupancy, fires by

          9  socioeconomic characteristic and fires resulting in

         10  fatalities to fire suppression personnel.

         11                 Among the reports I will leave with

         12  the Council today is one that shows the leading

         13  areas of origin for all fires and fatal fires in

         14  highrise apartments.

         15                 Fires that originate in the corridor

         16  of this occupancy group account for only five

         17  percent of total fires and only one percent of the

         18  total deaths. The leading areas of origin are all

         19  ones within the dwelling unit. This alone should

         20  show the need to carry the requirements into the

         21  dwelling unit for all of the fire protection

         22  systems, including fire alarm and detection systems

         23  and automatic sprinkler systems. Such systems must

         24  be installed with current practices and current

         25  standards to ensure that the proper materials,
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          2  designs and installations are utilized. Beyond the

          3  installation of the correct system, ongoing

          4  inspection, testing and maintenance of these life

          5  safety systems and features is imperative.

          6                 Building owners and developers make

          7  great efforts to typically do the best they can to

          8  properly maintain all of the buildings systems. Fire

          9  protection systems are no different. They require

         10  periodic maintenance and upkeep, just like the

         11  elevator system, carpet system or window system.

         12                 As I close my testimony, I would

         13  suggest that the Council look at what is best for

         14  fire safety and fire protection, and what I have

         15  seen this morning, you are doing exactly that.

         16                 The proposed amendments as shown are

         17  not practical. Other cities and some states have

         18  faced this issue and have had to make some very

         19  difficult and unpopular decisions. The decision you

         20  have before you on this particular issue should put

         21  this City in the forefront of fire protection. It is

         22  unheard of in this country to allow an unsprinklered

         23  highrise apartment to be constructed. It is also

         24  becoming less likely to hear of existing highrise

         25  buildings, regardless of use, to remain in use
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          2  without an automatic sprinkler system.

          3                 NFPA stands ready to work with you

          4  and the New York City Fire Department, the Building

          5  Department, the Housing Commission and the Real

          6  Estate Board to do what is necessary to establish a

          7  set of enforceable and meaningful regulations for

          8  all of New York City's highrise properties. And once

          9  again, thank you for the opportunity you have given

         10  me today to speak on this issue, and I will be happy

         11  to answer any questions that you may have.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, we thank

         13  you for your patience. I know that you have spent,

         14  as many of those who are still here, a number of

         15  hours here today.

         16                 Just one point that I would like

         17  clarification on. It says the partial installation

         18  of sprinklers is a tactic that must be weighed very

         19  carefully against other fire protection features

         20  that are present in the building. Now, would you

         21  care to comment on what you think could be

         22  eliminated from the present code if we include

         23  sprinklers? Or is there a point of redundancy?

         24                 MR. SOLOMON: Yes, there is when you

         25  start talking about installation of a complete
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          2  automatic sprinkler system. Our life safety code,

          3  NFPA 101, again which has a chapter for new

          4  apartments and existing apartments, for example, if

          5  you look at the provisions for new construction you

          6  will see a standing rule that says that corridor

          7  walls must be a one-hour construction. That meaning

          8  the wall between the dwelling unit and the corridor

          9  must be a one-hour wall. By exception, that rating

         10  is reduced to a 30-minute wall when the building is

         11  fully protected with an automatic sprinkler system.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is that a cost

         13  reduction?

         14                 MR. SOLOMON: Yes. That would end up

         15  being one of the cost reductions.

         16                 Another item that you would see that

         17  you would get a benefit from the installation of the

         18  automatic sprinkler system throughout, when we

         19  regulate the means of egress, meaning the path I

         20  have to take to get from any point in the building

         21  to a safe area outside the building, we measure the

         22  travel distance. The code establishes maximum travel

         23  distances. When sprinklers go into the building the

         24  travel distances stay within the dwelling unit

         25  itself, the apartment itself gets to be increased
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          2  from any point in the apartment unit to the door.

          3  That means I can maybe have a bigger apartment with

          4  a single door, and then we also have requirements

          5  then that regulate the travel distance from the door

          6  of that dwelling unit to the enclosed exit stair,

          7  that distance gets to be increased.

          8                 Now maybe the building only needs two

          9  stairs in it instead of three, now I have freed up

         10  some potential space to get another apartment unit

         11  in there.

         12                 So, the code has a number of things

         13  like that, when the sprinklers are there you get a

         14  break.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I think if

         16  anything has come out of this testimony today, these

         17  points, if there can be some offsetting factors,

         18  perhaps it will not be as difficult to push what is

         19  important.

         20                 So, thank you for taking the time.

         21  Let me ask some questions.

         22                 MR. SOLOMON: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What has been

         24  the experience of other jurisdictions regarding the

         25  affect of sprinklers on fire losses and on real
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          2  estate development and construction?

          3                 MR. SOLOMON: I guess on fire losses,

          4  again I have got a big stack of stuff for Mike here,

          5  I am going to leave it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are glad I

          7  asked that question?

          8                 MR. SOLOMON: Yes.

          9                 On fire losses, and it was alluded to

         10  this morning, somebody quoted from one of our fire

         11  analysis reports that had the statement about the

         12  NFPA has no record of a multiple fatality fire

         13  occurring in a building with complete automatic

         14  sprinkler protection where the system was

         15  operational, that is derived from a report called US

         16  Experience With Sprinklers, Who Has Them? How Well

         17  Does That Work? That information is captured in

         18  there and it will show some trends. Again, this is

         19  measured nationwide, if it would be a benefit to the

         20  City we could probably slice it for New York City,

         21  the Fire Analysis Group could potentially do that,

         22  but nationwide we see that the property losses are

         23  perhaps 20 percent of what would be in a

         24  non-sprinklered identical property. Again, the life

         25  safety record, that statement of having no record of
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          2  a multiple fatality fire, that goes back to about

          3  1900, so it doesn't need a whole lot of explanation.

          4                 Other cities and jurisdictions,

          5  somebody mentioned I think earlier the highrise

          6  retrofit law in the State of Massachusetts, that

          7  became effective in 1986. The State gave every

          8  highrise building and I when was down here the other

          9  day I made the off-the-cuff comment that the

         10  Manhattan Borough has more highrises than our entire

         11  state. But what we are seeing is, we have had, I can

         12  think of one fire in the Prudential building about

         13  three weeks ago in downtown Boston, that fire didn't

         14  go anywhere but it was the fire in 1986 in that

         15  building that required the fire office building to

         16  be emptied.

         17                 So, our experience in the commercial

         18  buildings has been good, the experience that we have

         19  seen. We typically don't go out and investigate

         20  fatal fires in sprinklered highrise apartment

         21  buildings. We are conducting investigations with the

         22  New York City Fire Department on both the fires that

         23  occurred here last month, but we have never been in

         24  a fire investigation on a residential property that

         25  had a sprinkler system.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And then

          3  answer the second question on construction.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: In terms of

          5  deterrent, have you seen a decrease or deterrent --

          6                 MR. SOLOMON: No. That is a legitimate

          7  concern. The concern comes up whenever a city or

          8  state jurisdiction is looking at that. That concern

          9  also comes up when changes are being proposed to our

         10  own code or to one of the other regional codes in

         11  the United States. As I said it is a valid point,

         12  but, you know, we have got a highrise law in

         13  Massachusetts that applies to new, it applies to

         14  existing, and I have not seen the construction trend

         15  in our area. As a matter of fact, on our property we

         16  are putting up a new four-story building there with

         17  sprinklers.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Solomon.

         20                 MR. SOLOMON: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Cahill. Mr.

         22  Cahill, is he here? Followed by David Vandor. Is he

         23  here?

         24                 MR. ABBATE: Mr. Cahill had to leave,

         25  but I am with the same group, is that all right? I
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          2  am on the list, Mr. Abbate.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

          4                 MR. ABBATE: Mr. Chairman, thank you

          5  for the opportunity to speak here today.

          6                 My name is Bill Abbate, I represent

          7  the Steamfitters, Enterprise Association of

          8  Steamfitters, Local 638. We install at least 90

          9  percent of the fire sprinklers installed in the City

         10  of New York working for competent fire protection

         11  contractors.

         12                 A lot of what I wanted to say has

         13  already been adequately covered, but I do want to

         14  bring up a few points on, technical points on

         15  various systems, that I don't think the questions

         16  were adequately answered. But prior to that I want

         17  to say that a year ago we sat in this Council

         18  Chamber and there was a bill to be proposed by the

         19  fire sprinkler systems in apartment buildings. And

         20  at that time we had urged that the Council pass a

         21  fire sprinkler bill to be signed by the Mayor. It

         22  did not get passed into law.

         23                 At that time my comment was I am

         24  concerned about New York's finest, how many firemen

         25  will we lose before New York City passes a bill for
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          2  residential structures, how many residents will die

          3  before we pass a residential structure law to cover

          4  them for fire protection.

          5                 A year later we are still addressing

          6  a bill. People have died. We certainly don't want

          7  this system to go on for many more years, and I do

          8  understand that there has to be due diligence in

          9  determining what is the proper way to protect our

         10  citizenry and our Fire Department, that I do

         11  understand.

         12                 I just wanted to clarify a couple of

         13  comments that were made. It is a generally known

         14  fact, sprinklers save lives, and it has been

         15  adequately brought out here that when there has been

         16  a properly maintained and installed sprinkler

         17  system, no one dies, whether you are knocked out,

         18  sleeping, not home, whatever, no one dies.

         19                 Another factor was brought out here.

         20  Due to the economies, this tremendous amount of

         21  economies of construction when you install a proper

         22  fire sprinkler system. So the cost of the fire

         23  sprinkler system is definitely offset by the

         24  economies found in the building.

         25                 Now, it is ironic that the Building
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          2  Department today, the representative, I forget the

          3  gentleman's name, testified in favor of fire

          4  sprinklers in residences. That same gentleman last

          5  year spoke about not the need for fire sprinkler

          6  systems in residences, due to the fact that the

          7  structures are built fireproof. And as was

          8  adequately brought out by a prior speaker, there

          9  really are no fireproof structures. They are fire

         10  resistant to a point. It is rated in hours.

         11  Everything is rated in hours.

         12                 If a sprinkler head is properly

         13  installed and in an apartment or in a room, no

         14  matter how hot that fire gets, that sprinkler will

         15  put that fire out, before it becomes of the

         16  magnitude to cause death or severe injury. Very

         17  rarely do two fire sprinklers go off in the same

         18  space, that is how well they work. Normally one fire

         19  sprinkler handles any fire at all.

         20                 Now, Mr. Muss had brought out a point

         21  regarding concrete plank structures. I will say that

         22  in a concrete plank structure or any other

         23  structure, whatever the ceiling height is, to

         24  install a fire protection system in an apartment,

         25  you do not need to penetrate the ceilings, you do
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          2  not need to drop the ceiling. They use what they

          3  call sidewall heads. We can estimate that there is

          4  approximately one head per room, because one head

          5  will cover 20 by 20, 20 feet by 20 foot square room,

          6  naturally if it is a bigger room you would need two

          7  heads. But in any rate, the piping is installed in

          8  the corner, the ceiling corner, and it is usually

          9  covered up by a very discrete moulding, either a

         10  wooden moulding or a plastic moulding. Because

         11  typically it is anywhere's from an inch and a half

         12  pipe to an inch and a quarter pipe to one inch pipe,

         13  and it can be readily hidden. It does cost a few

         14  dollars to hide it, there is no question about it,

         15  but certainly you don't have to increase the height

         16  of the structure to put a fire system in the

         17  ceiling. You do not have to hang the ceiling to

         18  conceal any piping, because the piping does not have

         19  to go in, in the ceiling.

         20                 Another point on a cost saving

         21  matter, certainly all of the highrise buildings have

         22  fire standpipe systems already in place. Most of

         23  these highrise apartment houses, I think if surveys

         24  are done the water supply and the piping system are

         25  already in place in the building that services the
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          2  fire hose reels on every floor, and also service the

          3  sprinkler system. I cannot guarantee that each and

          4  every case it will, but certainly most of these

          5  situations it will.

          6                 Another point brought out was the

          7  fire in Brooklyn. That is not your typical fire

          8  sprinkler system installed in the City of New York.

          9  In fact, if that building was only occupied by

         10  regular residents, if it was not an old age home,

         11  the City code would not require any sprinklers in

         12  that building except in the basement where there is

         13  storage. But because it was federally subsidized as

         14  an old age home, the federal government required

         15  sprinkler systems. That is the code that has to be

         16  followed. That is why those fire sprinkler systems,

         17  those rises were taken off of plumbing systems, the

         18  Fire Department or the management of the structure

         19  had no knowledge of the valve that was shut off.

         20                 Typically in a New York City

         21  certified fire sprinkler situation, there is a fire

         22  main in the basement, it comes in and it is an

         23  exclusive main and there are switches on the valve.

         24  That fire main only services the fire service in the

         25  building, standpipe or fire sprinkler. If anyone
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          2  shuts a valve off at all, there are very few valves

          3  and it is there for a reason so no one can shut them

          4  off. But in the event someone does shut them off,

          5  there is a tamper switch on the valve that sends an

          6  electrical signal back to ADP or one of the other

          7  enunciated companies, and possibly the Fire

          8  Department. And if those systems are properly

          9  installed, which they are always properly installed,

         10  and always properly inspected, they do not fail.

         11                 I would urge this body to move this

         12  legislation or some form of this legislation so we

         13  don't have to be back here in a year or two to talk

         14  about more people dying.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Abbate, you

         17  heard reference made to some offsetting changes in

         18  the code, do you have any thoughts on areas that if

         19  we did mandate sprinklers that we could eliminate?

         20                 MR. ABBATE: Well, certainly, as the

         21  gentleman, the prior speaker from the NFPA had

         22  adequately stated, when you install, properly

         23  install a fire sprinkler system, there are many

         24  other things that you can eliminate.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, would you
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          2  work with the Committee in trying to identify?

          3                 MR. ABBATE: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you.

          5                 MR. ABBATE: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right, David

          7  Vandor, Mort Hirsch. I know David Vandor, that is

          8  not David Vandor.

          9                 MR. HIRSCH: No, he is not here.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Hirsch?

         11                 MR. HIRSCH: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Followed

         13  by Herbert Mandel, Frank Ricci, Mark Muscaro, Arthur

         14  Harris.

         15                 MR. HIRSCH: My name is Morton Hirsch,

         16  I have been in the fire protection industry for

         17  nearly 50 years. I am a professional fire protection

         18  engineer, a licensed master plumber, a fire

         19  suppression contractor in several states, a member

         20  of the NFPA, New York Sprinkler Contractors

         21  Association, American Society of Sanitary Engineers,

         22  the American Society of Plumbing Engineers, Bomar

         23  and a consultant with the Real Estate Board.

         24                 It is my position through years of

         25  experience that only a fully automatic sprinkler
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          2  building throughout every nook and crany can give

          3  the occupants of the buildings full fire protection.

          4  That means that Intro. 198 should be amended to

          5  include sprinklers through all living spaces,

          6  apartments, the hallways, the stairwells, and in

          7  every area throughout the building in new and

          8  existing buildings. No one knows where a fire can

          9  start. A fire can start in the most inconspicuous

         10  and most unbelievable spaces.

         11                 Fireproof buildings may be fire

         12  retarded, but the contents when inflamed make these

         13  buildings ovens, with temperatures in excess of

         14  2,000 degrees, high enough to melt steel.

         15                 Only when the fire is in the

         16  incipient stage will the fire sprinklers do their

         17  job of containing and extinguishing the fire. A fire

         18  extinguished in the incipient stage does not give

         19  off poisonous gases that can kill and injure the

         20  occupants and the firefighters. As a contractor and

         21  a businessman, we all realize and appreciate the

         22  tremendous cost and financial burden that this

         23  program will bear.

         24                 Based upon $2.50 per square foot

         25  cost, the program for all existing residential homes
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          2  in New York will be about a $6 billion program.

          3                 Over the lifespan of a New York City

          4  resident, it comes out to $750 a person. The net

          5  costs come to under a dollar per month per person.

          6                 Further savings will be achieved by a

          7  condensed more efficient future fire department. In

          8  order to achieve the results of fully sprinkling the

          9  apartment, a program must be ascertained to do the

         10  work in phases over a 30-year span, with sprinklers

         11  in all public areas and stairwells in phase I.

         12                 Over 30 years when tenants change

         13  apartments or tenants sell apartments, such as

         14  co-ops and condos, the installation can be done

         15  within those apartments. The mains would already be

         16  installed in the public spaces and then it would

         17  take less than a day to install sprinklers in most

         18  apartments. The cost would equate the cost of a good

         19  paint job and less than low price wall-to-wall

         20  carpeting.

         21                 I am also asking insurance companies

         22  to consider deductions of premiums specifically in

         23  liability area insurance. A further look towards

         24  government for tax relief incentive, such as J-51

         25  and other programs or other creative programs that
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          2  this Committee can come up with that would be

          3  reasonable and helpful to accomplish the task.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Herbert Mandel,

          6  Mark Ginsburg.

          7                 MR. GINSBURG: I am Mark Ginsburg and

          8  this is Herbert Mandel. We are both architects

          9  representing the New York Housing Conference, a

         10  broadbased coalition of the affordable housing

         11  community in New York City.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: New York City

         13  and New York State?

         14                 MR. GINSBURG: New York City.

         15                 We thank you for this opportunity to

         16  make our presentation. We are here to discuss the

         17  implications of sprinklering residential buildings

         18  on affordable housing in New York City and want to

         19  stress that it is very important to maintain and

         20  improve building safety. However, in your

         21  deliberations, there are ways to mitigate the impact

         22  this will have on affordable housing which we are

         23  going to discuss.

         24                 The proposals could have a

         25  significant negative impact on the production of
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          2  affordable housing by increasing the cost of

          3  construction by approximately three or four dollars

          4  a square foot in new buildings.

          5                 This raises the following concerns:

          6  It will have the biggest impact on housing for the

          7  poorest New Yorkers.

          8                 At present, a large majority of the

          9  population cannot afford the cost of market rate

         10  housing, new construction and market rate housing,

         11  and this majority could increase with this proposal.

         12  To maintain the present low level of publicly

         13  assisted housing production, a significant increase

         14  in the subsidies by the City will be required.

         15                 Major impacts on smaller buildings

         16  and small landlords could increase the prospects of

         17  abandonment. Major issues for you to review as you

         18  consider these proposals, one are code changes to

         19  reduce the impact of sprinklering, Herbert Mandel

         20  will detail this in a minute. Increase funding to

         21  HPD and other City agencies to offset the increased

         22  costs to maintain the current low level of housing

         23  production. Tax abatements to offset the cost of

         24  retrofits will not help non-profits which do not pay

         25  property tax. Public funding will be needed, a good

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            257

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  model would be the low-flow toilet proposal and

          3  program that the City has undertaken in the last few

          4  years.

          5                 Finally, maintenance and education

          6  are as critical as installing the sprinklers to

          7  prevent some of the problems as have previously been

          8  discussed.

          9                 Herbert Mandel will now talk about

         10  some of the more specific code issues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Mandel.

         12                 MR. MANDEL: Thank you.

         13                 Before I begin I just want to clarify

         14  a point. I am sorry that Councilwoman Marshall is

         15  not here because I think that with all due respect

         16  to the gentleman who testified for the Steamfitters,

         17  that in any building where there are more than 20

         18  sprinklers, a sprinkler service, a separate

         19  sprinkler service is required so that --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How expensive is

         21  that?

         22                 MR. MANDEL: Well, it probably would

         23  cost something in the neighborhood of $10,000 to

         24  bring a sprinkler service into a building, because

         25  you are required to make a tap, you are required to
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          2  put something called the double detector check valve

          3  on the in-coming service that is a requirement of

          4  the Environmental Protection Administration and so

          5  on. And I did want to make that clear because in

          6  terms of retrofitting these buildings that have to

          7  be done, you are not going to do that off the

          8  existing in-coming service by splitting it as it

          9  comes in the building. It is all new, the whole

         10  thing, from beginning to end, if there are more than

         11  20 sprinklers in that building.

         12                 I don't think anyone here is going to

         13  disagree if I say that cost benefit doesn't apply to

         14  human life. It does however relate to the ability to

         15  build affordable housing for the middle class and to

         16  serve the elderly, the poor and the disadvantaged of

         17  this City.

         18                 While it is true that building codes

         19  in many areas of the country require sprinklers, and

         20  that is of course a fact, it is important to

         21  remember that the codes that require these

         22  sprinklers are meant for application over a broad

         23  range of communities, many of which have volunteer

         24  Fire Department charged with the protection of large

         25  numbers of small buildings which is spread out over
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          2  the large areas. And so when you get a code like

          3  BOCA (phonetic), BOCA is designed for communities

          4  that have those problems, as well as the inter-city,

          5  and they don't differentiate between the two.

          6                 We are fortunate, of course, in this

          7  City, of having the finest Fire Department in the

          8  country, and the average response time for the New

          9  York City Fire Department to their credit is just a

         10  little bit over four minutes in New York City. That

         11  is an amazing statistic, a little over four minutes

         12  of response time to a fire.

         13                 At the same time, we have the highest

         14  construction costs in the country, and this makes

         15  the implementation of housing for the poor and the

         16  middle class impossible without the presence of

         17  significant amounts of financial subsidy.

         18                 In many instances, even when the

         19  design and construction requirements of a program

         20  become more stringent, the subsidy amounts remain

         21  the same, and this leads to the inevitable dilemma

         22  as to how to cover the additional costs. The usual

         23  solution is to further reduce the already low levels

         24  of amenity in these buildings to pay for the new

         25  elements of cost.
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          2                 This is exactly what happened four

          3  years ago when HUD introduced the requirement for

          4  sprinklers in any building over five stories. We now

          5  design housing for the elderly under the HUD 202

          6  program, for the same dollar amounts that were

          7  available prior to the sprinkler requirement as they

          8  are now. And therefore, since you have to find the

          9  money some place, what you do is you take it out of

         10  the amenities that are in the building.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As the offset --

         12                 MR. MANDEL: As the offsets that we

         13  are using.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Like what are

         15  the amenities, for example, door knobs?

         16                 MR. MANDEL: Well, it goes right

         17  through the whole building. It goes through every

         18  element of the -- these buildings are not palaces to

         19  begin with, as we all know, and what we are trying

         20  to do is we are working very, very hard to avoid

         21  building great big warehouses to throw people into

         22  just because that is what we can get built for the

         23  dollars that are available. And everyone has to

         24  understand that this is a real constraint that we

         25  have to live with.
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          2                 So, when we have -- for example, when

          3  the City enacted the size mic (phonetic)

          4  requirements, HUD did not increase the available

          5  funding one nickel for these buildings.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That was only

          7  supposed to result in a one percent increase.

          8                 MR. MANDEL: Well, you could call it

          9  one percent. But I think --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: My one percent

         11  is a good deal -- your one percent is a good deal

         12  less to me than it is --

         13                 MR. MANDEL: It is a lot of money. It

         14  is a lot of money no matter how you cut it.

         15                 So, what we are talking about is

         16  critically important as sprinklering becomes a

         17  requirement in New York City and that is inevitable,

         18  I think we agree.

         19                 That the legislation be sensitive to

         20  the issues of cost. There are ways in which to save

         21  money and still have high levels of fire

         22  suppression.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is where

         24  you come in.

         25                 MR. MANDEL: Plastic pipe should be
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          2  fitted for use. It is now commonly accepted.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Who is going to

          4  object to plastic pipes?

          5                 MR. MANDEL: Well, I don't know.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And why?

          7                 MR. MANDEL: I don't know. But it is

          8  something which is on the table, it is acceptable,

          9  it is less expensive by far than the materials that

         10  we are using now.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That will reduce

         12  costs substantially?

         13                 MR. MANDEL: Yes, sir. It will reduce

         14  the cost of the system.

         15                 Single fire service connections

         16  without double detector check valves, the roof tank

         17  should be permitted. You know, when you have a

         18  building in mid-block in New York City and there is

         19  a single water main running in front of that

         20  building, you are forced to not only bring a fire

         21  service in, but put a roof tank on top of the

         22  building because there is a single source of water.

         23                 On the other hand, if you happen to

         24  be at a corner and it is the same water main that is

         25  running around the corner and you can tap it in two
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          2  different directions, it is considered two sources

          3  of supply and you don't have to have a roof tank.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is the roof tank

          5  in effect essential?

          6                 MR. MANDEL: Well, it is only

          7  essential if the water supply fails, because you can

          8  do a fire suppression system without a roof tank, it

          9  is done in many, many buildings. You have to put a

         10  fire pump into the building, it saves money. It is

         11  another cost saving.

         12                 We should not be sprinklering

         13  bathrooms and closets. Fires rarely begin in closets

         14  or in bathrooms, and so we can do a very, very good

         15  job of fire suppression without sprinklering

         16  bathrooms and closets because it adds tremendously

         17  to the cost, every time you add a head you are

         18  adding money.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What about a

         20  foyer?

         21                 MR. MANDEL: Yes, foyers should be

         22  sprinklered.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Even though they

         24  could be ten by ten or eight by eight or five by

         25  five.
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          2                 MR. MANDEL: Yes. A space within the

          3  apartment, a bedroom, living room, kitchen, foyer,

          4  those are areas that should be sprinklered, but we

          5  needn't sprinkler every little nook and corner

          6  because in a situation where we might need five

          7  sprinkler heads to really cover the apartment, we

          8  could easily end up with ten if we have to go into

          9  all of these --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And each head is

         11  an expense.

         12                 MR. MANDEL: Each head is an expense,

         13  that's correct. That's correct. It is an expense

         14  right back to the main because everything is done by

         15  hydraulic calculation, the more heads you put on the

         16  system, the bigger the piping gets. The bigger the

         17  piping gets, the more difficult it is to fit into

         18  the building.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I see.

         20                 MR. MANDEL: We are, by the way, we

         21  are building buildings in New York City right now

         22  under a HUD standard that requires that they be

         23  fully sprinklered and they are fully sprinklered

         24  without sprinklering bathrooms and closets by virtue

         25  of an agreement between the Building Department and
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          2  HUD and we believe that they are very effectively

          3  protected.

          4                 If the legislation is not sensitive

          5  to these implications of cost, then they are going

          6  to become moot, because our housing production is

          7  going to suffer terribly and we won't get any

          8  housing built, and therefore it won't matter if we

          9  get sprinklers or not because we won't get the

         10  housing. And that is really the crux of the issue.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Mandel, I

         12  want to thank you for your testimony.

         13                 MR. MANDEL: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we will

         15  certainly avail ourselves to your expertise and your

         16  point of view as we proceed with this legislation.

         17                 MR. MANDEL: I am happy to help.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Frank Ricci,

         19  John Doyle, Mark Muscaro, next. Followed by Arthur

         20  Harris.

         21                 And let me read off the list of those

         22  still to testify. Arthur Harris, Richard Cantor,

         23  Alfred Longhitano, Anne Cunningham, Michael Nelson,

         24  Fire Marshal Carl Havens. Those are the gentlemen

         25  and ladies who still remain to testify.
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          2                 Identify yourself, please.

          3                 MR. RICCI: Mr. Chairman, my name is

          4  Frank Ricci, I am with the Rent Stabilization

          5  Association of New York City, we represent most of

          6  the residential building owners of multiple

          7  dwellings in all five boroughs.

          8                 I know you have heard a lot of

          9  testimony today and I am going to be very brief.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I thank you for

         11  your patience as well.

         12                 MR. RICCI: No problem. Clearly the

         13  Intro. 198 which was the Intro that was on for

         14  hearing today does not seem, from everything I have

         15  heard today, to be the final piece of legislation. I

         16  just wanted to say that RSA stands ready to work

         17  with you and your Committee and any other people who

         18  testify here today to craft any future legislation

         19  that is going to ultimately result in safer

         20  buildings in terms of fire protection, and as the

         21  previous speaker said, also keeping in mind the

         22  important housing component and how it affects that.

         23                 So, I think it would be pointless at

         24  this point for me to go into --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask you
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          2  first, your organization represents primarily

          3  existing buildings --

          4                 MR. RICCI: Existing building owners.

          5  And for the most part, most of our members are not

          6  highrise owners, but for those who are, we are

          7  especially concerned about whatever retroactive

          8  component might be put in any ultimate legislation.

          9  We have the same concerns as the prior speakers do,

         10  and in fact many of his members are also our

         11  members.

         12                 I think with that I will turn it over

         13  to John Doyle.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Doyle, if

         15  you will identify yourself.

         16                 MR. DOYLE: Yes.

         17                 My name is John Doyle, I am Senior

         18  Vice President for Government Affairs of the Real

         19  Estate Board of New York, and I would like to read a

         20  statement that was prepared for Steven Spinola, the

         21  President of the Real Estate Board.

         22                 The Real Estate Board of New York

         23  representing owners, builders and managers of

         24  highrise, residential and commercial property is

         25  committed to providing the highest level of life and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            268

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  fire safety to the occupants of multi-family

          3  residences. We are proud that our resident highrise

          4  apartment buildings are built to the highest safety

          5  standards and that their safety record is

          6  unsurpassed.

          7                 However, in light of the recent

          8  apartment building fires, we recognize that the City

          9  Council and the Administration find that public

         10  policy changes are necessary to further strengthen

         11  confidence in the safety of apartment houses.

         12  Therefore, we will support legislation to require

         13  sprinklers in newly constructed residential

         14  buildings.

         15                 At the same time, though, if we are

         16  changing our codes to conform to the rest of the

         17  country with respect to sprinklering new

         18  construction, then it is essential to allow the

         19  types of construction and materials used in the rest

         20  of the country.

         21                 New York City has a long-term housing

         22  crisis. The real financial crisis is the cost of

         23  producing housing, not the cost of installing

         24  sprinklers. It is tenants and apartment owners who

         25  pay the price, the cost of new housing is way beyond
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          2  the reach of most New Yorkers.

          3                 We must address this issue by making

          4  housing more affordable, including adopting

          5  proposals such as that which we have worked on with

          6  the AIA and New York Housing Conference to make

          7  housing less costly to build and allowing the use of

          8  less costly construction materials such as plastic

          9  pipe.

         10                 Public education is the single most

         11  important thing that we can do right now to increase

         12  public safety, with the Fire Department, other

         13  industry associations, we are undertaking a public

         14  information public safety campaign. We are asking

         15  our members to distribute information to the

         16  occupants of the buildings they own or manage about

         17  what to do in the event of a fire and simultaneously

         18  reinforcing training for building employees.

         19                 Over the last decade and with the

         20  assistance of the Fire Department, we have held

         21  seminars for building employees every 18 months,

         22  distributed hundreds of thousands of safety

         23  brochures to occupants of multi-family buildings and

         24  developed guidelines for building employees for

         25  action in the event of an emergency and for
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          2  preventing fires.

          3                 We are also asking our members to

          4  distribute this information when they issue new and

          5  renewal leases. We hope to help government shape a

          6  feasible law that fosters public safety. We offer to

          7  work with the City Council and the Administration as

          8  you consider these issues.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Doyle, Mr. Ricci.

         12                 Mr. Harris. Mr. Muscaro. Oh.

         13                 MR. MUSCARO: Good afternoon, ladies

         14  and gentlemen.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good afternoon.

         16                 MR. MUSCARO: I am Mark Muscaro, and I

         17  am the Executive Vice President for the Building

         18  Industry Association of New York. Our members are

         19  primarily builders of one and two-family homes in

         20  Staten Island, Brooklyn and the Bronx. Primarily

         21  Staten Island in the neighborhood of 30 homes a week

         22  are being put up. And these are basically targeted

         23  to young families, new home owners, this is entry

         24  level middle class housing. And my membership asked

         25  me to come today, and on very little notice, so I
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          2  apologize for the holes that you will find in my

          3  research, but to come and to speak against the

          4  potential for including sprinklers in low-rise

          5  residential development of one- and two-family homes

          6  and townhouses.

          7                 While it is true that there are

          8  significant fires in one and two-family houses, the

          9  question that begs to be asked is how old are these

         10  houses? Are these houses that are hosting fires, are

         11  they the ones that are in fact meeting modern fire

         12  code, or do they have two-hour fire rated walls

         13  between units? Do they have fire resistant materials

         14  mandated for the outside? Do they have mandatory

         15  smoke detectors? The answer you will find is no, and

         16  I say that with a degree of experience because I ran

         17  a fire prevention recognition program for the Staten

         18  Island Chamber of Commerce for a dozen years and I

         19  saw where the fires were and where they were not.

         20                 So, again, before you expand to

         21  include low-rise residential development, please

         22  look at the vintage of the homes.

         23                 The other question about cost, three

         24  to four dollars a square foot for a very small

         25  moderate starter home of 1,250 square feet, that is
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          2  $5,000 in cost, and that is going to be passed along

          3  to the home buyer, and these are the families of New

          4  York that can absolutely least afford that kind of

          5  an increase in housing costs.

          6                 So, again, the impact is, if this is

          7  incorporated into the proposal, and I know that

          8  Council Member Michels asked the question earlier as

          9  to why would we exempt one and two-family homes. So,

         10  I would go back and say that these one and two

         11  family homes are the ones that could least absorb

         12  this kind of housing increase.

         13                 They should be exempt again for all

         14  of the obvious reasons that these houses are the

         15  ones that are the most accessible to fire

         16  departments, the ones that provide the best egress

         17  and those kinds of issues and the ones whose

         18  existing code has substantially lessened the threat

         19  of fire.

         20                 There are also some other issues that

         21  people raised to me that really don't relate to

         22  residential, low-rise residential development I want

         23  to share with you because I heard them here. Council

         24  Member Marshall had brought up a number of times the

         25  question of retrofitting buildings. And my state
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          2  association, the New York State Builders

          3  Association, very clearly points out that the State

          4  construction code does in fact include a

          5  compensation clause for fire prevention systems. I

          6  don't have the details. This was left for me on an

          7  answering machine message yesterday, so I don't have

          8  the details. But in fact the State code should be a

          9  source of information about the compensation due for

         10  the owners of existing buildings.

         11                 Another question that came up again,

         12  not about my members, but why are sprinklers

         13  routinely turned off in housing developments? Well,

         14  it is a pretty basic question, you have got bored

         15  adolescents who use a lighter to set off the

         16  sprinkler. It is a form of vandalism, it is a form

         17  of adolescent play, and I don't know if there is a

         18  penalty for it but if in fact they do that a couple

         19  of times, the super is going to shut off the

         20  sprinkler system. This I got at a community board

         21  meeting last night on a completely unrelated issue.

         22  So, I don't know if there is a penalty in place the

         23  way there used to be for when you pulled the fire

         24  alarm box, but if there is not, setting off the

         25  sprinkler system should definitely carry a penalty.
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          2                 That is really what I would want to

          3  say, other than to stress the fact that we really

          4  cannot afford to raise the cost, as you have heard

          5  it from other speakers, to raise the cost eventually

          6  of housing in the City of New York, and I will

          7  certainly get the stuff to you in some form other

          8  than legal pad.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you intend

         10  submitting a statement in writing? I would encourage

         11  you to do that.

         12                 MR. MUSCARO: Yes, I will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Because it would

         14  ensure that your point of view and your thoughts

         15  would receive consideration as we review the

         16  testimony and the statement that has been submitted.

         17                 MR. MUSCARO: I certainly will do

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we encourage

         20  you to be in touch with Counsel, Terzah Nasser, and

         21  other members of the Council.

         22                 MR. MUSCARO: Thank you very much.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Richard Cantor.

         25                 MR. CANTOR: My name is Richard
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          2  Cantor, and I came here today in my capacity as a

          3  New York State licensed fire alarm instructor to

          4  share my opinions with the City Council.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Installer you

          6  said?

          7                 MR. CANTOR: I am a licensed fire

          8  alarm instructor.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Instructor?

         10                 MR. CANTOR: Right.

         11                 That is the capacity in which I came

         12  to meet with you today.

         13                 I want to share my thoughts and my

         14  opinions on how to reduce the unacceptably high

         15  number of fire fatalities in New York City, as does

         16  everyone who has testified today.

         17                 December was an especially tragic

         18  month, and since the recent fires have killed three

         19  firefighters in Brooklyn and four residents of a

         20  building in Manhattan, we have heard all sorts of

         21  proposals of what to do from installing sprinkler

         22  systems to enunciators to practicing fire escape

         23  drills.

         24                 Although they are well meaning, most

         25  of the suggestions are seriously flawed. We should
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          2  examine what is the status of current methods of

          3  fire protection in New York City, and where they are

          4  inadequate. The quick answer to that is that current

          5  building codes in New York City were primarily

          6  designed to protect the integrity of buildings, and

          7  they do a very excellent job of doing so. But they

          8  were not designed primarily to save human lives.

          9                 Proof of this is borne out by the

         10  tragic loss of life we have every year. Certainly if

         11  20 buildings had burnt to the ground since early

         12  December, the City Council would be besieged to

         13  enact means to stem these losses.

         14                 Well, we have had 20 lives lost since

         15  early December, and so it is time to focus on what

         16  will safe lives.

         17                 First let me tell you in my opinion

         18  what will not save many lives and then I will tell

         19  you why.

         20                 What will not save lives in my

         21  opinion may surprise you. Despite the tremendous

         22  pressure to enact a law to require sprinkler

         23  systems, and despite the proven effectiveness of

         24  sprinkler systems, which no one denies, they would

         25  not be very effective in New York City in reducing
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          2  the number of fire death.

          3                 As Speaker Vallone indicated in his

          4  opening remarks, we have an outstanding building

          5  code in New York City that protects buildings

          6  themselves and makes them fireproof, therefore, in

          7  New York City installing sprinkler systems will not

          8  save many lives and are not the answer to the

          9  problem.

         10                 Let me tell you why. Building codes

         11  in New York are already strong enough to prevent the

         12  rapid spread of fire. Adding sprinklers in most

         13  cases therefore is redundant to a large degree. It

         14  is smoke, not flames nor heat, that is the primary

         15  killer in residential fires. Sprinkler systems do

         16  not detect smoke and do not react to smoke. Any

         17  people sleeping in a unit of fire origin are

         18  provided very little safety and protection from

         19  sprinkler systems, and if the fire originates in a

         20  sleeping area, sprinklers provide virtually no life

         21  safety protections. They would not even activate

         22  until long after the residents succumb to smoke

         23  inhalation.

         24                 Those who are familiar with highrise

         25  fires can cite numerous cases where fatalities from
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          2  smoke occurred far away from the actual fire.

          3                 In fact, the people who were killed

          4  in the recent fire on the upper west side were

          5  killed by smoke many floors above the fire.

          6                 In addition to this, there is a far

          7  more practical side to why sprinklers are not the

          8  answer. New York City has over 100,000 existing

          9  residential buildings housing, as we heard testimony

         10  before, 2 million or approximately 2 million

         11  residents. It would be far too costly, far too

         12  disruptive and take far too long to retrofit all of

         13  these buildings. It just won't happen. Public

         14  resistance to the cost and inconvenience, the

         15  disruption, would be insurmountable, therefore

         16  requiring sprinklers in new construction or in

         17  addition, requiring sprinklers in new construction

         18  would do nothing to protect the overwhelming

         19  majority of our citizens already in existing

         20  housing.

         21                 Any solution to the residential fire

         22  problem must meet a number of conditions:

         23                 Number one, it must be affordable.

         24                 Number two, it must apply to existing

         25  housing units as well as new construction.
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          2                 Number three, it must attack the

          3  issues of life safety.

          4                 Number four, they must be easy and

          5  quick to install.

          6                 Number five, it must cause a minimum

          7  of disruption and dislocation.

          8                 Number six, it must meet the code and

          9  other legal and insurance requirements.

         10                 Number seven, it must be acceptable

         11  to the public.

         12                 Number eight, it must, above all, be

         13  effective in saving human lives.

         14                 Early warning fire detection systems,

         15  consisting of photoelectric smoke detectors in every

         16  dwelling unit meet all of these criteria. Moreover,

         17  they are the only thing that meet all of these

         18  criteria.

         19                 Unfortunately, that is only part of

         20  the answer. The part of the answer that is very

         21  straightforward is an early warning photoelectric

         22  smoke detectors in every dwelling unit tied into a

         23  building fire alarm system, connected to the Fire

         24  Department, are the most effective and practical

         25  means of saving lives from fires. It is as simple as
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          2  that. It has been said that the first two minutes

          3  are more important than the next two hours in

          4  knocking down a fire. Time is of the essence.

          5                 With early warning fire detection,

          6  time -- I am sorry. Without early warning fire

          7  detection, time is your enemy. With early warning

          8  fire detection, time is on your side.

          9                 Dr. Frank Field produced an excellent

         10  videotape entitled getting out alive. It emphasized

         11  this point dramatically. The fire in Brooklyn wasn't

         12  even reported for at least 15 minutes, according to

         13  the testimony of the Fire Commissioner. We can be

         14  pretty certain that the results would have been far

         15  different if the fire unit could arrive 15 minutes

         16  earlier at that fire.

         17                 But there is actually a more

         18  important issue that should be addressed even before

         19  discussing early warning fire alarms. The issue is

         20  the building fire codes related to residential fire

         21  safety.

         22                 New York codes in this area are so

         23  outdated as to be out of touch with the times. I am

         24  neither a politician nor a bureaucrat and therefore

         25  ask you to forgive my naivete', but I find it
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          2  disgraceful and evil that our code is so outdated.

          3  To me it is the fire codes, more than any other

          4  single factor, that is responsible for fire

          5  fatalities in New York City.

          6                 Let me give you some specific reasons

          7  why.

          8                 1) The code still requires wire to be

          9  run in rigid threaded steel conduit. This is left

         10  over from the days when fire alarm systems were

         11  powered by line currents of 110 volts AC power,

         12  which was potentially life-threatening.

         13                 For over 30 years, however, fire

         14  alarms have been 12 or 24 volt DC, which pose no

         15  threat to life. Nevertheless, in New York City

         16  wiring for these systems is still required to be run

         17  in conduit. Nowhere else in the country is this

         18  required.

         19                 Number two, the code still requires

         20  costly and hazardous fuse cut-outs to be installed,

         21  which is another hold-over from 110 volt systems

         22  which is absolutely unnecessary for modern fire

         23  alarm systems, which all have back-up battery power.

         24                 Modern systems cannot be shut off by

         25  interrupting electrical power, they are all required
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          2  to have sufficient back-up battery power to run for

          3  a minimum of 24 hours and still activate a full fire

          4  alarm and report the loss of AC power so corrective

          5  measures can be taken long before the battery power

          6  runs out. Requiring a fuse cut-out is a useless

          7  waste of money.

          8                 3) Photoelectric smoke detectors have

          9  been the proven detector of choice in residential

         10  applications since the 1960s, yet the New York City

         11  code specifies only ionization detectors which

         12  respond more slowly to typical residential fires and

         13  which cause many more false alarms.

         14                 Cities such as Boston long ago

         15  embraced photoelectric smoke detectors and now

         16  require them in place of ionization detectors. Here

         17  again New York City Code is way behind the times.

         18                 4) The filing process in New York

         19  City is as bureaucratic, wasteful, time consuming

         20  and costly as it could get. It is an impediment

         21  itself to fire safety because many people are

         22  unwilling to absorb the extra cost it takes to file

         23  a system.

         24                 5) The code requirements for

         25  residential fire alarms are almost non-existent and
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          2  all but completely ineffective. Moreover, in some

          3  areas outright dangerous, such as not requiring

          4  standpipes being sealed off from fire stairwells.

          5                 The deaths caused in the South Park

          6  Tower building occurred -- well, this may not be

          7  accurate from the testimony before, but at the time

          8  of my information, it occurred when firefighters had

          9  to open the fire stairwell doors to use their hoses

         10  which was connected to the standpipe in the

         11  stairwell.

         12                 These are but a few examples of the

         13  problems caused by the current code. There are many

         14  more. The code is antiquated and ineffective in

         15  presenting residential fire fatalities and makes it

         16  so expensive to install residential fire systems

         17  that even those who would install voluntary systems

         18  are deterred from doing so.

         19                 A fire alarm system would cost

         20  approximately $50,000, for example, elsewhere, could

         21  easily cost over $250,000 in New York City. The cost

         22  escalations here are outrageous and prohibitive. Is

         23  it any wonder then why we have such ineffective

         24  residential fire safety and why such few buildings

         25  put in voluntary systems.
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          2                 In short, the code itself is the

          3  largest obstacle, or certainly a major obstacle to

          4  preventing residential fatalities in New York City.

          5  It should have been made up to date years ago, it

          6  certainly should be raised now, and I am certain

          7  that your Committee is going to do that, the Council

          8  is going to do that, and we all applaud you for it.

          9                 And as far as possible, politics and

         10  special interest groups should be kept out of --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is wishful

         12  thinking.

         13                 MR. CANTOR: I know. As far as

         14  possible, and only fight fires --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Not in the real

         16  world.

         17                 MR. CANTOR: But only fire safety

         18  measures should be put in and I think you have heard

         19  some excellent testimony today to that effect.

         20                 If you examine these issues

         21  thoroughly, I am convinced that you will give some

         22  consideration to early warning fire alarm systems

         23  and also will take a serious look at the current

         24  code and propose effective revisions.

         25                 I thank you sincerely for allowing me
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          2  to testify today, and I sincerely hope that my

          3  comments will be helpful to you. And before closing

          4  I would like to give you some cost comparisons,

          5  because they were mentioned a lot today.

          6                 A typical fire alarm system, if you

          7  are not going to require a fully Class E system,

          8  which has voice evacuation and everything else, and

          9  I have a problem with that which I will explain in a

         10  moment, but a typical fire alarm system that would

         11  connect to the Fire Department could be put in for

         12  somewhere between $300 to $400 per unit in New York

         13  City, including the common areas of buildings.

         14                 So, we heard cost mentioned as high

         15  as $3,000 per apartment, and we just recently heard

         16  testimony from a gentlemen saying that for a

         17  sprinkler system there would be possibly additional

         18  cost of water towers and bringing in water from the

         19  main, and Councilwoman Helen Marshall raised the

         20  issue when people were testifying earlier today that

         21  the new construction is an important consideration.

         22  Sprinklers are very effective in knocking down

         23  multiple deaths, but they ignore completely 130,000

         24  housing units that exist today. So I think that is

         25  very important to understand.
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          2                 And then I have one last comment, if

          3  I may, about the public address system. The only

          4  problem I have with public address systems, it makes

          5  a lot of assumptions.

          6                 The first assumption it makes is that

          7  the fire has been already detected.

          8                 The second assumption it makes is

          9  that the Fire Department has already arrived on the

         10  scene.

         11                 The third assumption it makes is that

         12  the Fire Department knows where the fire is and how

         13  far the smoke infiltration has proceeded and the

         14  fourth assumption it makes is that everybody speaks

         15  English. So there are some limitations with the

         16  enunciation system.

         17                 I thank you once again, and if there

         18  are any questions --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I thank

         20  you, Mr. Cantor, for your patience, and I thank you

         21  for your testimony.

         22                 Do we have copies?

         23                 MR. CANTOR: I will be happy to -- I

         24  was only notified very late --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, make sure
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          2  that you provide that to us because I think it will

          3  be helpful in our deliberations.

          4                 MR. CANTOR: Well, thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          7                 Okay, Mr. Longhitano. Mr. Longhitano?

          8  Okay, Mr. Longhitano is not with us.

          9                 Anne Cunningham. Ms. Cunningham.

         10                 MS. CUNNINGHAM: Good afternoon,

         11  Councilman Spigner. I will be very brief today. I

         12  know you have a very --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Today right? On

         14  another day you won't be so brief, but okay.

         15                 MS. CUNNINGHAM: Well, maybe I will

         16  get called earlier so I can go through my whole

         17  testimony. I originally was going to testify about

         18  the Commander Hotel where I live, however, Mr.

         19  Broadhead from the SRO Law Project left and asked me

         20  to testify on behalf of all SRO tenants.

         21                 So, as you know, there are 6,000 SRO

         22  buildings and they are all lumped together as the

         23  residential buildings and the Brownstones that we

         24  have in Central Harlem, so we are talking about a

         25  lot of tenants here that can ill-afford extra rent
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          2  for a fire protection system, but that do need a

          3  fire protection system.

          4                 We do strongly support Intro. 198,

          5  provided that SRO buildings and hotels are included

          6  in the legislation. I noticed today there was an

          7  emphasis on the new buildings. The building where I

          8  live, and I have been a tenant there for 20 years,

          9  when I first moved in the building and we touched

         10  the fire hoses, they fell apart. They were corroded.

         11  We now have fire extinguishers in the building and a

         12  lot of those extinguishers have been removed.

         13                 Many of the buildings, the SRO

         14  buildings on the Upper West Side, we have between 60

         15  and 70 of these buildings, they come to the meetings

         16  and tell us that they don't have a sprinkler system,

         17  a PA system or a general alarm for notification of

         18  fires.

         19                 So, I think that you know it must be

         20  really considered in the legislation that we do have

         21  protection for everyone. The sprinkler system really

         22  must be mandated.

         23                 I also have with me the requirements

         24  for SRO rooms. I only have a copy of one which I

         25  will leave with you. And kindly remember Mr. James
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          2  Downy who died this year in the St. Louis Hotel. In

          3  this hotel they did have a fire sprinkler but it was

          4  shut off so Mr. Downy died.

          5                 Thank you very much for the pleasure

          6  of participation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

          8  much, Ms. Cunningham.

          9                 Michael Nelson, followed by Fire

         10  Marshal Carl Havens.

         11                 Mr. Havens.  I don't see Mr. Nelson.

         12  Please take a seat.

         13                 Identify yourself, Mr. Havens, we

         14  will be happy to hear your views on this topic.

         15                 MR. HAVENS: Yes, sir. My name is Fire

         16  Marshal Carl Havens, of the City of New York Fire

         17  Department, I am a 20-year veteran in the New York

         18  City Fire Department.

         19                 I have been here since 11:00. The

         20  reason why I came is that --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you for

         22  your patience.

         23                 MR. HAVENS: Yes, thank you, sir.

         24                 The reason why I came is that the

         25  experts that know about fire safety, fire deaths,
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          2  the reasons why people die, how to identify those

          3  problems, are not here in this room. They haven't

          4  been in this room all day. I am the only one.

          5                 New York City fire marshals are not

          6  only specially trained to identify the cause and

          7  origin of what happens, but also what happens to the

          8  victim, why the victim didn't escape, why victim

          9  couldn't help him or herself get away. What happens

         10  in a situation where a firefighter dies, why do they

         11  die, what was the cause of that incident to reach

         12  that proportion, those experts know, those experts

         13  are not in this room. They have never been asked to

         14  participate in this kind of testimony. They have

         15  never been asked to participate in fire safety

         16  programs.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Fire

         18  Marshal, we don't ask people to participate, we make

         19  a public announcement and encourage people to

         20  participate. How did you learn about this hearing?

         21                 MR. HAVENS: I understand. I read the

         22  paper this morning.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And you came in

         24  and you signed up and you are being heard, right?

         25                 MR. HAVENS: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          3                 MR. HAVENS: But as these hearings go

          4  along, and because of the recent tragedies that have

          5  happened, you are going to need experts to help make

          6  up legislation --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we hope that

          8  you will be among those that will avail yourself in

          9  that need.

         10                 MR. HAVENS: Councilman, I would like

         11  to do that, but we are losing so many people that it

         12  might not be possible.

         13                 I was called out the other day when

         14  two people died, last week two people died in a fire

         15  in Brooklyn, Bedford Stuyvesant, and they called me

         16  from the office and the supervisor at the fire scene

         17  said that he didn't have enough people to help, and

         18  I was asked to assist in that investigation. So, I

         19  feel that the experts that do this kind of work, we

         20  don't have enough of them, that is what I have to

         21  say.

         22                 I have been --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are saying

         24  the Fire Department should have more fire marshals?

         25                 MR. HAVENS: Well, not only -- they
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          2  are the experts, they are the ones that determine

          3  what happened. I have been a firefighter for 20

          4  years, I have been in the firehouse, and not only

          5  have I been in the firehouse but I have been to

          6  every kind of fire, highrise fire, permit fire,

          7  subway fire, commercial establishment fires --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Rubbish fires,

          9  leaves.

         10                 MR. HAVENS: I have been in all of

         11  them, all of those have identifying factors why,

         12  how, when, what to do. Those people that claim in

         13  the Fire Department Administration, that they are

         14  working in our best interests, they choose people

         15  that they want to choose to deal with those kinds of

         16  situations, not the people that have the expertise

         17  to give them the right information to follow through

         18  on it.

         19                 I feel that the people in fire safety

         20  that the Fire Commissioner talked about today, and I

         21  missed his testimony, they are not firefighters,

         22  they are not experts --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have copies

         24  of their testimony that we will make available to

         25  you.
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          2                 MR. HAVENS: I would love to see it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Our Counsel

          4  Terzah Nasser will give it to you.

          5                 MR. HAVENS: And I am also speaking

          6  for my residents, the people I live next to, my

          7  family members, your family members, I don't want to

          8  see these tragedies in the City --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You live in New

         10  York City?

         11                 MR. HAVENS: Absolutely. I am a member

         12  of CB 8, Community Planning Board 8, I am on the

         13  Safety Committee there, oversees fire, police. We

         14  have a number of buildings --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Community Board

         16  8, what borough?

         17                 MR. HAVENS: Queens.

         18                 I was also involved in a fatal fire

         19  program at Community Board 12. I felt that there was

         20  no reason why more people in the City die in that

         21  particular community board than any place else in

         22  the country. I couldn't understand that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: There are a lot

         24  of old, old, old buildings, framed buildings --

         25                 MR. HAVENS: And old people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And older people

          3  in the attics and in the basements and in the

          4  garage, you know.

          5                 MR. HAVENS: Absolutely. But again we

          6  identified those problems and we went after them. I

          7  would love to see -- I know we are going to be

          8  decimated again, there is no doubt about it. I might

          9  not even be here next month, I don't know if I am

         10  going to be here before they tear our agency apart,

         11  they have been doing that, the Fire Commissioner has

         12  been doing that, the operations administration have

         13  been doing that in the Fire Department. What is

         14  going to happen is that we are only investigating

         15  one in every four incidents now, soon there are

         16  going to be more deaths, there are going to be more

         17  tragedies --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let's hope not.

         19  Let's hope not. Why are you predicting more deaths?

         20                 MR. HAVENS: I don't predict it but it

         21  could happen.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Oh, sure.

         23                 MR. HAVENS: It can happen. But we

         24  would like to stop it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, we share
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          2  your sense of importance and priority in that regard

          3  and I want to thank you for your patience, you know,

          4  the spending four hours to testify. At least the

          5  Chair of this Committee will be calling on you as we

          6  proceed in our deliberations on this topic.

          7                 MR. HAVENS: If you are going to

          8  continue on this topic on these hearings, the fire

          9  marshals that have had very -- have had fires like I

         10  have had in situations where people have died or

         11  many people were injured should be part of it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, we will

         13  make a public announcement and you will make sure,

         14  because you are on our mailing list as well, you

         15  won't have to rely on just casually or accidentally

         16  looking and seeing it in the newspaper.

         17                 We are glad, though, that our

         18  practice of putting it in the newspapers does get

         19  people like you to attend.

         20                 MR. HAVENS: Thank you.

         21                 Oh, yes, sir, before I leave, I was a

         22  member of that juvenile unit that Mrs. Drennan was

         23  talking about.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You were what?

         25                 MR. HAVENS: A member of the Fire
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          2  Setters, Juvenile Fire Setters Intervention Unit.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          4                 MR. HAVENS: The people that we

          5  targeted, we targeted them, these kids, from two to

          6  10 years old, two to eight years old were the ones

          7  that were setting the fire. We identified the reason

          8  why and we approached the position why, and we had a

          9  99 percent success rate in not getting repeaters.

         10                 The problem was that the present

         11  administration and the administration prior to that

         12  felt that the program wasn't worthy of what it is

         13  worth, but we have had people from all around the

         14  world come to New York City, we have people from all

         15  around the world come to New York City to ride with

         16  us, to go on these investigations with us to learn

         17  from us and now we don't have anybody, we have two

         18  people for the whole City of New York. It is a

         19  disgrace.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Havens, I

         22  want to thank you for your testimony and your time

         23  and your patience, and we certainly will be in touch

         24  with you as we proceed with this legislative topic.

         25                 There being no further witnesses and
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          2  no other business at this time, this meeting is

          3  adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:34 p.m.)
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